
Planning Committee
Wednesday 30 October 2019 at 6.30 pm

Ground Floor Meeting Room G02 - 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2QH

Membership Reserves

Councillor Martin Seaton (Chair)
Councillor Kath Whittam (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Barrie Hargrove
Councillor Adele Morris
Councillor Margy Newens
Councillor Damian O'Brien
Councillor Catherine Rose
Councillor Cleo Soanes

Councillor Eleanor Kerslake
Councillor Sarah King
Councillor Richard Livingstone
Councillor James McAsh
Councillor Hamish McCallum
Councillor Darren Merrill
Councillor Jason Ochere
Councillor Jane Salmon

INFORMATION FOR MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

Access to information
You have the right to request to inspect copies of minutes and reports on this agenda as well as 
the background documents used in the preparation of these reports.
Babysitting/Carers allowances
If you are a resident of the borough and have paid someone to look after your children, an 
elderly dependant or a dependant with disabilities so that you could attend this meeting, you 
may claim an allowance from the council.  Please collect a claim form at the meeting.
Access
The council is committed to making its meetings accessible.  Further details on building access, 
translation, provision of signers etc for this meeting are on the council’s web site: 
www.southwark.gov.uk or please contact the person below.
Contact
Gerald Gohler on 020 7525 7420  or email: gerald.gohler@southwark.gov.uk  

Members of the committee are summoned to attend this meeting
Eleanor Kelly
Chief Executive
Date: 22 October 2019

Open Agenda

http://www.southwark.gov.uk/Public/Home.aspx


Planning Committee
Wednesday 30 October 2019

6.30 pm
Ground Floor Meeting Room G02 - 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2QH

Order of Business

Item No. Title Page No.

PART A - OPEN BUSINESS

PROCEDURE NOTE

1. APOLOGIES

To receive any apologies for absence.

2. CONFIRMATION OF VOTING MEMBERS

A representative of each political group will confirm the voting members of 
the committee.

3. NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR 
DEEMS URGENT

In special circumstances, an item of business may be added to an agenda 
within five clear days of the meeting.

4. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS

Members to declare any personal interests and dispensation in respect of 
any item of business to be considered at this meeting.

5. MINUTES 3 - 9

To approve as a correct record the minutes of the meetings held on 25 
and 30 September 2019. 



Item No. Title Page No.

6. DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 10 - 13

6.1. LAND AT 19, 21 AND 23 HARPER ROAD, 325 BOROUGH 
HIGH STREET AND 1-5 AND 7-11 NEWINGTON CAUSEWAY, 
LONDON SE1 6AW

14 - 93

7. TREE PRESERVATION ORDER - 156 PECKHAM RYE 94 - 107

ANY OTHER OPEN BUSINESS AS NOTIFIED AT THE START OF THE 
MEETING AND ACCEPTED BY THE CHAIR AS URGENT.

EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC

The following motion should be moved, seconded and approved if the 
committee wishes to exclude the press and public to deal with reports 
revealing exempt information:

“That the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items 
of business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in paragraphs 1-7, Access to 
Information Procedure rules of the Constitution.”

PART B – CLOSED BUSINESS

ANY OTHER CLOSED BUSINESS AS NOTIFIED AT THE START OF 
THE MEETING AND ACCEPTED BY THE CHAIR AS URGENT

Date:  22 October 2019



 

Planning Committee

Guidance on conduct of business for planning applications, enforcement cases 
and other planning proposals

1. The reports are taken in the order of business on the agenda.

2. The officers present the report and recommendations and answer points raised by 
members of the committee.

3. The role of members of the planning committee is to make planning decisions 
openly, impartially, with sound judgement and for justifiable reasons in accordance 
with the statutory planning framework.

4. The following may address the committee (if they are present and wish to speak) for 
not more than 3 minutes each.

(a) One representative (spokesperson) for any objectors. If there is more than one 
objector wishing to speak, the time is then divided within the 3-minute time slot.

(b) The applicant or applicant’s agent.

(c) One representative for any supporters (who live within 100 metres of the 
development site).

(d) Ward councillor (spokesperson) from where the proposal is located.

(e) The members of the committee will then debate the application and consider the 
recommendation.

Note: Members of the committee may question those who speak only on matters 
relevant to the roles and functions of the planning committee that are outlined in the 
constitution and in accordance with the statutory planning framework.

5. If there are a number of people who are objecting to, or are in support of, an 
application or an enforcement of action, you are requested to identify a 
representative to address the committee.  If more than one person wishes to speak, 
the 3-minute time allowance must be divided amongst those who wish to speak. 
Where you are unable to decide who is to speak in advance of the meeting, you are 
advised to meet with other objectors in the foyer of the council offices prior to the 
start of the meeting to identify a representative.  If this is not possible, the chair will 
ask which objector(s) would like to speak at the point the actual item is being 
considered. 

6. Speakers should lead the committee to subjects on which they would welcome 
further questioning.

7. Those people nominated to speak on behalf of objectors, supporters or applicants, 
as well as ward members, should sit on the front row of the public seating area. This 
is for ease of communication between the committee and the speaker, in case any 
issues need to be clarified later in the proceedings; it is not an opportunity to take 
part in the debate of the committee.

1



8. Each speaker should restrict their comments to the planning aspects of the proposal 
and should avoid repeating what is already in the report. The meeting is not a 
hearing where all participants present evidence to be examined by other participants.

9. This is a council committee meeting which is open to the public and there should be 
no interruptions from the audience.

10. No smoking is allowed at committee. 

11. Members of the public are welcome to film, audio record, photograph, or tweet the 
public proceedings of the meeting; please be considerate towards other people in the 
room and take care not to disturb the proceedings.

The arrangements at the meeting may be varied at the discretion of the chair.

Contacts: General Enquiries
Planning Section, Chief Executive’s Department
Tel: 020 7525 5403

Planning Committee Clerk, Constitutional Team
Finance and Governance 
Tel: 020 7525 5485

2



1

Planning Committee - Wednesday 25 September 2019

Planning Committee
MINUTES of the Planning Committee held on Wednesday 25 September 2019 at 6.30 
pm at Ground Floor Meeting Room G02 - 160 Tooley Street, London SE1 2QH 

PRESENT: Councillor Martin Seaton (Chair)
Councillor Kath Whittam (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Barrie Hargrove
Councillor Adele Morris
Councillor Margy Newens
Councillor Damian O'Brien
Councillor Catherine Rose
Councillor Cleo Soanes

OFFICER
SUPPORT:

Simon Bevan (Director of Planning)
Jon Gorst (Legal Officer)
Yvonne Lewis (Development Management)
Michael Tsoukaris (Design and Conservation) 
Michael Glasgow (Development Management)
Victoria Crosby (Development Management)
Sally Crew (Transport Policy) 
Anthony Lee (BNPP)
Anne Crane (TfL)
Gerald Gohler (Constitutional Officer)

1. APOLOGIES 

There were none. 

2. CONFIRMATION OF VOTING MEMBERS 

Those members listed as present were confirmed as the voting members for the meeting.

3. NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR DEEMS URGENT 

The chair gave notice of the following additional papers which were circulated at the
meeting:

3
Agenda Item 5



2

Planning Committee - Wednesday 25 September 2019

 Addendum report relating to item 5.1
 Members’ pack relating to item 5.1.

4. DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS AND DISPENSATIONS 

None were declared.   

5. DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT 

RESOLVED:

1. That the determination of planning applications, or formal observations and 
comments, the instigation of enforcement action and the receipt of the reports 
included in the agenda be considered.

2. That the decisions made on the planning applications be subject to the conditions 
and/or made for the reasons set out in the reports unless otherwise stated.

3. That where reasons for decisions or conditions are not included or not as included in 
the reports relating to an individual item, they be clearly specified.

5.1 LAND BOUNDED BY LOWER ROAD, REDRIFF ROAD, QUEBEC WAY AND SURREY 
QUAYS ROAD AND SITE AT ROBERTS CLOSE, SE16 
Planning application number: 18/AP/1604  

PROPOSAL

Hybrid application seeking detailed planning permission for Phase 1 and outline planning 
permission for future phases, comprising:

Outline planning permission (all matters reserved) for the demolition of all existing 
structures and redevelopment to include a number of tall buildings(up to 138m AOD) and 
up to 656,200sqm (GEA) of floorspace comprising the following mix of uses: retail (Use 
Classes A1-A5), workspace (B1), hotel (C1), residential (C3), assisted living (C2), student 
accommodation, leisure (including a cinema) (D2), community facilities (including health 
and education uses) (D1), public toilets, nightclub, flexible events space, an energy centre, 
an interim and permanent petrol filling station, a primary
electricity substation, a secondary entrance for Surrey Quays Rail Station, a Park Pavilion, 
landscaping including open spaces and public realm, works to the Canada Water Dock, 
car parking, means of access, associated infrastructure and highways works and 
demolition or retention with alterations of the Press Hall and Spine Building of the 
Printworks; and 

Detailed planning permission for the following Plots in Phase 1:

 Plot A1 (south of Surrey Quays Road and west of Deal Porters Way) to provide uses 
comprising retail (A1-A5), workspace (B1) and 186 residential units (C3) in a 6 and 
34 storey building (129.4m AOD), plus a basement;

 Plot A2 (east of Lower Road and west of Canada Water Dock) to provide a leisure 

4



3

Planning Committee - Wednesday 25 September 2019

centre (D2), retail (A1-A5), and workspace (B1) in a 4,5 and 6 storey building plus a 
basement.

 Plot K1 (east of Roberts Close) to provide 79 residential units (C3) in a 5 and 6 
storey building.

 Interim Petrol Filling Station (north of Redriff Road and east of Lower Road) to 
provide an 8-pump petrol filling station with kiosk, canopy and forecourt area.

Each plot with associated car parking, cycle parking, landscaping, public realm, plant and 
other relevant works.

The application is accompanied by an Environmental Statement submitted pursuant to the 
Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2011 (as 
amended).

The committee heard the officers’ introduction to the report. Members of the committee 
asked questions of the officers.

Objectors to the application addressed the committee, and answered questions put by the 
committee.

At 9.03pm the meeting adjourned for a comfort break and resumed at 9.16pm, continuing 
with questions from councillors to the objectors. 
 
At 10.05pm, the meeting resolved to adjourn and to reconvene at 6.30pm on Monday 30 
September 2019.

CHAIR:

DATED:

5



1

Planning Committee - Monday 30 September 2019

Planning Committee
MINUTES of the Planning Committee (reconvened from 25 September 2019) held on 
Monday 30 September 2019 at 6.30 pm at Ground Floor Meeting Room G02C - 160 
Tooley Street, London SE1 2QH 

PRESENT: Councillor Martin Seaton (Chair)
Councillor Kath Whittam (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Barrie Hargrove
Councillor Adele Morris
Councillor Margy Newens
Councillor Damian O'Brien
Councillor Catherine Rose
Councillor Cleo Soanes

OTHER MEMBERS 
PRESENT:

Councillor Stephanie Cryan
Councillor Nick Johnson
Councillor Jane Salmon 
Councillor Dan Whitehead 
Councillor Bill Williams 

OFFICER
SUPPORT:

Simon Bevan (Director of Planning)
Jon Gorst (Legal Officer)
Yvonne Lewis (Development Management)
Michael Tsoukaris (Design and Conservation) 
Michael Glasgow (Development Management)
Victoria Crosby (Development Management)
Sally Crew (Transport Policy) 
Anthony Lee (BNPP)
Danny Calver (TfL)
Gerald Gohler (Constitutional Officer)

3. NOTIFICATION OF ANY ITEMS OF BUSINESS WHICH THE CHAIR DEEMS URGENT 

The chair explained that this was a reconvened meeting that had started on 25 September 
2019, and announced that the following additional documents had been circulated prior to 
the restart of the meeting: 

6



2

Planning Committee - Monday 30 September 2019

 Addendum report No. 2 relating to item 5.1 
 Appendix 1 (recommendations).

5.1 LAND BOUNDED BY LOWER ROAD, REDRIFF ROAD, QUEBEC WAY AND SURREY 
QUAYS ROAD AND SITE AT ROBERTS CLOSE, SE16 

Planning application number: 18/AP/1604  

PROPOSAL

Hybrid application seeking detailed planning permission for Phase 1 and outline planning 
permission for future phases, comprising:

Outline planning permission (all matters reserved) for the demolition of all existing 
structures and redevelopment to include a number of tall buildings(up to 138m AOD) and 
up to 656,200sqm (GEA) of floorspace comprising the following mix of uses: retail (Use 
Classes A1-A5), workspace (B1), hotel (C1), residential (C3), assisted living (C2), student 
accommodation, leisure (including a cinema) (D2), community facilities (including health 
and education uses) (D1), public toilets, nightclub, flexible events space, an energy centre, 
an interim and permanent petrol filling station, a primary
electricity substation, a secondary entrance for Surrey Quays Rail Station, a Park Pavilion, 
landscaping including open spaces and public realm, works to the Canada Water Dock, 
car parking, means of access, associated infrastructure and highways works and 
demolition or retention with alterations of the Press Hall and Spine Building of the 
Printworks; and 

Detailed planning permission for the following Plots in Phase 1:

 Plot A1 (south of Surrey Quays Road and west of Deal Porters Way) to provide uses 
comprising retail (A1-A5), workspace (B1) and 186 residential units (C3) in a 6 and 
34 storey building (129.4m AOD), plus a basement;

 Plot A2 (east of Lower Road and west of Canada Water Dock) to provide a leisure 
centre (D2), retail (A1-A5), and workspace (B1) in a 4,5 and 6 storey building plus a 
basement.

 Plot K1 (east of Roberts Close) to provide 79 residential units (C3) in a 5 and 6 
storey building.

 Interim Petrol Filling Station (north of Redriff Road and east of Lower Road) to 
provide an 8-pump petrol filling station with kiosk, canopy and forecourt area.

Each plot with associated car parking, cycle parking, landscaping, public realm, plant and 
other relevant works.

The meeting heard an update by a planning officer regarding new information received 
prior to this reconvened meeting, and drew the committee’s attention to Appendix 1 which 
had been circulated. 

Members of the committee then continued asking questions of the objectors. 

The applicant and their representatives addressed the meeting and responded to
questions from members of the committee.

7



3

Planning Committee - Monday 30 September 2019

At 8.55pm the meeting adjourned for a comfort break and resumed at 9.10pm.

Supporters of the application who live within 250 metres of the development site 
addressed the committee, and answered questions put by members of the committee. 

Councillors Stephanie Cryan, Nick Johnson, Jane Salmon, Dan Whitehead and Bill 
Williams addressed the committee in their capacity as  ward councillors, and responded to 
questions from members of the committee.

The committee put further questions to officers and discussed the application.

The planning committee took into account environmental information as required by 
Regulation 3(4) of the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 
Regulations 2011 (as amended). 

The planning committee had due regard to the potential equalities impacts outlined in 
Chapter 20 of the officer report.

A motion to grant planning permission was moved, seconded, put to the vote and declared 
carried.

RESOLVED:

1. That planning permission be granted subject to conditions set out in the report 
(including Appendix 1) and addendum reports, referral to the Mayor of London, and 
the applicant entering into an appropriate legal agreement. 

2. That following the issue of planning permission, the director of planning write to the 
Secretary of State notifying them of the decision, pursuant to Regulation 24(1)(a) of 
the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 
2011.

3. That following issue of planning permission, the director of planning place a 
statement on the Statutory Register pursuant to Regulation 24 of the TCP (EIA) 
Regulations 2011, which contains the information required by Regulation 21 and, for 
the purposes of Regulation 24(1)(c) being the main reasons and considerations on 
which the Planning Committee’s decision was based shall be set out in the report. 

4. That, in the event that the requirements of (a) are not met by 30 June 2020, the 
director of planning bring the application back to the planning committee to consider 
whether it is appropriate to extend this date.

The committee asked for all appropriate Reserved Matters applications related to this 
development to be brought back to planning committee for determination.

8



4

Planning Committee - Monday 30 September 2019

The meeting ended at 10.36 pm.

CHAIR:

DATED:

9



Item No. 
6.

Classification:
Open 

Date:
30 October 2019

Meeting Name:
Planning Committee

Report title: Development Management

Ward(s) or groups affected: All

From: Proper Constitutional Officer

RECOMMENDATIONS

1. That the determination of planning applications, or formal observations and comments, 
the instigation of enforcement action and the receipt of the reports included in the 
attached items be considered.

2. That the decisions made on the planning applications be subject to the conditions 
and/or made for the reasons set out in the attached reports unless otherwise stated.

3. That where reasons for decisions or conditions are not included or not as included in 
the reports relating to an individual item, they be clearly specified.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

4. The council’s powers to consider planning business are detailed in Part 3F which 
describes the role and functions of the planning committee and planning sub-
committees.  These were agreed by the annual meeting of the council on 23 May 2012. 
The matters reserved to the planning committee and planning sub-committees 
exercising planning functions are described in part 3F of the Southwark Council 
constitution. 

KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 

5. In respect of the attached planning committee items members are asked, where 
appropriate:

a. To determine those applications in respect of site(s) within the borough, subject 
where applicable, to the consent of the Secretary of State for Communities and 
Local Government and any directions made by the Mayor of London.

b. To give observations on applications in respect of which the council is not the 
planning authority in planning matters but which relate to site(s) within the 
borough, or where the site(s) is outside the borough but may affect the amenity of 
residents within the borough.

c. To receive for information any reports on the previous determination of 
applications, current activities on site, or other information relating to specific 
planning applications requested by members.

10
Agenda Item 6



6. Each of the following items are preceded by a map showing the location of the 
land/property to which the report relates.  Following the report, there is a draft decision 
notice detailing the officer's recommendation indicating approval or refusal. Where a 
refusal is recommended the draft decision notice will detail the reasons for such 
refusal.  

7. Applicants have the right to appeal to Planning Inspector against a refusal of planning 
permission and against any condition imposed as part of permission. Costs are 
incurred in presenting the council’s case at appeal which maybe substantial if the 
matter is dealt with at a public inquiry.

8. The sanctioning of enforcement action can also involve costs such as process serving, 
court costs and of legal representation.

9. Where either party is felt to have acted unreasonably in an appeal the inspector can 
make an award of costs against the offending party.

10. All legal/counsel fees and costs as well as awards of costs against the council are 
borne by the budget of the relevant department.

Community impact statement

11. Community impact considerations are contained within each item.

SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS

Director of Law and Democracy

12. A resolution to grant planning permission shall mean that the director of planning is 
authorised to grant planning permission. The resolution does not itself constitute the 
permission and only the formal document authorised by the committee and issued 
under the signature of the director of planning shall constitute a planning permission.  
Any additional conditions required by the committee will be recorded in the minutes and 
the final planning permission issued will reflect the requirements of the planning 
committee. 

13. A resolution to grant planning permission subject to legal agreement shall mean that 
the director of planning is authorised to issue a planning permission subject to the 
applicant and any other necessary party entering into a written agreement in a form of 
words prepared by the director of lawand democracy, and which is satisfactory to the 
director of planning. Developers meet the council's legal costs of such agreements. 
Such an agreement shall be entered into under section 106 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 or under another appropriate enactment as shall be determined by 
the director of law and democracy. The planning permission will not be issued unless 
such an agreement is completed.

14. Section 70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended requires the 
council to have regard to the provisions of the development plan, so far as material to 
the application, and to any other material considerations when dealing with applications 
for planning permission. Where there is any conflict with any policy contained in the 
development plan, the conflict must be resolved in favour of the policy which is 

11



contained in the last document to be adopted, approved or published, as the case may 
be (s38(5) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  

15. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 provides that where, 
in making any determination under the planning Acts, regard is to be had to the 
development plan, the determination shall be made in accordance with the plan unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. The development plan is currently 
Southwark's Core Strategy adopted by the council in April 2011, saved policies 
contained in the Southwark Plan 2007, the where there is any conflict with any policy 
contained in the development plan, the conflict must be resolved in favour of the policy 
which is contained in the last document to be adopted, approved or published, as the 
case may be (s38(5) Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).  

16. On 15 January 2012 section 143 of the Localism Act 2011 came into force which 
provides that local finance considerations (such as government grants and other 
financial assistance such as New Homes Bonus) and monies received through CIL 
(including the Mayoral CIL) are a  material consideration to be taken into account in the 
determination of planning applications in England. However, the weight to be attached 
to such matters remains a matter for the decision-maker.

17. "Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Levy regulations (CIL) 2010, 
provides that “a planning obligation may only constitute a reason for granting 
planning permission if the obligation is:

a.   necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms;
b.   directly related to the development; and
c.   fairly and reasonably related to the scale and kind to the development.

A planning obligation may only constitute a reason for granting planning permission 
if it complies with the above statutory tests."

18. The obligation must also be such as a reasonable planning authority, duly appreciating 
its statutory duties can properly impose i.e. it must not be so unreasonable that no 
reasonable authority could have imposed it. Before resolving to grant planning 
permission subject to a legal agreement members should therefore satisfy themselves 
that the subject matter of the proposed agreement will meet these tests. 

19. The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) came into force on 27 March 2012. 
The NPPF replaces previous government guidance including all PPGs and PPSs.  For 
the purpose of decision-taking policies in the Core Strategy (and the London Plan) 
should not be considered out of date simply because they were adopted prior to 
publication of the NPPF.  For 12 months from the day of publication, decision-takers 
may continue to give full weight to relevant policies adopted in accordance with the 
Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (PCPA) 2004 even if there is a limited degree 
of conflict with the NPPF.

20. In other cases and following and following the 12 month period, due weight should be 
given to relevant policies in existing plans according to their degree of consistency with 
the NPPF. This is the approach to be taken when considering saved plan policies 
under the Southwark Plan 2007. The approach to be taken is that the closer the 

12



policies in the Southwark Plan to the policies in the NPPF, the greater the weight that 
may be given.

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

Background Papers Held At Contact
Council assembly agenda 
23 May 2012

Constitutional Team
160 Tooley Street
London 
SE1 2QH

Gerald Gohler 
020 7525 7420

Each planning committee 
item has a separate planning 
case file

Development Management
160 Tooley Street
London 
SE1 2QH

The named case officer 
as listed or the Planning 
Department
020 7525 5403

APPENDICES

No. Title
None

AUDIT TRAIL

Lead Officer Chidilim Agada, Head of Constitutional Services
Report Author Gerald Gohler, Constitutional Officer

Jonathan Gorst, Head of Regeneration and Development 
Version Final

Dated 22 October 2019
Key Decision? No

CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 
MEMBER

Officer Title Comments sought Comments included
Director of Law and Democracy Yes Yes
Director of Planning No No
Cabinet Member No No
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team 22 October 2019

13



© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey (0)100019252. Land Registry Index data is subject to Crown copyright
and is reproduced with the permission of Land Registry. The default base map is OS mapping remastered by Europa Technologies.

14
Agenda Item 6.1



1

Contents
RECOMMENDATION ...........................................................................................................................................2

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY…...……………………………………………………………………………………………..2

BACKGROUND INFORMATION ..........................................................................................................................3

Site location and description .............................................................................................................................3

Details of proposal .........................................................................................................................................4-5

Planning History……………………………………………………………………………………………………….5-6

KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION .................................................................................................................6

Summary of main issues................................................................................................................................6-7

Adopted planning policy ...............................................................................................................................7-10

Emerging planning policy ................................................................................................................................10

Summary of consultation responses……..………………………………………………………………………10-12

Principle of development............................................................................................................................12-17

Equality Implications.………………………………………………………………………………………………17-19

Housing Quality, dwelling mix and density………………………………………………………………………20-22

Design and conservation issues ................................................................................................................22-28

Landscaping, trees and outdoor space..…………………………………………………………………………….28

Transport Impacts………………………………………………………………………………………………….28-31

Amenity Impacts……………………………………………………………………………………………………31-34

Energy…………………………………………………………………………………………………………….…34-36

Ecology and Biodiversity………………………………………………………………………………………………36

Air Quality……………………………………………………………………………………………………………….37

Ground conditions and contamination……………………………………………………………………………….37

Water resources and flood risk…………………………………………………………………………………...37-38

Archaeology…………………………………………………………………………………………………………….38

Wind microclimate………………………………………………………………………………………………….38-39

Health Impact Assessment……………………………………………………………………………………………39

Planning obligations (S.106 undertaking or agreement) and CIL ..............................................................39-45

Consultations .............................................................................................................................................45-49

Conclusion on planning issues...................................................................................................................49-50

15



2

Item No. 
6.1

Classification:  
Open

Date:
30 October 2019

Meeting Name: 
Planning Committee

Report 
title: 

Development Management planning application:  
Application 18/AP/0657 for: Full Planning Application

Address: 
LAND AT 19, 21 AND 23 HARPER ROAD, 325 BOROUGH HIGH STREET AND 
1-5 AND 7-11 NEWINGTON CAUSEWAY, LONDON SE1 6AW

Proposal: 
Demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment to provide construction of a 
part 5, part 7, part 8 and part 13 building a mixed-use development comprising 328 
hotel rooms (Class C1) 20 no. residential dwellings (Class C3), offices, workspace 
and workshops (Class B1), multifunctional community events space (Class 
B1/D1), retail use (Class A1/A2/A3), 4 no. car parking spaces together with 
access, cycle parking, hard and soft landscaping and other associated works 
incidental to the development.

Ward(s) or 
groups 
affected: 

Chaucer

From: Director of Planning

Application Start Date 23/02/2018 Application Expiry Date  30/01/2020

RECOMMENDATION

1. a) That planning permission be granted, subject to conditions and the applicant 
entering into an appropriate legal agreement by no later than 30/01/2020, and subject 
to referral to the Mayor of London. 

2.
b) In the event that the requirements of (a) are not met by 30/01/2020, that the Director 
of Planning be authorised to refuse planning permission, if appropriate, for the reasons 
set out at paragraph 208 of this report.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

3. The proposal is for the redevelopment of the existing buildings within the site to provide 
a part 5, part 7, part 8 and part 13 storey building for a mixed-use development 
comprising 328 hotel rooms (Class C1) 20 no. residential dwellings (Class C3) (6 x 
one-bed, 7 x two-bed, 4 x three-bed and 3 x four-bed units), offices, workspace and 
workshops (Class B1), multifunctional community events space (Class B1/D1) and 
retail use (Class A1/A2/A3).

4. The proposed development is considered acceptable in principle as it would provide an 
uplift in commercial space as well as an increase in housing on site, of which 50% 
would be affordable. The hotel is on balance also considered acceptable as it would not 
result in an overprovision of hotels in this area and would provide valuable 
employment. The proposal also would have retail uses to the ground floors to activate 

16



3

the frontages. The proposal would also introduce an uplift in commercial floorspace as 
well as provide a community hub which is considered appropriate. 

5. The overall scale of the development, whilst taller than immediately adjacent buildings 
is considered acceptable within this location and the quality of the design of the 
buildings are considered of a high quality. Whilst there would be some harm on the 
Trinity Church Square conservation area, this harm would be less than substantial and 
when balanced against the public benefit of the development, this is considered 
acceptable. 

6. The proposal would not result in any significant daylight, sunlight, outlook or 
overlooking impacts on the surrounding residential properties. 

7. The quality of the residential accommodation is considered to be of a good quality and 
the proposal would provide affordable housing which equates to 50% of the residential 
provided which is considered a significant public benefit. 

8. Overall the proposal is considered acceptable and it is thus recommended to be 
granted planning permission subject to conditions and a S106 agreement. 

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

Site location and description

9. The application relates to a 0.3 hectare (ha) site located at the junction of Borough High 
Street with Harper Road, and which is rectangular in shape.  It contains a number of 
buildings ranging from 2-4-storeys in height which are of Victorian and 1960s/70s 
origin.  The site incorporates Kings Place which is a private access road along the 
north-eastern boundary of the site leading to the back of one of the existing buildings.  
There is an area of open concrete at the junction of Borough High Street and Harper 
Road, some of which is used to provide two off-street parking spaces.

10. The existing buildings provide a range of different uses. Along the Borough High Street 
frontage these comprise a doctors’ surgery (two GPs) set over two floors with vacant 
office space above, a takeaway, pharmacy, sandwich shop and seven flats. Along the 
Harper Road frontage there is a vacant café / takeaway, a probation service office, and 
an office building which is currently occupied as a meanwhile use by Hotel Elephant.  
Hotel Elephant is a not for profit company which provides space for arts, culture and 
enterprise in Southwark and there are currently around 70 full time employment 
positions within the site.

17



4

Fig 1. Policies Map

The surrounding area

11. With regard to the surrounding buildings, Southwark Police Station adjoins the site to 
the north-east, a new residential development (Trinity House) which is under 
construction adjoins to the south-east, the Inner London Crown Court is to the south-
west on the opposite side of Harper Road, and there is student accommodation (David 
Bomberg House) and a public house (The Ship) to the north-west of the site on the 
opposite side of Borough High Street.

12. Trinity Church Square Conservation Area is to the east of the site which contains grade 
II listed buildings. The Inner London Crown Court is also grade II listed.

Details of proposal

13. Southwark Homes Ltd. has applied for full planning permission for demolition of all of 
the existing buildings on the site and redevelopment to provide construction of a part 5, 
part 7, part 8 and part 13 storey building a mixed-use development comprising 328 
hotel rooms (Class C1) 20 no. residential dwellings (Class C3) (6 x one-bed, 7 x two-
bed, 4 x three-bed and 3 x four-bed units), offices, workspace and workshops (Class 
B1), multifunctional community events space (Class B1/D1), retail use (Class 
A1/A2/A3), 4 no. car parking spaces together with access, cycle parking, hard and soft 
landscaping and other associated works incidental to the development

14. The existing and proposed land uses are set out below:

18



5

Table 1.
Land use Existing GIA 

sqm
Proposed GIA Sqm Net difference 

GIA sqm
A1/A3 (retail, 
financial and 
professional, 
restaurant / café)

A1=94
A3=207

754 (A1/A3) +453

B1 (business) 1,695 2,019 +314
C1 (hotel) 0 11,976 +11,976
C3 (residential) 331 2,638 +2,307
D1 (non-
residential 
institutions)

433 -433 - 433

Flexible B1/D1 
(business / 
community / non-
residential 
institutions)

0 500 +500

15. The proposed building would be in the form of a perimeter block set around a 22m x 
14m (308sqm) publically accessible courtyard in the centre of the site, with routes to it 
from Borough High Street and Harper Road.  The tallest element of the building, the 
13-storey tower, would be located at the junction of these two streets, with the building 
heights stepping down either side of it.  The commercial uses and hotel lobby would be 
located at ground floor level fronting Harper Road, with a commercial entrance for the 
A1/A3 unit on the corner with Borough High Street, a shared B1 and D1 incubator 
entrance would be located from Borough High Street with the residential entrances 
from Harper Road.  Further restaurant, retail and the flexible space would be provided 
at basement level, together with additional facilities for the hotel, cycle and refuse 
storage and plant space.  Materials for the proposed development would comprise 
brick, pre-cast stone, aluminium and glass.

16. Vehicular access to the development would be off Harper Road, leading to a servicing 
yard with turning area and four accessible parking spaces. 

17. Initial Amendments - A number of amendments have been made to the proposal 
during the course of the application, initially comprising:

- A reduction in the number of hotel rooms from 427 to 362 and an increase in the 
number of residential units from 6 to 15;
 - A reduction in the height of the tallest part of the building from 14 stories to 13 
storeys;
 - Provision of separate entrances to the residential units to make them fully self-
contained with their own core (they were previously shown as being accessed from the 
hotel corridor).  
 -  Alterations to the residential units to increase the size of their living spaces;
 - Revised elevational treatment along Harper Road to distinguish the residential part of 
the building from the hotel. 

Further amendments:
Subsequently, further alterations have been undertaken comprising:
 - Increase to 20 residential units, including 10 units of affordable housing (8 social 

19



6

rented, 2 intermediate) amounting to 50% by habitable room count;
 - Reduction in Hotel rooms (Class C1) from 362 to 328 rooms.
 - Introduction of additional Workspace (Class B1).
 - Introduction of Employment and Community Generator space at ground floor, 
mezzanine basement and basement levels including:
      -  Multi-functional community events space (Class B1/D1).
      - Affordable workspace and workshops for artists and small businesses (Class B1).
 - Additional Retail/restaurant space at ground floor and mezzanine basement level 
(Class A1/A2/A3).

Planning history

18. 16/AP/3174 - Demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment to provide a 
residential-led, mixed-use development comprising erection of part 4, part 6, part 7 and 
part 13 storey building with basement providing 106 residential units (Class C3), office 
use (Class B1), retail use (Class A1-A3) and flexible use (Class B1/D1), 8 no. car 
parking spaces together with access, hard and soft landscaping and other associated 
works incidental to the development.

This application has stalled and is being held in abeyance, as it was not possible to 
agree on the proposed level of affordable housing.

19. 16/AP/1561 Application type: Screening Opinion (EIA) (SCR)
EIA Screening opinion for demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment of the site 
for residential-led, mixed-use scheme including retail/workspace at basement, ground 
and first floor levels'. Decision date 04/05/2016 Decision: Screening Opinion - EIA 
Regs (SCR)   

20. 15/EQ/0258 Application type: Pre-Application Enquiry (ENQ)
Proposal is to comprehensively redevelop the site for a residential-led mixed use 
scheme.  Decision date 25/07/2016 Decision: Pre-application enquiry closed (EQC).   

21. 325 Borough High Street
13-AP-0145 - Demolition of existing 3 storey (plus basement) building and the erection 
of a 6 storey (plus basement) mixed use development comprising: - Commercial [A1,A2 
and B1] space at basement and ground level - 5 no. two bedroom residential apartment 
units on the floors above].  Planning Permission was GRANTED in March 2013 (this 
application relates to a small part of the application site which adjoins the police 
station).

22. 13-AP-3052 - Material minor amendment of planning permission dated 20/03/2013 
[application no. 13/AP/0145 for the demolition of existing 3 storey (plus basement) 
building and the erection of a 6 storey (plus basement) mixed use development 
comprising: - Commercial [A1,A2 and B1] space at basement and ground level - 5 no. 
two bedroom residential apartment units on the floors above] to improve refuse and 
recycling arrangements; to allow for a continuous brick vertical and to provide detailing 
and relief – application WITHDRAWN.

23. 13/AP/3098 - Variation of the wording of condition 11 parts 3 and 4 to remove the 
requirement for their details to be submitted to the Council, prior to commencement of 
the development of planning permission dated 20/03/2013 [application no. 13/AP/0145 
for the demolition of existing 3 storey (plus basement) building and the erection of a 6 
storey (plus basement) mixed use development comprising: - Commercial [A1,A2 and 
B1] space at basement and ground level - 5 no. two bedroom residential apartment 

20



7

units on the floors above]. Planning permission was GRANTED in October 2014.

24. Planning history of adjoining sites

25-29 Harper Road
15-AP-3886 - Demolition of the existing former Sorting Office and Former Court 
building and redevelopment to provide  64 residential units (2 studios, 20 x 1b2p, 29 x 
2b4p, 8 x 3b5p, 4 x 4b5p, 1 x 4b6p) in three blocks of 4, 5 and 7-storeys in height plus 
lower ground floor; 299sqm of B1 floorspace together with associated amenity space, 
landscaping and related ancillary works.  Planning permission was GRANTED on 31st 
March 2016 following the completion of a s106 agreement.  This is the Trinity House 
scheme which is currently under construction to the east of the site.

KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 

Summary of main issues

25. The main issues to be considered in respect of this application are: 
 Principle of the proposed development in terms of land use; 
 Environmental impact assessment;
 Tenure mix, affordable housing and viability ;
 Dwelling mix including wheelchair housing;
 Density;
 Quality of residential accommodation;
 Design, layout, heritage assets and impact on Borough and London views;
 Landscaping and trees;
 Outdoor amenity space, children’s play space and public open space;
 Impact of proposed development on amenity of adjoining occupiers and 

surrounding area;
 Transport and highways;
 Noise and vibration;
 Energy and sustainability;
 Ecology and biodiversity;
 Air quality;
 Ground conditions and contamination;
 Water resources and flood risk;
 Archaeology;
 Wind microclimate;
 Health impact assessment;
 Socio-economic impacts;
 Planning obligations (S.106 undertaking or agreement);
 Mayoral and borough community infrastructure levy (CIL);
 Community involvement and engagement;
 Consultation responses, and how the application addresses the concerns 

raised;
 Community impact and equalities assessment;
 Human rights, and;
 Other matters

26. These matters are discussed in detail in the ‘Assessment’ section of this report.

21



8

Legal Context

27. Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act (2004) requires planning 
applications to be determined in accordance with the development plan, unless 
material considerations indicate otherwise. In this instance the development plan 
comprises the London Plan 2016, the Core Strategy 2011, and the Saved Southwark 
Plan 2007. 

28. There are also specific statutory duties in respect of the Public Sector Equalities Duty 
which are highlighted in the relevant sections below and in the overall assessment at 
the end of the report. 

Planning policy

29.
National Planning Policy Framework (the Framework) 2019

Section 2 – Achieving sustainable development
Section 5 – Delivering a sufficient supply of homes
Section 6 – Building a strong and competitive economy
Section 7 – Ensuring the vitality of town centres
Section 8 – Promoting healthy and safe communities
Section 9 – Promoting sustainable transport
Section 11 – Making efficient use of land
Section 12 – Achieving well designed places
Section 14 – Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal change
Section 15 – Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
Section 16 – Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

National Planning Practice Guidance

30. London Plan 2016
Policy 2.9 – Inner London
Policy 2.10 - Central Activities Zone – Strategic Priorities
Policy 2.11 - Central Activities Zone – Strategic Functions
Policy 2.12 - Central Activities Zone – Predominantly Local Activities
Policy 2.13 - Opportunity areas and intensification areas
Policy 2.15 - Town Centres
Policy 3.1 - Ensuring Equal Life Chances For All
Policy 3.3 - Increasing housing supply
Policy 3.5 - Quality and design of housing developments
Policy 3.6 - Children and young people's play and informal recreation facilities
Policy 3.8 - Housing choice
Policy 3.9 - Mixed and balanced communities
Policy 3.10 - Definition of affordable housing
Policy 3.11 - Affordable housing targets
Policy 3.12 - Negotiating affordable housing on individual private residential and mixed 
use schemes
Policy 3.16 - Protection and enhancement of social infrastructure
Policy 4.2 - Offices
Policy 4.3 - Mixed use development and offices
Policy 4.5 – London’s visitor infrastructure
Policy 4.6 - Support for and enhancement of arts, culture, sport and entertainment
Provision

22



9

Policy 4.7 - Retail and Town Centre Development
Policy 4.8 - Supporting a Successful and Diverse Retail Sector
Policy 4.9 – Small shops
Policy 4.12 - Improving Opportunities for All
Policy 5.1 - Climate Change Mitigation
Policy 5.2 - Minimising Carbon Dioxide Emissions
Policy 5.3 - Sustainable Design and Construction
Policy 5.5 - Decentralised Energy Networks
Policy 5.6 - Decentralised Energy in Development Proposals
Policy 5.7 - Renewable energy
Policy 5.8 - Innovative energy technologies
Policy 5.9 - Overheating and Cooling
Policy 5.10 - Urban Greening
Policy 5.11 - Green roofs and development site environs
Policy 5.12 - Flood risk management
Policy 5.13 - Sustainable drainage
Policy 5.14 - Water Quality and Wastewater Infrastructure
Policy 5.15 - Water Use and Supplies
Policy 5.21 - Contaminated land
Policy 6.9 - Cycling
Policy 6.10 - Walking
Policy 6.13 - Parking
Policy 7.1 - Building London’s Neighbourhoods and Communities
Policy 7.2 - An inclusive environment
Policy 7.3 - Designing out crime
Policy 7.4 - Local character
Policy 7.5 - Public Realm
Policy 7.6 - Architecture
Policy 7.7 - Location and design of tall and large buildings
Policy 7.8 - Heritage assets and archaeology
Policy 7.14 - Improving Air Quality
Policy 7.15 – Reducing and managing noise, improving and enhancing the acoustic
environment and promoting appropriate soundscapes
Policy 7.19 - Biodiversity and Access to Nature
Policy 7.21 - Trees and woodlands
Policy 8.2 - Planning obligations
Policy 8.3 - Community infrastructure levy

31. Core Strategy 2011

Strategic Policy 1 – Sustainable development 
Strategic Policy 2 – Sustainable transport 
Strategic Policy 3 – Shopping, leisure and entertainment 
Strategic Policy 4 – Places for learning, enjoyment and healthy lifestyles
Strategic Policy 5 – Providing new homes
Strategic Policy 6 – Homes for people on different incomes
Strategic Policy 7 – Family homes
Strategic Policy 10 – Jobs and businesses
Strategic Policy 11 – Open spaces and wildlife
Strategic Policy 12 – Design and conservation
Strategic Policy 13 – High environmental standards

32. Southwark Plan 2007 (July) - saved policies

23



10

1.1 - Access to employment opportunities
1.4 – Employment sites outside preferred office locations and preferred industrial 
locations
1.5 - Small businesses
1.2 – Hotels and visitor accommodation
2.1 – Enhancement of community facilities
2.2 - Provision of new community facilities
2.5 - Planning obligations
3.2 - Protection of amenity
3.3 - Sustainability assessment
3.4 - Energy efficiency
3.6 - Air quality
3.7 - Waste reduction
3.9 - Water
3.11 - Efficient use of land
3.12 - Quality in design
3.13 - Urban design
3.14 - Designing out crime
3.15 - Conservation of the historic environment
3.16 - Conservation areas
3.18 - Setting of listed buildings, conservation areas and world heritage sites
3.19 – Archaeology
3.20 – Tall buildings
3.28 - Biodiversity
4.2 - Quality of residential accommodation
4.3 - Mix of dwellings
4.4 - Affordable housing
4.5 - Wheelchair affordable housing
5.2 - Transport impacts
5.3 - Walking and cycling
5.6 - Car parking
5.7 - Parking standards for disabled people and the mobility impaired

33. Supplementary planning documents

Sustainable design and construction SPD (2009)
Sustainability assessments SPD (2009)
Sustainable Transport SPD (2010)
Residential Design Standards SPD Technical Update (2015)
Affordable housing SPD (2008 - Adopted and 2011 - Draft)
Section 106 planning obligations and community infrastructure levy (CIL) SPD
(2015)
Development Viability SPD (2016)

34. Draft New Southwark Plan (NSP)

For the last 5 years the council has been preparing the New Southwark Plan (NSP) 
which will replace the saved policies of the 2007 Southwark Plan and the 2011 Core 
Strategy. The Council concluded consultation on the Proposed Submission version 
(Regulation 19) on 27 February 2018. It is anticipated that the plan will be adopted in 
2020 following an Examination in Public (EIP). As the New Southwark Plan is not yet 
an adopted plan, it has limited weight. Nevertheless paragraph 48 of the NPPF states 

24



11

that decision makers may give weight to relevant policies in emerging plans according 
to the stage of preparation of the emerging plan, the extent to which there are 
unresolved objections to the policy and the degree of consistency with the Framework. 

The site is designated proposal site NSP09 in the draft NSP, which extends from the 
Borough High Street frontage all the way to the boundary with the Trinity House 
development.  It therefore covers all of the site subject to this application. The site 
vision in the draft NSP advises that redevelopment of the site must:

-Re-provide at least the amount of employment floor space (B class) currently on the 
site or provide at least 50% of the development as employment floor space, whichever 
is greater;
- Provide new homes (C3);
- Provide active frontages with ground floor town centre uses (A1, A2, A3, A4, B1, D1 
and D2).

The design and accessibility guidance in the draft NSP advises that the site could 
include taller buildings, subject to impacts on existing character, heritage and 
townscape. 

The draft NSP advises that redevelopment of the site should contribute towards 
enhanced green walking routes to Elephant and Castle and Borough and proposed 
cycle route improvements to Swan Street. The proximity to nearby heritage assets 
including important archaeology and the need to protect them is highlighted.

35. Draft New London Plan

The draft New London Plan was published on 30 November 2017 and the first and only 
stage of consultation closed on 2 March 2018. Minor suggested changes to the plan 
were published on 13 August 2018 and an Examination in Public (EIP) has taken place 
in 2019. Given that the plan has not yet been adopted  it can only be attributed limited 
weight at present.

Consultation responses from members of the public

36. Summarised below are the material planning considerations raised by members of the 
public. The initial round of consultation resulted in 46 responses, 43 in objection, 2 in 
support and one neutral response. The latest round of re-consultation has resulted in 8 
responses to the development, all in objection. The themes throughout the objections 
are all along similar lines and are summarised as follows: 

37. Principle of development and proposed land uses: 

 The site is in a residential area and placing a commercial building at the site 
would be detrimental to the immediate neighbourhood;

 New housing is required, not hotels, and other hotels are under construction 
locally;

 A hotel in this location would be contrary to the London Plan and strategic policy 
10 of the Core Strategy;

 The site is not in the Bankside, Borough and London Bridge Town Centre or the 
opportunity area. It is only partly within the town centre and planning policies 
should be applied accordingly;

 Dwellings being built at 25-29 Harper Road should not all be counted towards 
the unit estimated capacity for proposal site designation 10P, because that 

25



12

adjoining site included land outside of 10P;
 There would be no new dwellings, only replacements, and they would not be 

low cost, unlike those which they would replace;
 Lack of affordable housing;
 The proposal would be contrary to the NSP site designation which gives an 

estimated capacity of 77 homes;
 The proposal would be contrary to the proposal site 10P because a hotel is 

proposed;
 The proposal should be treated as a major development outside a major town 

centre and opportunity area;
 Co-working space is not an acceptable replacement for the type of units in Hotel 

Elephant or the probation office and may not be let;
 Question the long term sustainability of retail, restaurant and bar spaces on this 

site;
 The hotel could be converted to student accommodation if a hotel is not 

successful;
 The proposed D class floor space would not be suitable for a doctors’ surgery;
 The flexible B/D class floor space must be secured for D class use and set 

aside for the local community and must not be allowed to change to B class;
 Has been no consultation with the existing pharmacy which has provided 

services to the local community for approximately 20 years and serves 
vulnerable residents; 

 Job losses arising from loss of the pharmacy;
 

38. Affordable housing and viability: 

  Approval of the application may come down to viability, but the local community 
and the remainder of the borough should not take the penalty of developers 
paying too much for sites

  

39. Design quality and site layout: 

 The proposed building would be too high;
 Harm to the Trinity Church Square Conservation Area and listed buildings;
 The proposed building has no architectural merit;
 The site is not located at a point of landmark significance;
 The site is predominantly within a Borough Landmark Viewing Corridor (view 3 

in the NSP) and within the wider consultation area for this view;
 It would start a precedent for a cluster of tall buildings in this location;
 Contrary to the Elephant and Castle SPD which seeks to cluster tall buildings, 

with heights dropping along Newington Causeway;
 Would obscure important local views of the City and the Shard -  (officer 

response – These views are not protected. 

40. Neighbour amenity impacts: 

  Noise and disturbance from servicing the hotel from the service yard would 
impact the amenity of new flats being constructed at 25-29 Harper Road;

 Noise and anti-social behaviour arising from the roof top bar;
 Overlooking from the proposed roof top bar;
 Air pollution from increased dust, leading to health problems;
 Overshadowing;

26



13

41. Transport, parking, highways, deliveries and servicing matters: 
  The proposed hotel use would be increase traffic in the area;
 The site is not at a transport hub where hotels are generally located;
 A detailed construction management plan must be conditioned if the application 

is approved, in consultation with the local community and councillors;
 Refuse collection must be carefully considered and must not adversely impact 

upon neighbouring residents;

42. Other matters: 
  Impact upon local services

Existing doctors’ surgeries are already overprescribed and the proposal would put 
further pressure on them;
The doctors’ surgery, pharmacy and police station are needed more than a hotel and 
should remain as they are;

ASSESSMENT

Principle of the proposed development in terms of land use

43. The entire site sits within the central activities zone (CAZ), the strategic priorities and 
functions for which are set out in policies 2.10 and 2.11 of the London Plan; this 
includes enhancing and promoting the roles of the CAZ based on a rich mix of local 
and strategic uses.

Fig 2. Proposed Ground Floor Plan

44. The western part of the site fronting Borough High Street also forms part of the London 
Bridge, Bankside and Borough Opportunity area, with the boundary transecting the site 
diagonally as shown on Fig 1. (paragraph 10) of this report.  The London Plan 
considers opportunity areas to be “the capital’s major reservoir of brownfield land with 
significant capacity to accommodate new housing, commercial and other developments 
linked to existing or potential improvements to public transport accessibility. Typically 
they can accommodate at least 5,000 jobs or 2,500 new homes or a combination of the 
two, along with other supporting facilities and infrastructure” (paragraph 2.58). 
Accordingly, policy 2.13 of the London Plan states that opportunity areas should seek 

27



14

to optimise residential and non-residential out-put and densities, provide necessary 
social and other infrastructure to sustain growth, and where appropriate, contain a mix 
of uses. Annex 1 of the London Plan gives an indicative employment capacity for this 
opportunity area of 25,000 jobs and a minimum of 1,900 new homes.

45. Southwark’s Core Strategy reinforces the London Plan aspirations for development in 
the CAZ to support London as a world class city. The CAZ and opportunity areas are 
targeted as growth areas in the borough where development will be prioritised. The 
Council will allow more intense development for a mix of uses in the growth areas and 
will make sure that development makes the most of a site’s potential and protects open 
space (Strategic Policy 1).

46. The Core Strategy vision for the Bankside, Borough and London Bridge Opportunity 
Area is that it will continue to be home to a mix of uses, providing high quality office 
accommodation alongside world class retail, tourism, culture and entertainment 
facilities and public spaces. Local people will be supported to find jobs by local 
employment and training schemes, and the Council is working with the local community 
and landowners to deliver large scale development and improvements, providing over 
1,900 new homes, 665 affordable housing units and around 25,000 new jobs by 2026.

47. The western part of the site (the same part which falls within the opportunity area) also 
sits within the London Bridge District Town Centre.  Strategic policy 3 of the Core 
Strategy advises that the provision of new shopping space in Bankside, Borough and 
London Bridge will be supported, which should include food and non-food space to 
meet the needs of local residents, visitors and businesses.  The western part of the site 
is designated in the Saved Southwark Plan as proposal site 10P which encompasses 
the part of the site occupied by Hotel Elephant, together with part of the Trinity House 
development.  It is designated for housing with no other uses permitted, and an 
estimated capacity for 60 residential units is given.  The site designation does not 
include 21 Harper Road or the rear parts of the properties fronting Borough High Street, 
and these buildings do not sit within the opportunity area or town centre either. As 
stated, part of the Southwark Plan proposal site already has planning permission for a 
predominantly residential development at 25-29 Harper Road and this is under 
construction and known as the Trinity House scheme which was for 64 residential units.

48. Provision of retail floor space (use classes A1 and A3)

There is currently 301sqm of retail floor space on the site comprising 94sqm of A1 floor 
space (the pharmacy) and 207sqm of A3/A5 space made up of the sandwich shop, a 
vacant takeaway fronting Borough High Street and a vacant takeaway / restaurant at 
the rear of the site accessed from Harper Road. The proposal would include 754sqm of 
floor space within use classes A1 and A3, an uplift of 443sqm.  This would be 
consistent with strategic policy 3 of the Core Strategy which supports the provision of 
new shopping space in the area, and the space would front Borough High Street 
creating an active frontage to this street, with further café space incorporated within the 
commercial unit and accessed separately within the courtyard.  Concerns have been 
raised during public consultation on the application that the commercial spaces within 
the courtyard are unlikely to be successful owing to their limited visibility. However, 
wide routes would be created into the courtyard and this type of arrangement would not 
in itself be particularly unusual.

49. The retail units would span the basement and ground floor levels as well as a publically 
accessible rooftop bar also proposed at 12th floor level.  Policy 4.9 of the London Plan 
‘Small shops’ advises that in considering proposals for large retail developments the 

28



15

Mayor will and boroughs should, consider imposing conditions or seeking contributions 
through planning obligations where appropriate, feasible and viable, to provide or 
support affordable shop units suitable for small or intermediate retailers and service 
outlets and / or to strengthen and promote the retail offer, attractiveness and 
competitiveness of centres; the Mayor’s Town Centre SPG defines small shops as 
those with a gross floor area typically up to 80sqm.

50. Other than within the Elephant and Castle Opportunity Area, the Council does not have 
a policy which sets a minimum requirement for affordable retail units.  The proposal has 
been revised and now proposes larger retail units that would not easily lend themselves 
to subdivision to create smaller units. This is considered acceptable given the relatively 
low amount of retail floor space proposed.

51. Concerns have been raised by the retail occupiers currently at the site that they have 
not had any discussions with the applicant about the proposals, and are therefore 
uncertain about their future. The applicant has subsequently advised that discussions 
have taken place with the pharmacy, but these are confidential at this stage.  The 
applicant has however, agreed to market an area of retail space at least equivalent in 
size to that occupied by the pharmacy exclusively for a pharmacy use for a six month 
period provided that (a) the existing pharmacy does not itself choose to return to the 
development or to relocate locally or (b) another licensed pharmacy does not set up 
within circa 500m radius of the site, and (c) the relevant licensing authority is willing to 
grant a pharmacy license to a suitable pharmacy operator in the new development. It is 
recommended that this is included as a s106 obligation within the legal agreement.

52. The applicant has also advised that the Sandwich Box is a sub-leasee of the pharmacy, 
and that it would not be appropriate for the applicant to approach the sub-leasee 
without consent from the pharmacy owner.  The sub-tenancy would be dealt with in 
accordance with the terms of their sub-lease and the provisions of the Landlord and 
Tenant Act which fall outside of the planning remit.

53. Emerging policy P38 of the draft NSP ‘Business Relocation’ requires that where 
existing small or independent businesses or small shops are displaced by a 
development, a business relocation strategy, in written consultation with affected 
businesses, must be provided. This must include details of existing levels of non-
residential floor space, a schedule of the affected businesses including use, employees 
and lease terms, proposed levels of non-residential floor space, details of engagement 
with the affected businesses and details of engagement with workspace providers to 
secure occupiers for new employment space. Given that the plan is in draft stage, it is 
considered that this policy can only be afforded limited weight and given the 
abovementioned considerations for re-provision of the pharmacy within the legal 
agreement, this is considered an appropriate level of mitigation. Re-location of the 
existing doctors surgery is considered further, later within the report.

54. With regard to the existing residential occupiers, the applicant has advised that there 
are seven individual flat owners, six of which are buy-to-let investors and one owner / 
occupier.  The applicant’s agent has been in dialogue with the flat owners for the past 
two years and negotiations are currently underway with all parties with regard to 
acquiring these properties if planning permission is granted.

55. Provision of office space (use class B1)
Strategic policy 10 of the Core Strategy seeks to protect existing business floor space 
in certain locations including the CAZ, town centres and action area cores. Saved 
policy 1.4 of the Southwark Plan also affords protection to existing business space in 

29



16

certain locations, including town centres and where the site fronts a classified road, but 
it also allows business space to be replaced with A class or other town centre uses 
where sites are located in a town centre.

56. There is currently 1,695sqm of B1 floor space on the site, 766.5sqm of which is 
afforded protection under the saved Southwark Plan because some of it (above the 
doctors’ surgery) is located in the town centre, and some of it (at 21 Harper Road) 
fronts a classified road. The remaining B1 space sits on the part of the site which is 
designated for housing and as such is not protected.  

57. The proposed development would include 2,019sqm of B1 floor space, which would be 
located at basement, mezzanine basement and ground floor accessed from Borough 
High Street and within the proposed courtyard. This would be in the form of office 
workspace at ground floor and mezzanine basement with affordable workspace at 
basement level. There would therefore be an uplift of 324sqm of B class floor space as 
well as 446sqm of flexible B1/D1 space at basement level which is proposed which 
would be made available for hire free of charge to registered local community. This 
would be separate from the workspace but included as this is part of the wider 
community hub. However, a clause is recommended to be included within the legal 
agreement requiring the applicants to submit a community investment plan which will 
outline the details of when this would be used for community based D1 uses.  

Fig 3. Proposed Basement Plan

58. The B1 floor space would be laid out as co-working space which would be managed by 
The Collective; it would be available to the local community and hotel guests.  Although 
not a policy requirement, 1094sqm of floor space would be offered as affordable 
workspace with a rent of 75% of the market value and this would be secured in the 
s106 agreement.

59. In addition to this, the applicants have outlined that, in partnership between The 
Collective, The Collective Foundation and our local champions, an Accelerator 
Programme will be run on site at Kings Place to nurture local talent, generate ideas and 
keep employment within the Borough. As part of this process, the following financial 

30



17

contributions are proposed in addition to the above:

• Up to 5 financial grants per annum of £10,000 to seed new businesses within 
the accelerator programme over the next 15 years.

• Up to 3 financial grants per annum of £5,500 for local Rockingham & Tabard 
estate students to attend London South Bank University for the next 15 years.

These additional contributions would also be secured as part of the s106 agreement.

60. C1 floor space (hotel)
Policy 4.5 of the London Plan sets a target of 40,000 net additional hotel bedrooms by 
2036, of which at least 10% should be wheelchair accessible. It advises that new visitor 
accommodation should be in appropriate locations including in the CAZ, where 
strategically important hotel provision should be focussed within opportunity areas and 
smaller scale provision in CAZ fringe locations with good public transport.  It advises 
that further intensification of hotel provision in areas of existing concentration should be 
resisted, except where it would not compromise local amenity or the balance of local 
land uses.  The GLA has confirmed in its stage 1 response that a hotel-led scheme on 
the site is supported in land use terms under the London Plan.

61. At borough level strategic policy 10 of the Core Strategy advises that hotels will be 
permitted in town centres, the strategic cultural areas and places with good access to 
public transport services, provided they do not harm the local character.  Saved policy 
1.12 of the Southwark Plan advises that hotels and other visitor accommodation will be 
encouraged in areas with high public transport accessibility; hotels and visitor 
accommodation will not be permitted where they would result in a loss of existing 
residential accommodation, or an over dominance of visitor accommodation in the 
locality.

62. The hotel would be operated and managed by The Collective Ltd which launched its 
first fully operational hotel in Long Island City, New York in April 2019, comprising 229 
rooms.  The Collective has another hotel and co-living scheme recently completed in 
Canary Wharf which has 706 rooms. The proposed hotel would be aimed at those 
wishing to stay for more than one or two nights such as for holidays and work trips.   
The hotel would target a 3 star rating and a hotel study submitted by the applicant 
advises that a significantly lower proportion of Southwark’s hotel stock is of 3 star rating 
(4%) compared to 13% in Westminster, 19% in Kensington and Chelsea, and 27% in 
Camden.

63. There are currently 70 full time jobs which equates to 85 people employed at the site.  
The hotel part of the scheme would result in around 235 jobs in total, including 185 full-
time equivalent jobs in addition to the other commercial uses and the s106 agreement 
would secure employment both during construction and within the completed 
development. This would include 54 jobs within the completed development, 33 of 
which would be from the proposed hotel.  The applicant has also committed to working 
with local education partners to deliver a pre-employment hospitality and catering 
course to connect local residents with employment opportunities, targeting long-term 
unemployed local residents.

64. Areas of the hotel which would be open to the public would be the hotel lobby / lounge, 
with the rooftop bar and terrace, and workspace being offered as separate uses. The 
applicant has also agreed to offer and operate a multi-functional event space in the 
development for community use and this would be secured through a community 

31



18

investment plan secured as part of the s106 agreement.

65. The entire site is located in the CAZ, has excellent access to public transport, and the 
part of the site fronting Borough High Street is in the opportunity area therefore a hotel 
would be acceptable in land use terms. The exception to this is the part of the site 
which is designated for housing. Policy 3.4 of the London Plan requires developments 
to optimise housing output for different types of locations within various density ranges 
which are set out in the policy (density is considered separately below).  By building a 
hotel on part of a housing site arguably the site would not optimise housing potential.

66. However, the proposal would contain 20 residential units which would be located on the 
housing part of the site.  The saved Southwark Plan gives an estimated capacity of 60 
residential units on the entire housing site which incorporates the Trinity House 
development. This neighbouring development is providing 64 new dwellings, 45 of 
which are on the remaining part of the allocated housing site.  Adding to this to the 20 
dwellings proposed under the current application, a total of 65 dwellings would be 
delivered across within the housing site which would align with the estimated capacity 
given in the Southwark Plan.  This would not optimise housing delivery on the housing 
site as required by the London Plan because more housing and less hotel rooms could 
be provided. However, on balance, given the employment benefits associated with the 
proposed hotel and given that the amount of housing the Southwark Plan estimated for 
the site would be delivered, this is considered to be acceptable in this instance.

67. As to whether there would be a concentration of hotels in the area, the applicant’s hotel 
study considers existing and consented hotels within a half mile radius of the site, 
which spans from Borough Market in the north to New Kent Road in the south.  There 
are currently 19 hotels in this area, most of which are located to the north and which 
provide a total of 1,530 rooms.  The London City Hotel and St Christopher’s Village are 
closest to the site, approximately 350m to the north or around a five minute walk away. 
There are a further five hotels in the pipeline which would add another 752 rooms to the 
existing provision. The closest to the site would be a new 140 room Premier Inn at 87 
Newington Causeway, approximately 220m from the site. Given that there would be a 
reasonable distance between the site and the nearest existing and planned hotels, 
there is not considered to be an over-concentration of hotels in this particular area of 
the borough.  

68. D1 class floor space
There is currently 433sqm of D1 floor space on the site which is in use as a doctors’ 
surgery. Policy 3.16 of the London Plan seeks to protect and enhance social 
infrastructure, and advises that proposals which would result in the loss of social 
infrastructure in areas of defined need for that type of social infrastructure without 
realistic proposals for re-provision should be resisted; it requires the suitability of the 
space for other forms of social infrastructure to be considered. This is reinforced 
through saved policy 2.1 of the Southwark Plan.

69. The proposed development would include 433sqm of flexible floor space which could 
either be used for B1 or D1 purposes.  The applicant has submitted a letter from the 
existing GP Practice which advises that they do not wish to stay at the site, and intend 
to merge with another nearby practice.  In planning terms there would be nothing to 
prevent a different practice from occupying some of the space within the development 
should they wish.  It could also be occupied by another type of social infrastructure and 
the London Plan policy requires this to be considered. The proposal is to offer a area of 
the incubator hub as a flexible D1 and B1 floor space that will be open for local 
residents to use the space for community based functions which is considered a 

32



19

positive re-provision of the social infrastructure floor space. It is recommended that 
there is a clause within the legal agreement requiring the submission of a community 
investment and use plan in order to ensure that this space is genuinely available for the 
wider benefit of the community. 

70. Land use conclusion
When combined with the adjoining Trinity House development the proposal would 
deliver 60 residential units which is the estimated capacity given in the Southwark Plan 
for the housing site.  A hotel would be acceptable in land use terms given that the 
entire site is located in the CAZ and part of the site is located in an opportunity area. 
Although hotel floor space would be provided on part of the housing site, on balance 
this is considered to be acceptable given that the estimated number of units given in 
the Southwark Plan would be delivered.  Whilst more housing could be provided on the 
site in lieu of hotel rooms, this should be weighed in the balance with the benefits 
arising from the proposed hotel including job creation, an additional yearly spend of 
£155k in the local area, and the proposed business and community incubator hub and 
event space within the proposed development. Furthermore, the immediate area would 
not result in an over-provision of hotel bed spaces. The A1-A3 uses would help to 
enliven this part of the street, and a condition is recommended requiring the flexible 
space to be marketed for D1 use in the first instance and a proportion of the retail 
space to be marketed for a pharmacy use. Overall the principle of the mixed use 
development is thus considered acceptable. 

Equality implications

71. Legal context
The Equality Act 2010 provides protection from discrimination in respect of certain 
protected characteristics namely: age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity, race, religion, or beliefs and sex and sexual orientation. Section 149 of the 
Equality Act 2010 places the Local Planning Authority under a legal duty to have due 
regard to the advancement of equality in the exercise of its powers including planning 
powers. Officers have taken this into account in the assessment of the application and 
Members must be mindful of this duty, inter alia, when determining all planning 
applications. In particular Members must pay due regard to the need to:

• Eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under the Equality Act;
• Advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it;
• Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected characteristic 
and persons who do not share it.

72. This section of the report examines the impact of the proposal on those with protected 
characteristics and with a particular focus on the Council’s legal duties under s.149 of 
the Equality Act 2010.

73. No equalities impact assessment has been submitted with the application, but the 
proposal could impact upon people sharing the characteristics of age and disability 
owing to the potential loss of the pharmacy and doctors’ surgery.  The loss of these 
facilities could mean that people would have to travel slightly further to access these 
facilities, which older and disabled people may be less able to do than the wider 
population.  

74. However, as stated, the applicant has submitted a letter from the existing doctors’ 

33



20

surgery which advises that the two GPs at the practice intend to co-locate to another 
local NHS GP practice, to ensure the long term sustainability of both practices.  The 
letter advises that the clinical commissioning group would be given 6 months’ notice 
before the practice vacates the site, and that it is not either practice’s intention or desire 
to return to the site in the completed development.

75. The applicant has also submitted details of the effect of the proposal on local GP 
provision.  It advises that Southwark Clinical Commissioning Group (SCCG) is the NHS 
body responsible for ensuring the quality of care provision to patients in Southwark, 
and manages 38 practices in total.  GP provision within one mile has been considered, 
that being a typical walking distance, and there are 15 GP practices within a one mile 
radius of the site, all but one of which is accepting new patients.  Across the 15 
surgeries there is an average patient list size of 2, 511 registered patients per full time 
GP which is significantly above the NHS recommendation of 1, 800 per GP, suggesting 
that GP provision in the local area is constrained.  However, as the two GPs intend to 
relocate to another practice locally, the proposal would not significantly add to the 
existing constraints given that only 20 residential units are proposed. A condition is 
recommended requiring the submission of a community use strategy to ensure the D1 
community activities are provided on site.

76. With regard to the pharmacy use, the applicant has agreed to market an equivalent 
amount of floor space as currently occupied by the pharmacy for pharmacy use for a 
period of 6 months. In spite of this there is no guarantee that a pharmacy would be re-
provided on the site and Members must weigh this in the balance when considering the 
proposal. The nearest alternative pharmacy appears to be at 18 Harper Road, 
approximately 200m to the east of the site which is considered to be an adequate 
distance from the site to mitigate the potential loss of the pharmacy on this site.  After 
this the closest pharmacies are at Elephant and Castle, approximately 400m to the 
south therefore those living close to the site could have to travel further to a pharmacy 
than is currently the case.

77. It is not known whether the existing business owners or people who live at the site 
shared in any protected characteristics, and both the pharmacy and the Sandwich Box 
are long standing businesses which have been at the site for around 18 and 32 years 
respectively.  The proposal would however, increase the amount of retail space and 
dwellings on the site and would include 50% affordable housing which would have 
positive equality impacts; at present there are seven dwellings on the site which are all 
in the private sector.

78. The proposal would also have a number of other positive equality impacts. The 
proposed hotel would result in a significant increase in jobs on the site, both during 
construction and within the completed development which could benefit those sharing 
protected characteristics. Level access would be provided at ground floor level within 
the development, and lifts would be provided internally which would benefit older and 
less-abled people.

79. The proposed development would result in a significant change at the site. The public 
sector equality duty does not prevent change, but it is important that the Council 
considers the acceptability of the change with a careful eye on the equality implications 
of that change given its duty under s.149 of the Equality Act 2010. The Council’s duty is 
to have due regard to the objectives identified above when making its decision. In the 
present context, this means focussing carefully on how the proposed change would 
affect those with protected characteristics, and ensuring that their interests are 
protected and equality objectives promoted as far as possible.

34



21

80. It is considered that there could be adverse equality implications in relation to age and 
disability owing to the loss of the doctors’ surgery and pharmacy.  Although the doctors’ 
surgery plans to relocate locally, patients living close to the site would have to travel 
further to access GP services than at present. These impacts must be weighed in the 
balance with the benefits arising from the proposal, including a significant increase in 
jobs at the site, new social rented units, and new retail and office floor space within a 
high quality development. Officers consider that the benefits of the proposal would 
outweigh any adverse equality implications in this instance.

Environmental impact assessment

81. The Council issued a negative screening opinion in May 2016 confirming that an 
Environmental Impact Assessment would not be required for a proposal to redevelop 
the site for a residential-led (circa 106 units), mixed-use scheme including 3,020sqm of 
office and retail floor space in a new building up to 13-storeys high (reference: 
16/AP/1561).  The current proposal before Members is similar to this earlier proposal in 
terms of its height, scale, massing and layout, with the main change being that the 
predominant use at the site would be a hotel rather than residential.

82. The proposed hotel would be more intensive than residential, with large numbers of 
people coming and going and increased servicing requirements.  However, given the 
location of the site in a densely built up urban area where there are already large 
numbers of people and high levels of activity, it is not considered that the proposal 
would have significant environmental effects that would require the submission of an 
Environmental Statement; regard has been had to the screening criteria in Schedule 3 
of the EIA Regulations in reaching this view.  As set out later in the report, noise and 
transport impacts arising from the proposal would not be significant. 

Tenure mix, affordable housing and viability

83. The proposed scheme would deliver 20 units, of which 10 would be offered as 
affordable housing units with the following mix:

84. Unit size No. of 
Social rent

No. of 
intermediate 

(shared 
ownership)

No. of 
Market units

Total

1-bedroom 2 0 4 6 (30%)

2-bedroom 4 2 1 7 (35%)

3-bedroom 0 0 4 4 (20%)

4-bedroom 2 0 1 3 (15%)

All units 8
(40%)

2
(10%)

10
(50%)

20 (100%)

85. The proposed tenure mix would exceed the required affordable housing levels as it 
would provide 50% affordable housing which is considered a significant positive from 
the proposed development. Of the affordable provision, this would equate to 80% social 
rented housing and 20% Intermediate housing which is would accord with Core 

35



22

Strategy Policy 6 which requires that 35% of all housing is affordable within 
developments.  The applicants have demonstrated through a viability appraisal that the 
current development would be deliverable with a developer return level of 15.1%. This 
profit level sits at the lower end of the normally accepted levels of profits as outlined 
within Southwark’s Development Viability SPD (15-20%). This demonstrates that the 
proposed scheme would be deliverable.

Dwelling mix including wheelchair housing

86. Policy 3.8 of the London Plan ‘Housing choice’ requires new developments to offer a 
range of housing choices in terms of the mix, housing sizes and types, taking account 
of the housing requirements of different groups and the changing roles of different 
sectors in meeting these. Strategic policy 7 of the Core Strategy ‘Family homes’ 
requires developments of 10 or more units to provide at least 60% of the units with two 
or more bedrooms, at least 20% of the units with three or more bedrooms, and no more 
than 5% studio units which can only be for private housing. As noted above, 35% of the 
units proposed would be of three or more bedroom family dwellings and 70% of all 
units would be of two or more bedrooms.

87. Four units have been proposed as wheelchair housing units, 1 x 2 bed 3 person unit 
Market Housing unit, 2 x 2 Bed 3 Person units as Social rented units and 1 x 2 bed 3 
person intermediate housing unit. 

88. Overall the dwelling mix would accord with the required policies as it would exceed the 
required levels of family housing and number of units of 2 or more bedrooms. 
Furthermore there would be a significant overprovision of wheelchair accessible units 
providing 20% which is considered to be another significant public benefit of the 
proposed development.

Density

89. Based on the Southwark Plan methodology for mixed-use developments, the density of 
the proposed development would equate to 2,302 habitable rooms per hectare (hrh).  
Neighbouring residents have raised concerns that the scale and massing of the 
development is excessive for the site and as such this leads to an overdevelopment of 
the site. 

90. With regard to Southwark policy, strategic policy 5 of the Core Strategy expects 
residential developments in the central activities zone to fall within the range of 650- 
1,100 habitable rooms per hectare. The Southwark Plan sets out the methodology for 
calculating the density of mixed use schemes, and requires areas of non-residential 
space to be divided by 27.5 to create an equivalent number of habitable rooms per 
hectare.

91. The Council’s Residential Design Standards SPD requires accommodation to be of an 
exemplary standard where density ranges would be exceeded. The proposal would 
result in an excellent standard of accommodation, although not all aspects of the 
housing could be described as ‘exemplary’ – this is assessed further later in the report 
in the ‘Quality of accommodation’ section.   The height of the proposed development 
and its public realm contribution are considered to be acceptable and the quality of 
detailed design is considered to be of a very high standard, as noted later in the report.  
Although there would be some impacts upon daylight and sunlight to neighbouring 
properties, it is not considered that this would be significant. There are also other 
significant contributions as a result of the proposed development including the 

36



23

significant uplift in employment from the site, and in particular, the proposed 
community/employment hub and the 50% affordable housing. Given these factors, it is 
not considered that exceeding the density threshold would warrant withholding 
permission in this instance.

Quality of residential accommodation

92. The residential element of the proposed scheme would be located to the south eastern 
end of the site along Harper Road which is considered the more residential part of the 
site with the adjoining new residential block. Two separate residential cores are 
provided, with one for access to the affordable units and one for the market units for 
management purposes and this arrangement is considered acceptable.

93.
Schedule of accommodation for dwelling type  

Dwelling Area (sq. m) Minimum area 
requirement (sq. m)

Complies 
(YES/NO)?

1B2P units 50.4sqm – 57.9sqm 50 Yes
2B3P units 70.3sqm - 78.1sqm 61 Yes
2B4P units 75.6sqm – 77sqm 70 Yes
3B5P units 91.7sqm - 96.4sqm 86 Yes
4B5P units 96.4sqm 90 Yes

94. In terms of individual room sizes within each of the units, all living/kitchen/dining rooms 
would exceed the required 24sqm, 27sqm and 30sqm requirements for the one, two 
and three or more bedrooms as outlined within the 2015 Technical Update to the 
Residential Design Standards. All double bedrooms would exceed the required 12sqm 
minimum size with all single bedrooms meeting or exceeding the required 7sqm 
standard.  All bathrooms would exceed the required 3.5sqm and all units would have 
access to internal bulk storage. 

95. As noted above, all of the unit and room sizes are compliant with the required 
standards as outlined within the 2015 Technical Update to the Residential Design 
Standards. 14 out of the 20 units are dual aspect with the remaining being east facing 
single aspect units with a number of windows and as such have very good access to 
outlook, daylight and sunlight. Whilst some of the layouts of the flats are a little 
awkward with some bedrooms accessed directly from living spaces, the applicants 
have provided details from a fire safety officer who has outlined that they meet the 
requirements of the Fire Regulations. Despite the layout, the proposal would provide 
high quality internal spaces which allow for a modern open-plan living arrangement for 
the future occupiers of the site.

96. In terms of outdoor amenity space, all units would have access to private amenity 
space with a minimum of 3.6sqm being provided with all 3-bed units having a minimum 
of 10sqm which is considered an acceptable provision for each of the residential units. 
In terms of communal amenity space, the application has been amended in order to 
include an increased and improved area for communal amenity space. However, as a 
result of this, the level of children’s play space has been reduced to 46sqm in order to 
cater for this. The 46sqm Children’s play space would be fully compliant for ages 0-5 

37



24

years and it is proposed for the remaining 80sqm would be offered as a payment in 
lieu. Officers consider that this strikes an appropriate balance between outdoor amenity 
space and children’s play space, particularly given the constrained area at first floor 
level would not easily cater for older Children’s play space and would be better use for 
communal outdoor amenity space and could be used by all future occupiers of the 
development. 

Design, layout, heritage assets and impact on Borough and London views

Design including building heights and impacts on views
97. The proposal is for a comprehensive redevelopment of the site comprising a new 

building of up to 13-storeys high set around a new courtyard.  The tallest part of the 
building would be located at the corner of Borough High Street and Harper Road.  The 
development would be arranged with commercial uses along the street frontages and 
courtyard, with the hotel lobby and a residential entrance along Harper Road.

Fig 4. Proposed Borough High Street Elevation

98. Section 12 of the NPPF ‘Achieving well-designed places’ advises that the creation of 
high quality buildings and places is fundamental to what the planning and development 
process should achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development 
which creates better places in which to live and work. Policy 7.4 of the London Plan 
requires development to have regard to the form, function, and structure of an area, 
place or street and the scale, mass and orientation of surrounding buildings. It should 
improve an area’s visual or physical connection with natural features. In areas of poor 
or ill-defined character, development should build on the positive elements that can 
contribute to establishing an enhanced character for the future function of the area. 
Policies 7.4 and 7.5 are also relevant which require developments to provide high 
quality public realm and architecture, and policy which 7.7 relates to the location and 
design of tall and large buildings.

99. Strategic policy 12 of the Southwark Core Strategy (2011) states that all development 
in the borough will be expected to “achieve the highest possible standards of design for 
buildings and public spaces to help create attractive and distinctive places which are 
safe, easy to get around and a pleasure to be in.” Saved policy 3.12 ‘Quality in design’ 
of the Southwark Plan asserts that developments should achieve a high quality of both 
architectural and urban design, enhancing the quality of the built environment in order 
to create attractive, high amenity environments people will choose to live in, work in 
and visit. When we consider the quality of a design we look broadly at the fabric, 
geometry and function of the proposal as they are bound together in the overall 
concept for the design. Saved policy 3.13 of the Southwark Plan asserts that the 
principles of good urban design must be taken into account in all developments. This 

38



25

includes height, scale and massing of buildings, consideration of the local context, its 
character and townscape as well as the local views and resultant streetscape

100. Objections have been received relating to the height of the proposed development 
including lack of justification for a tall building on the site, impact upon the local 
character, and impact upon surrounding conservation areas and listed buildings. The 
proposal involves the redevelopment of the site which currently contains buildings of 2-
4-storeys high which are Victorian and of 1960s/70s origin. Borough High Street is 
mixed in character, with a range of commercial uses at ground floor level and 
residential and office space above, with building heights ranging from 3-7 storeys close 
to the site and the buildings along Harper Road heights range from 2-5 storeys near to 
the site and are generally more spread out.

101. Site layout
The proposed building would front Borough High Street / Newington Causeway and 
Harper Road, with a generous 4.8m wide route leading from each street into a central 
courtyard within.  Whilst the proposed site layout would essentially internalise the public 
realm the proposed arrangement picks up on a local features of townscape character, 
with the courtyard reminiscent of some of the yards which are part of the character of 
this area, particularly further north along Borough High Street.  An s106 obligation 
requiring the courtyard to remain open throughout the night and day is recommended. 
The site is located at a prominent junction approximately midway between Elephant 
and Castle to the south and London Bridge to the north, and owing to a large area of 
concrete next to the existing buildings on Borough High Street the corner currently 
appears rather weak and poorly defined. Lining the edges of the site with a new 
building, with the tallest element on the corner, would help to reinforce this prominent 
corner and repair this part of the streetscene.  

102. The Harper Road frontage would predominantly stand forward of the footprint of the 
consented Trinity House scheme and balconies would project over the pavement, 
although this is not unusual.  Whilst it would have been preferable for this part of the 
building to align with the neighbouring development, it is considered that the Harper 
Road element would be sufficiently set back relative to its height, and would allow for 
new street planting.  

103. Height, scale and massing
The proposed building would be 13-storeys at the highest point and as such would 
appear markedly taller than its immediate surroundings.  It is noted however, that tall 
buildings are currently under construction further south along Newington Causeway.

39



26

Fig 5. Proposed West Elevation and Section

104. In policy terms, tall buildings are defined as those which are over 30m in height.  Saved 
policy 3.20 of the Southwark plan states that any building over 30 metres tall (or 25 
metres in the Thames Policy Area) should ensure that it:

i. Makes a positive contribution to the landscape; and
ii. Is located at a point of landmark significance; and
iii. Is of the highest architectural standard; and
iv. Relates well to its surroundings, particularly at street level; and
v. Contributes positively to the London skyline as a whole consolidating a cluster within 
that skyline or providing key focus within views.

105. Taking each of these in turn:

Makes a positive contribution to the landscape; 
The main contribution the proposal would make to the public realm would be the 
courtyard which would be enclosed by the four wings of the building. Given the scale of 
the surrounding buildings it would have an intimate feel that would reflect the character 
of some of the 'yard' spaces that are a characteristic feature of historic development in 
the area. Generous and prominent passages into this space would allow routes into 
and through it. The retail workspace, restaurant and hotel lobby would help to draw 
people into the site to explore the courtyard, which would be a worthwhile addition to 
the public realm. It is noted that gates would be provided across the entrances to the 
courtyard which are required for management purposes. However, a planning 
obligation is recommended requiring the routes to remain open at all times.

106. Is located at a point of landmark significance;
The site is at a point of convergence of a number of primary routes. It also marks the 
point of transition or gateway between cluster of very tall buildings which is emerging at 
Elephant and Castle and the lower area of Borough/ Bankside. At 13 storeys the tower 
would be sufficiently tall to form a local landmark which would mark this transition and 
to mark this particular point within the street system. A landmark building of the scale 
proposed is therefore considered to be appropriate in this location.  

107. There would also be a raised terrace above the courtyard. Its raised position is such 
that it would be a destination rather than piece of public realm that can be enjoyed by 
anyone wandering through the space, which would somewhat reduce its effectiveness 

40



27

as a public space. The same applies to the proposed rooftop bar on top of the tower, 
although it is welcomed nevertheless. Policy 7.7 of the London Plan states that tall and 
large buildings should incorporate publically accessible areas on the upper floors, 
where appropriate.  A planning obligation is therefore recommended to allow members 
of the public to be able to access the bar and its terrace without having to be a guest at 
the hotel.

108. Is of the highest architectural standard 
The proposal is for townscape buildings which would define the street edges, although 
they would be considerably bigger than other buildings within the present townscape. 
Hotel buildings comprising many identical rooms need to be carefully designed in order 
to avoid appearing monotonous.  In this instance the different parts of the building 
would be treated with subtly different materials and detailing so as to form an 
assemblage of buildings rather than a single mass. In addition, the architectural 
concept follows the classical architectural precept of dividing the buildings that make up 
the site into a base (containing active retail and hotel frontages), a middle (containing 
most of the rooms) and variety of architectural treatments for the top. The facades 
would feature sophisticated setbacks and layering, together with immaculate detailing. 
The material to be used would mainly be brick, enlivened with a rich pallet of  
secondary materials for windows, shutters, balconies etc.

109. The proposed tower would appear a little bulky, but would incorporate architectural 
features to emphasis its corner on Borough High Street and to make it appear more 
elegant. Overall the richness of detailing and choice of style would give the 
development overtones of Art deco, but in a controlled modern manner. The quality of 
the architecture is considered to be very high, and would meet the policy requirement 
of being of the architectural standard. 

110. Relates well to its surroundings, particularly at street level
The proposal would repair the rather fragmented and incoherent townscape that 
constitutes the site at present, and replace this with coherent, well-designed, active 
street frontages. The proposed building would be set back from the ownership 
boundary along Borough High Street, increasing the existing pavement width from 
2.46m to 5.2m at its narrowest level, which is welcomed and would create an 
appropriate response to the street frontage.  The choice of façade materials has also 
been selected to respond sensitively to the character of the area. The main façade 
material of brick would incorporate contrasting brick tones intended to highlight some of 
the different 'buildings' which would make up the development. Active frontages would 
be provided onto both street frontages which does help the building relate 
sympathetically at street level. Overall the building is considered to meet this 
requirement.

111. Contributes positively to the London skyline as a whole consolidating a cluster within 
that skyline or providing key focus within views.
The tall building at the corner of the site would provide an appropriate focal point in 
local views. It would be visible along Borough High Street, Borough Road and 
Newington Causeway, and would frame the route north to Borough and to Elephant 
and Castle in the south. As a medium height tall building it would have an appropriate 
place in the hierarchy of tall buildings as they build up from this gateway site towards 
the centre of the Elephant and Castle area.

112. The eastern most part of the Southwark Plan proposal site which is being built out as 
the Trinity House scheme sits within the background assessment area of strategic view 
1A.2 (Alexandra Palace viewing terrace to St Paul’s Cathedral). However, the part of 

41



28

the site on which the new buildings are proposed does not sit within this strategic 
viewing corridor. The proposal would however, sit within a proposed viewing corridor 
which is being developed as part of the draft NSP.

113. The draft NSP proposes a new borough view, view 3 from Camberwell Green to St 
Paul’s Cathedral.  Concerns have been raised during public consultation on the 
application that the submission does not contain information relating to this proposed 
new view.

114. In order to address this concern additional information has subsequently been provided 
and the height of the tower reduced by one storey to ensure that the proposed view 
would be protected.  The reduction in height by 4.875m is such that the proposed 
tower, including any lift over-runs or other plant would sit below the proposed view 
threshold and this has been demonstrated through an addendum to the applicant’s 
Built Heritage, Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment.

115. To conclude, the proposal is considered to be of a high quality of design which would 
successfully repair the fragmented street frontage in this location. The tall building 
would comply with the policy tests set out in the saved Southwark Plan, and would 
protect the proposed borough view from Camberwell Green to St Paul’s Cathedral.

116. Comments of the Design Review Panel (DRP)
An earlier iteration of the scheme was presented to the DRP in March 2016, albeit for a 
residential-led scheme as opposed to a hotel. The layout of the proposed building set 
around a central courtyard was broadly the same as now proposed and the tallest part 
of the building was also 13-storeys, but it was higher than the building now proposed. 
The Panel were optimistic about the proposal and considered that there were many 
aspects of the design that they could support, including the tall building. However, they 
were concerned about the nature and aspect of the courtyard including two narrow 
access routes into it, the urban setting of the tower relative to its historic context, as 
well as the singular architectural expression of the block. The scheme has 
subsequently been amended to lower the height of the proposed tower, to increase the 
width of the route into the courtyard from Harper Road, to reduce the size and change 
the position of a lightwell within the courtyard, and to better distinguish the different 
parts of the building through its architectural design.

117. Heritage Assets
The site does not include any listed buildings and is not in a conservation area. 
However, the site is within the setting of the Trinity Church Square Conservation Area 
which is to the east and contains grade II listed buildings. The Inner London Crown 
Court is also grade II listed and is to the south of the site, on the opposite side of 
Harper Road.

118. The Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) Act 1990 imposes the duty on 
local planning authorities to have special regard to the desirability of preserving or 
enhancing a listed building and its setting or any features of special architectural or 
historic interest which it possesses. Further, special attention should be paid to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of conservation 
areas. This is also reflected in the NPPF and supporting National Planning Practice 
Guidance which  requires all development to conserve or enhance heritage assets and 
their setting and avoid causing harm. Designated heritage assets include Statutory 
listed buildings and designated conservation areas.

119. The Council's policies echo the requirements of the NPPF in respect of heritage 

42



29

Assets, and require all development to conserve or enhance the significance and 
settings of all heritage assets and avoid causing harm. Where there is harm to a 
heritage asset the NPPF requires the Council to ascertain the scale and degree of the 
harm caused, and to balance that against the public benefits arising as a consequence 
of the proposal.

120. Concerns have been made by neighbouring residents that the proposal would result in 
a detrimental impact on the setting of the nearby Trinity Church Square conservation 
area. Historic England has expressed disappointment that they felt that the proposed 
building would be higher than under the previous application (reference 16/AP/3174), 
and that their objection to the previous application on the basis that the proposed tower 
would cause unjustified harm to the roofline of Trinity Church Square is maintained. It is 
noted however, that the tower would have been 0.53m lower than for the earlier 
application and has been lowered again to sit below the threshold for the proposed 
borough view, although it would still be visible above the roofs of the Trinity Church 
Square houses.

121. Trinity Church Square is a formal square of listed Georgian townhouses enclosing the 
listed Holy Trinity Church (now the Henry Wood Hall). It is part of the Trinity Square 
Conservation Area and forms an unspoiled Georgian 'set piece' of listed buildings. Key 
aspects of the square are the uniformity of the architecture, the single focal point of the 
church and its tower at its centre, and the fact that the surrounding townscape (historic 
and modern) does not impinge to any great extent in views within the Square.

122. A Heritage, Townscape and Visual Impact Assessment (HTVIA) has been submitted in 
support of the application and seven views are considered within this document, two of 
which (views 2 and 7) are taken from within Trinity Church Square.  View 2 is an 
oblique view across the square where the top of the tower of the scheme can be seen 
rising above roof tops. It is partly obscured by trees within the square from this 
viewpoint.  View 7 is towards the corner of the square from its opposite corner. The top 
two storeys of the tower can be seen rising above the terrace of the corner as a squat 
but quite broad feature. It should be noted that both views were selected as ‘worst case 
scenarios’ from the extreme corners of the square and that the tower of the scheme 
would gradually disappear from view behind the buildings of the square as one walks 
towards the scheme and towards the centre of the square. 

123. A Heritage Statement submitted with the application states that the observer is aware 
of existing tall developments outside the square including the Shard and the cluster of 
tall buildings into foreground, to the north. There are also tall buildings at Elephant and 
Castle buildings to the south, although given its closer proximity to the square, the 
proposed tower would appear more obvious than the more distant tall buildings, 
particularly in relation to view 2. 

43



30

Fig 6. View from Trinity Church Square

124. In summary, by rising above the rooftops of the set piece of the listed Trinity Church 
Square and being visible from within the square, the tower will cause some harm to its 
setting.    

125. The NPPF requires the Local Planning Authority to consider whether harm is 
‘substantial’ or ‘less than substantial’. Case law has shown for harm to be substantial 
almost all of the significance of the heritage asset in question (in this case Trinity 
Church Square) has to have been lost.  This is clearly not the case here. In addition the 
harm is further reduced in that views of the tower from within the square will be 
relatively fleeting and will in at least one of the views be largely obscured by mature 
trees, even in winter. In addition, other tall buildings will also impinge upon the setting 
of the square. The harm to the setting of the square caused by this scheme is therefore 
very obviously ‘less than substantial’.   

126. Paragraph 196 of the NPPF requires heritage harm to be balanced against the public 
benefits arising from the development. However, case law has established the primacy 
of Section 66 of the Planning (Listed Buildings and Conservation Areas) which states 
that special regard shall be given to the desirability of preserving a listed building or its 
setting. It follows from this that the public benefit to be delivered by proposed 
development must be reasonably significant if it is to justify the less than substantial but 
still obvious harm to the listed buildings and conservation area.

127. The public benefits of the proposal are considered to be the provision of additional 
housing on the site including 50% affordable housing, the new public realm on the site, 
an increase in retail floor space, the repairing the fragmented street frontage, and a 
significant increase in the number of jobs at the site.  There are currently a number of 
small businesses on the site including the pharmacy, sandwich shop and the doctors’ 

44



31

surgery, and these support approximately 85 jobs.  The proposed development would 
result in 260 additional jobs at the site including 225 from the proposed hotel. In this 
instance it is considered that these benefits would help contribute to outweighing the 
less than substantial harm caused to the setting of the listed buildings and conservation 
area.

Landscaping and trees

128. Policy 7.5 of the London Plan ‘Public realm’ advises that London’s public spaces 
should be secure, accessible, inclusive, connected, easy to understand and maintain, 
relate to local context, and incorporate the highest quality design, landscaping, 
planting, street furniture and surfaces.  

129. An Arboricultural Impact Assessment report has been submitted with the application. 
There is one tree on the site (T4, a category C Norway Maple) and a street tree outside 
the site on Harper Road (T2, a category C London Plane). T2 would be retained and 
protected during construction (the plans have been amended to reflect this), and T4 
would be removed.  Five new trees would be planted on the site, along the boundary of 
the servicing yard with Trinity House.  No new trees would be planted along the Harper 
Road frontage and it is considered that there would be insufficient space to do so, 
which on balance is considered acceptable.

130. The overall layout of the site has the potential to provide attractive landscaped areas of 
the site for future residents as well as providing a publically accessible courtyard which 
are all considered positive. However, no significant details have been provided as to 
how these areas would be detailed throughout the site.

131. As such a condition requiring details of a landscaping plan and green / brown roofs 
including the courtyard and the various terraces within the proposed development has 
been included in the draft recommendation.

Outdoor amenity space, children’s play space and public open space

132. The proposal would provide 20 residential units which would all have access to private 
outdoor amenity space with a minimum of 3.6sqm, with a large communal area of 
93sqm proposed at first floor level. An area of children’s play space has also been 
proposed at first floor level which would be 46sqm in order to cater for under 5 
children’s play provision. It was originally proposed that the majority of the first floor 
amenity area would be for children’s play space, however this was subsequently 
revised as it was felt that a greater balance would be to provide a more generous and 
useable communal amenity space for the overall residents in order to ensure that a 
greater balance for the overall end occupiers would be met. Play provision for older 
children (6-17) would be provided by way of a payment in lieu towards improving a 
nearby facility. Given the locality and site constraints of the play space at first floor level 
and surrounded by residential units, it is considered that this is an appropriate mix for 
the amenity space.

133. A publically accessible square would also be created as part of the development which 
would provide an area for seating with alfresco café seating opening out into the 
square. It is proposed to enter a clause into the agreement to ensure that the public 
square is accessible for 24 hours a day to local residents and for further landscaping 
features of this area to be provided by condition. 

45



32

Transport issues

134. The site has a public transport accessibility level (PTAL) of 6B (excellent) and is 
located approximately 300m to the south of Borough High Street Underground Station.
Four wheelchair accessible parking spaces would be provided, all of which would be 
accessed from Harper Road.

135. Strategic policy 2 of the Core Strategy ‘Sustainable transport’ advises that the Council 
will encourage walking, cycling and the use of public transport rather than travel by car.  
Saved policy Saved policy 5.1 of the Southwark Plan seeks to ensure that development 
is located near transport nodes, and saved policy 5.2 of the Southwark Plan seeks to 
ensure that developments do not result in adverse highway conditions; saved policy 5.3 
requires that the needs of pedestrians and cyclists to be considered and saved policy 
5.6 establishes maximum parking standards.  

136. This proposed development is in an area with excellent (6 – high) public transport 
accessibility level, within short walking distances of Borough tube station/Elephant & 
Castle train/tube station and lies next to the busy bus routes on Borough High Street. 

137. Vehicular Movements
Concerning the vehicle movements ensuing from this development proposal, the 
applicant’s consultants have estimated that it would generate some 10 two-way vehicle 
movements in the morning or evening peak hours. Officers have assessed this against 
comparable sites’ travel surveys within TRICS travel database has revealed that the 
hotel aspect of this development would generate 46 and 33 two-way vehicle 
movements in the morning and evening peak hours respectively, while its 
residential/office/shop/café/medical segments would create 17 and 18 two-way vehicle 
movements in the morning and evening peak hours, correspondingly. Overall, this 
development would produce 63 and 51 two-way vehicle movements in the morning or 
evening peak hours. It is also projected that the existing business use of this site would 
have generated 23 and 21 two-way vehicle movements in the morning and evening 
peak hours in that same order, meaning that this development proposal would create 
40 and 30 additional two-way vehicle movements in the morning and evening peak 
hours, separately.

138. Although our net forecasted supplementary two-way vehicle movements for the 
morning and evening peak hour are higher than those predicted by the applicant’s 
consultants, we have considered that these levels of vehicle movements would not 
have any noticeable adverse impact on the prevailing vehicle traffic on the adjoining 
roads. In any event, the applicant has proposed travel plan initiatives encompassing 
provision of public transport information plus monitoring.

139. The applicant’s consultants have also estimated that this proposed development would 
create some additional 209 and 196 two-way public transport trips in the morning and 
evening peaks hours correspondingly and 50 two-way service vehicle trips per day, 
figures which are deemed reasonable. We have also predicted that the hotel aspect of 
this development would generate some 87 two-way taxi movements per day of which a 
maximum of 9 two-way taxi movements at its peak demand hours from 13:00hrs to 
14:00hrs. This is considered acceptable as there is sufficient capacity with a dedicated 
servicing bay and two dedicated taxi bays to the front of the hotel along Harper Road. 

140. Access and servicing arrangements
Servicing for the proposed development would take place in a servicing access at the 
rear of the site which would be accessed from Harper Road.  There is currently a 

46



33

vehicular access onto the site from Harper Road, located at the boundary with the 
Trinity House development, and this would be turned back into footway and a new 
access would be provided approximately 5m closer to Borough High Street.  Servicing 
would be from light goods (3.5 tonnes) and medium goods (7.5 tonnes) vehicles. A 
refuse bin store would also be provided next to this vehicle access and the highway on 
Harper Road. The applicant’s consultants have carried out vehicle swept path analysis 
which confirms that the car parking/servicing areas of this site would have ample 
vehicle manoeuvring space that would ensure that vehicles accessing and exiting this 
site including refuse/similar size servicing vehicles would do so in a forward gear. A 
Transport Assessment (TA) submitted with the application advises that servicing 
vehicles would also be able to load and unload within parking bays for a maximum of 
20 minutes and from single yellow lines for a maximum of 40 minutes if required as a 
result of the servicing bay being in use This is considered an acceptable fall back 
option in this scenario. 

141. A Service Yard Manager would oversee servicing to the site and suppliers would be 
given a two hour delivery window. This servicing arrangement is considered 
acceptable, however further details are required and a condition for a delivery and 
servicing management plan is recommended, which should also stipulate that no 
vehicles larger than 7.5 tonnes would be permitted to service the site.

142. Pedestrian and Cycle Movements
The footways adjoining this site on Harper Road and Borough High Street are wide and 
connect northerly and southerly to Borough tube and Elephant & Castle train/tube 
stations respectively. These footways also lead northerly to the riverside walk near 
London Bridge and southerly to the pedestrian routes running through the neighbouring 
Newington Gardens and Dickens Square Park. This footway also links with the bus 
stops on the adjacent Borough High Street. There are signalised crossings beside this 
site on the four arms of the adjacent Borough High Street/Harper Road junction, plus a 
few sets of speed humps on the stretch of Harper Road next to this site, one of which 
could be converted into raised pedestrian crossings to perform a dual purpose of 
slowing vehicles down and at the same time assisting pedestrians in crossing this road 
safely.

143. There are bus lanes on both sides of this section of Borough High Street which cyclists 
can use and the 20mph on Harper Road would assist pedestrians and cyclists. The 
applicant has proposed gated pedestrian/cyclist accesses on Harper Road and 
Borough High Street connecting to each other via a this site’s courtyard and, the 
creation of a new vehicle access which would be positioned at a spot immediately north 
of the existing one on Harper Road, leading to the car parking/loading bay/vehicle 
turning areas and a lift access to the basement level on the ground floor. A refuse bin 
store would also be provided next to this vehicle access and the highway on Harper 
Road.

144. However, the Harper Road/Borough High Street junction has limited facility for cyclists. 
In order to improve highway safety for cyclists, it is recommended that the applicant 
contributes to modification of Harper Road/Borough High Street junction to include 
advance stopping line (ASL) and improved cycle route on Borough High Street for 
cyclists. This is recommended to be included within the legal agreement. 

145. Car Parking
Newington CPZ provides adequate parking control in this vicinity weekdays from 
0830hrs to 1830hrs. The applicant has proposed 4 disabled car parking spaces as 
shown on Plan No. 17027_ 07_100/P3, and this is deemed satisfactory. All other 

47



34

occupiers would be exempt from applying for parking permits, other than Blue badge 
disabled users.

146. Cycle Parking
There is a cycle docking station opposite this site on Harper Road plus on-street cycle 
racks on the pedestrian environment facing it on Borough High Street. The applicant 
has proposed 148 cycle parking spaces with 48 in the basement and 35 cycle racks 
containing 70 cycle parking spaces on the ground floor for visitors. This cycle parking 
level is significantly higher than the required 96 cycle parking spaces, as stated in the 
London plan which is considered to be a positive element to the scheme. 

147. Construction Management
The applicants have submitted a construction management plan, however this would 
need to be revised to include the following:

- Agreeing crane installation method with the Council, 
- Siting noisy equipment away from residential boundaries, 
- Restricting deliveries during the school arrival/departure times (0800hrs-

0900hrs and 1500hrs-1600hrs), 
- An undertaking to sweep the adjoining highway daily,
- A map highlighting routeing of construction vehicles, 
- Penalties relating to turning away delivery vehicles not complying with 

scheduled delivery times and banning construction vehicles not adhering to the 
agreed routing of vehicles, 

- Consolidation of deliveries, 
- Vehicle swept path analysis, 
- Confirmation of whether or not any of the adjacent parking bays would be 

suspended at any stage of the relevant building works
- Site layout plans for each phase of the development showing loading area, 

operators’ parking spaces, and location of wheel washing facilities, vehicle 
entrance arrangement and on-site routeing of traffic.

 It is considered sufficient to require the submission of this through a pre-
commencement condition. 

Impact of proposed development on amenity of adjoining occupiers and 
surrounding area

Daylight
148. A daylight and sunlight report based on the BRE guidance has been provided, and the 

following tests have been undertaken:

149. Vertical Sky Component (VSC) is the amount of skylight reaching a window expressed 
as a percentage. The guidance recommends that the windows of neighbouring 
properties achieve a VSC of at least 27%, and notes that if the VSC is reduced to no 
less than 0.8 times its former value (i.e. 20% reduction) following the construction of a 
development, then the reduction will not be noticeable.

150. No-Sky Line (NSL) is the area of a room at desk height that can see the sky. The 
guidance suggests that the NSL should not be reduced to less than 0.8 times its former 
value (i.e. no more than a 20% reduction). This is also known as daylight distribution, 
and where windows do not pass the VSC test the NSL test can be used.

151. Average Daylight Factor measures the average amount of daylight received within a 
internal room when compared to an unobstructed level of light outside a building.

48



35

152. The Ship Public House - 68 Borough High Street: - The VSC results shows that for the 
6 windows assessed, the ratio reduction values of these windows would range between 
0.64 to 0.69, which would be below the BRE guidelines. However, when one looks at 
light within the affected rooms, these windows serve two large, open plan rooms which 
would adhere to the BRE guidelines daylight distribution criteria, at 0.83 and 0.8 times 
their former value. As such no noticeable impact would be experienced on this 
property.

153. David Bomberg House (282 to 304 Borough High Street): - This building contains 
student accommodation for part of the ground floor and then fully at first floor level and 
above. The remainder of the ground floor which is not student accommodation, is 
commercial. The VSC results show that 99 windows were assessed from the ground up 
to the sixth floor. Out of the 99 windows assessed, 72 windows adhere to the BRE 
guidelines, either achieving over 27% VSC or having a reduction to no less than 0.8 
times their former values. The remaining windows have factor of former values ranging 
between 0.59 and 0.79 and as such these windows would fail to meet the light levels as 
required by the VSC test. However, notwithstanding this, the actual VSC values would 
actually still retain relatively high levels of light as no room would receive less than 17% 
VSC which in a dense urban environment such as this, is actually a good level of 
access to daylight.

154. The applicants have also undertaken a daylight distribution analysis to look at the 
impacts on the level of light received within each individual room which notes that of the 
99 rooms were assessed, 83 rooms adhere to the BRE guidelines. The remaining 
rooms have former factor values ranging between 0.42 and 0.78. Of the windows 
affected, they would all relate to bedroom areas which are rooms predominantly used 
for sleeping. Whilst it is noted that these are student rooms and as such would have an 
element of study area, as noted above the actual values of light received within these 
rooms are still relatively high, particularly for a central London location such as this and 
as such the impacts on these properties is considered acceptable.

155. 2 –20 Trinity Street:
2–20 Trinity Street are terraced properties located to the north-east of the site, 
separated from the site by Southwark Police Station. All of the windows and rooms 
tested will meet or exceed the BRE guidelines for both the VSC and daylight 
distribution tests and as such there would not be any noticeable impacts on any of 
these properties.

156. Trinity House:
Trinity House is a consented residential development to the east of the site, currently 
under construction and as such none of these units are yet occupied. The applicants 
have undertaken a VSC analysis of these properties, however as the dwellings are not 
yet completed or occupied, they have also completed an Average Daylight Factor test 
in conjunction with the developers of the adjacent site. 

157. The VSC analysis does demonstrate that there would be a significant impact on the 
windows of the adjacent development which directly face the application site. The 
results show that 44 of 118 windows tested would not meet the requirements of the 
BRE standards, however as the floor plan layouts are known and that the internal 
finishes are known they have assessed the new dwellings against the required Average 
Daylight Factors of the adjacent rooms within new developments.

158. In total, 43 rooms were tested at Trinity House for ADF, of which 37 rooms adhere to 

49



36

the BRE guidelines. The remaining six rooms consist of one bedroom (0.8% ADF) two 
living rooms, (1.48% and 1.4% ADF) and three LKDs (0.89%, 1.07% and 1.26% ADF) 
The two living rooms that fall just below the 1.5% ADF target and the three LKDs are 
located below balconies, such that they are hampered by their own design.

159. The BRE guidelines suggest in situations where neighbouring properties are affected 
by their own balconies, that it may be appropriate to test both with and without 
balconies scenario, so that the impacts of the proposed development are properly 
understood. With this in mind, we removed the balconies for the three LKDs which fell 
below the BRE guidelines. When we did this, two out of the three LKDs exceed the 2% 
target with ADF levels with 2.05% and 2.3%. The remaining LKD has an ADF of 1.8% 
which exceeds the 1.5% target for living rooms showing the living area would receive 
good daylighting if it were not for the overhanging balcony. On balance, whilst this room 
does fall below the ADF requirement for LKD’s it is considered acceptable.

160. The assessment results for the planning application now show that 86% of the Trinity 
House rooms adhere to the BRE guidelines in terms of ADF results and as such it is 
considered that the impacts would not be significant enough to warrant refusal of the 
application. 

161. 7-20 Gloucester Court:
These properties are located to the west of the development site and again all of the 
windows would pass the VSC and daylight distributions tests and as such it is not 
considered that there would be a noticeable impact on daylight on these properties.

162. 4-6 Borough Square:
These properties are located to the east of the development site. All of the windows 
and rooms tested at 4 and 5 Borough Square meet the BRE guidelines for both the 
VSC and daylight distribution tests.

163. With regard to 6 borough Square, all of the windows tested meet the BRE guidelines 
for VSC, exceeding the 0.8 times factor of former value target. Out of the four rooms 
tested for daylight distribution, two meet the BRE guidelines, the remaining rooms have 
between 0.75 and 0.79 factors of former value which only moderately fall below the 
BRE guidance requirements. However, given that the individual windows would meet 
the required VSC levels, it is not considered that there would be a noticeable impact on 
daylight within this property. 

164. Sunlight:
This is measured by the Annual Probable Sunlight Hours (APSH) test. This should be 
considered for all windows facing within 90 degrees of due south (windows outside of 
this orientation do not receive direct sunlight in the UK). The guidance advises that 
windows should receive at least 25% APSH, with 5% of this total being enjoyed during 
the winter months. If a window receives less than 25% of the APSH or less than 5% of 
the APSH during winter, and is reduced to less than 0.8 times its former value during 
either period and has a reduction in sunlight received over the whole year of greater 
than 4%, then sunlight to the building may be adversely affected.

165. The Ship Public House - 68 Borough High Street:
All of the windows tested for sunlight adhere to the BRE guidelines for annual sunlight 
and sunlight in winter months.

166. David Bomberg House (282 to 304 Borough High Street):
All of the windows tested for sunlight adhere to the BRE guidelines for annual sunlight 

50



37

and sunlight in winter months.

167. 2 – 20 Trinity Street
All of the windows tested for sunlight adhere to the BRE guidelines for annual sunlight 
and sunlight in winter months.

168. 4-6 Borough Square
All of the windows tested for sunlight adhere to the BRE guidelines for annual sunlight 
and sunlight in winter months.

Overlooking

169. The residential windows facing south across Harper Road would have views towards 
the Crown Court, with a separation distance of 21m.  This would be sufficient to 
maintain privacy based on the council’s residential design standards SPD, which 
recommends 12m where buildings face each other, including across a highway. The 
proposed residential units which would face onto the courtyard would be 19m from 
hotel windows on the opposite side of the courtyard and 18m from windows at the rear 
of new dwellings being developed on the Trinity House scheme. These distances would 
be below the 21m recommended in the Residential Design Standards SPD, but not 
significantly so and as the windows are staggered, this would generally avoid windows 
directly facing one another. As such, it is considered that an acceptable level of privacy 
would be provided.

170. The residential units facing onto Harper Road would have a close relationship with 
hotel bedrooms at the rear of the building. A condition is therefore recommended 
requiring the hotel rooms closest to these units to have obscure glazed windows up to 
a height of 1.8m within the room, and top opening only.

171. Impact of the proposed uses
There are currently retail, office and community uses on the site and the provision of 
these uses within the proposed development would not result in any loss of amenity, 
nor would the use of part of the building as flats. The main change compared to the 
existing situation is the provision of a large hotel on the site which would need to be 
well managed; this is considered below in the noise and vibration section of this report.

Noise and vibration

172. A Noise Assessment has been submitted with the application which considers whether 
noise and vibration levels within the completed development would be suitable for the 
proposed uses, and whether noise and vibration arising from the proposed 
development would cause a loss of amenity to neighbouring occupiers.

173. Concerns have been raised by the developers for the Trinity House development that 
servicing activities associated with the proposed hotel would result noise and 
disturbance and an unacceptable loss of amenity to flats which are currently being 
constructed on this adjoining site. It is recommended that a servicing management plan 
is submitted which would set out timings for deliveries to be undertaken within and 
would thus ensure that any servicing would be undertaken at less sensitive hours. The 
Metropolitan Police has also objected in relation to the adjoining police station. The first 
objections received from the police requested s106 contributions which is no longer 
being pursued, but the police have subsequently requested that if permission is 
granted, an s106 agreement should prevent any noisy construction or demolition work 
from taking place at the site between up until April 2020.  This is because of sensitive 

51



38

uses which are taking place at the police station, the nature of which has not been 
disclosed for security reasons.

174. The Noise Assessment report sets out internal noise levels which would be achieved 
within the residential accommodation and hotel rooms, and the Council’s 
Environmental Protection Team (EPT) has confirmed that these would be acceptable; a 
condition to secure these levels is recommended, together with a condition to limit plant 
noise from the proposed development. The report also confirms that vibration levels 
would fall within acceptable limits.

Energy and sustainability

175. Policy 5.2 of the London Plan requires major developments to provide an assessment 
of their energy demands and to demonstrate that they have taken steps to apply the 
Mayor's energy hierarchy. It states that where it is clearly demonstrated that the 
specific targets cannot be fully achieved on-site, any shortfall may be provided off-site 
or through a cash in lieu contribution to the relevant borough to be ring fenced to 
secure delivery of carbon dioxide savings elsewhere. Policies 5.5 and 5.6 require 
consideration of decentralised energy networks and policy 5.7 requires the use of 
onsite renewable technologies, where feasible. Of note is that residential buildings 
must now be carbon zero, and non-domestic buildings must comply with the Building 
Regulations in terms of their carbon dioxide emissions.

176. The applicant has submitted a sustainability and energy assessment in support of the 
application, based on the Mayor’s energy hierarchy.  

177. Be lean – The use of measures such as high performance glazing and insulation and 
high efficiency LED lighting would result for the residential dwellings the “Be Lean” 
measures result in approximately 1.23% improvement and for the hotel use would 
result in saving of 6.29% improvement when compared to the requirements of Building 
Regulations Approved Document Part L1A 2013.

178. Be clean –  The development would be served by a communal heating system with 
combined heat and power technology for the hotel which would result in a 29.89% 
reduction in carbon dioxide emissions compared to a scheme compliant with the 
Building Regulations. The CHP would also provide a saving of 10.03% for the 
residential element.

179. Be green – Photovoltaic panels are proposed to provide electricity, which would result 
in a further reduction in carbon dioxide emissions compared to a scheme compliant 
with the Building Regulations of 28.87% for the residential element and 0.45% for the 
commercial element. 

180. A combination of the above measures would deliver a 36.79% reduction in co2 
emissions across the entire development. A 35% reduction is required for the 
commercial space (36.63% would be achieved), and carbon zero is required for the 
residential units (a 40.13% reduction would be achieved). The proposal would therefore 
fall short of the policy requirement in respect of the residential accommodation as it 
would not be carbon neutral. A contribution of £29,930 towards the Council’s carbon 
off-set fund would therefore be required and terms to secure this have been included in 
the draft s106 agreement.

181. The GLA has reviewed the application including additional sustainability information 
requested by them, and is satisfied with the proposed energy strategy.

52



39

182. Strategic policy 13 of the Core Strategy 'High environmental standards' requires 
developments to meet the highest possible environmental standards, and sets the 
following targets relevant to the application

183. Community facilities should include at least BREEAM 'very good'; All other non-
residential development should achieve at least BREEAM 'excellent'; Major 
development must achieve a reduction in carbon dioxide of 20% from using on-site or 
local low and zero carbon sources of energy.

184. The submission advises that a design stage BREEAM review showed the development 
achieving BREEAM ‘very good’, but that there is the potential to increase this to 
‘excellent’ through the fit of the hotel. A condition requiring BREEAM ‘very good’ for the 
D class floor space and ‘excellent’ for the remainder of the commercial space has been 
included in the draft recommendation.

185. Overheating assessment
This has been undertaken to evaluate the risk of overheating during the summer 
months. The findings are contained in the energy strategy, and no overheating risk has 
been identified.

186. Sustainability Assessment
Saved policy 3.3 of the Southwark Plan advises that planning permission will not be 
granted for major development unless the applicant demonstrates that the economic, 
environmental and social impacts of the proposal have been addressed through a 
sustainability assessment. The Council’s sustainability assessment checklist has been 
completed and forms part of the sustainability and energy assessment submitted with 
the application.

187. It is estimated that the completed development would create an increase of 260 jobs 
over the existing situation. The proposal would provide additional homes including new 
affordable housing units in the social rented tenure, and would incorporate 
sustainability measures including CHP and photovoltaic panels. As such officers are 
satisfied that the requirements of this policy are achieved through this application. 

Ecology and biodiversity

188. Policy 7.19 of the London Plan ‘Biodiversity and access to nature’ requires 
development proposals to make a positive contribution to the protection, enhancement, 
creation and management of biodiversity wherever possible. Saved policy 3.28 of the 
Southwark Plan states that the Local Planning Authority will take biodiversity into 
account in its determination of all planning applications and will encourage the inclusion 
in developments of features which enhance biodiversity, and will require an ecological 
assessment where relevant. A preliminary ecological appraisal and bat roost inspection 
have been submitted in support of the application.

189. A habitat survey has been undertaken, together with an inspection of existing buildings 
and trees for bats and their potential to support roosting bats. The original assessments 
were carried out in 2016, and the application includes an update report dated February 
2018 which concludes that the findings of the earlier surveys remain unchanged.

190. The site is not subject to any statutory or non-statutory designations related to 
biodiversity, and the site was not found to support any protected plant species. No 
evidence of bats were found in any of the trees or buildings surveyed.

53



40

191. The application has been reviewed by the Council’s Ecology Officer who has advised 
that the surveys are acceptable, and no further survey work is required. Conditions are 
recommended to secure a biodiverse roof beneath the photovoltaic panels, and 
requiring house sparrow bricks to be incorporated into the development.

Air quality

192. The site sits within an air quality management area. Policy 7.14 of the London Plan 
'Improving Air Quality' seeks to minimise the impact of development on air quality, and 
sets a number of requirements including minimising exposure to existing poor air 
quality, reducing emissions from the demolition and construction of buildings, being at 
least 'air quality neutral', and not leading to a deterioration in air quality. Objection have 
been received from neighbouring residents in relation to air pollution.

193. An Air Quality Assessment has been submitted with the application which advises that 
the site is suitable for the proposed uses in relation to air quality, and although there 
could be dust arising from demolition and construction activities, mitigation measures 
could be secured through a construction management plan. There would be no 
significant air quality impacts arising from the operation of the proposed development, 
including from transport emissions, and the development would be air quality neutral.

194. The Air Quality Assessment has been reviewed by EPT and is found to be acceptable, 
subject to conditions for a construction management plan and details of the operator, 
maintenance and management for the CHP plant which have been included in the draft 
recommendation.

Ground conditions and contamination

195. Policy 5.21 of the London Plan advises that appropriate measures should be taken to 
ensure that development on previously contaminated land does not activate or spread 
contamination. A land contamination assessment has been submitted with the 
application. It has been reviewed by EPT who outline that a single storey basement 
occupies the foot print of the land. In addition, the testing carried out did not identify any 
elevated concentration of substances that would require remediation. As such it is not 
considered that any significant contamination concerns are raised as a result. A 
condition will nonetheless be added outlining that if any contamination is found during 
construction then a remediation strategy would be required to be submitted and 
discharged. 

Water resources and flood risk

196. Policy 5.13 of the London Plan advises that development should utilise sustainable 
urban drainage systems (SUDS) unless there are practical reasons for not doing so, 
and should aim to achieve greenfield run-off rates and ensure that surface water runoff 
is managed as close to its source as possible. Strategic policy 13 of the Core Strategy 
sets a target that major development should reduce surface water run-off by more than 
50%.

197. The site is located in flood zone 3 which is identified as having a high risk of flooding. 
Paragraph 100 of the NPPF advises that inappropriate development in areas at risk of 
flooding should be avoided by directing development away from areas at highest risk, 
but where development is necessary, making it safe without increasing flood risk 
elsewhere. However, the council's Strategic Flood Risk Assessment acknowledges that 

54



41

development within flood zone 3 is required, and is allowed with the application of the 
Exception Test set out the NPPF.

198. For the Exception Test to be passed it must be demonstrated that the development 
provides wider sustainability benefits to the community that outweigh flood risk, and 
that a site-specific flood risk assessment must demonstrate that no adverse impacts 
would occur.

199. The site is located on previously developed land and there are strong sustainability 
reasons why it should be redeveloped. It is noted that the site is a proposal site in the 
saved Southwark Plan and part of the site is in an opportunity area where significant 
new development is supported in principle. The development of brownfield sites such 
as this will be necessary if accommodation is to be provided to meet the needs of the 
area. The site has excellent access to public transport, and the proposed design is 
capable of providing good quality housing and a hotel, with less vulnerable commercial 
space at ground floor level and within a basement.  

200. A Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) and Basement Impact Assessment have been 
submitted in support of the application. The Environment Agency (EA) initially objected 
to the application and requested a revised FRA which has subsequently been 
submitted.  The EA no longer objects to the application on flood risk grounds and has 
recommended a number of conditions.

201. The Basement Impact Assessment has been reviewed by the Council’s Flood and 
Drainage Team which has advised that conditions for a flood resilience measures and 
a sustainable drainage strategy should be submitted. 

Archaeology

202. Policy 7.8 of the London Plan advises that new development should make provision for 
the protection of archaeological resources, landscapes and significant memorials. The 
physical assets should, where possible, be made available to the public on-site. Where 
the archaeological asset or memorial cannot be preserved or managed on-site, 
provision must be made for the investigation, understanding, recording, dissemination 
and archiving of that asset. Saved policy 3.19 of the Southwark Plan is also relevant, 
which sets out the council’s approach to protecting and preserving archaeology within 
the borough.

203. The site is located within the Borough, Bermondsey and Rivers Archaeological Priority 
Area. The site has the potential to contain important archaeological deposits relating to 
prehistoric and Roman archaeology, including high status Roman burials and funerary 
deposits.

204. A Historic Environment Assessment report has been submitted in support of the 
application.  Given that a Roman Sarcophagus was found on the adjoining Trinity 
House site excavation works on the application site have been carried out during the 
course of the application and additional information submitted.  Having reviewed this 
additional information, a number of archaeological conditions have been included in the 
draft recommendation. An Archaeological monitoring fee is also recommended and this 
is recommended to be included within the legal agreement.

Wind microclimate

205. The application is accompanied by a wind microclimate report which provides a review 

55



42

of the pedestrian level wind microclimate environment which would arise as a result of 
the proposed development.  

206. The report advises that wind conditions on the ground would generally be suitable in 
terms of pedestrian comfort and safety, but identifies the potential for some adverse 
impacts near the base of the tower, on the façade which would front Borough High 
Street. The report therefore recommends mitigation measures around the building 
entrance at this corner, potentially in the form of a canopy or screening around the 
entrance, and a condition to secure this has been included in the draft 
recommendation.

Health impact assessment

207. The proposal would result in the loss of GP doctors facility on site, the existing facility 
has two GPs operating within it, however as noted previously within the report, the 
doctors currently employed within this site have outlined that prior to commencement of 
the redevelopment of the 'King’s Place’ site, the two GP’s located at Borough Medical 
Centre intend to merge with and co-locate to another local NHS GP Practice at their 
nearby premises.

208. As such, the potential adverse impact on local residents that may have occurred if the 
medical centre had been lost from the local area therefore appears to have been 
negated by the fact that it will be relocating in order to co-locate with another local GP 
Practice. 

209. In terms of wider impacts as a result of the proposed development, the scheme would 
promote sustainable transport modes helping to improve the cycle and walking facilities 
within the area. It would thus help reduce the reliance on vehicular traffic and promote 
healthy modes of transport. Overall it is not considered that there would be any 
significant impact 

Planning obligations (S.106 undertaking or agreement)

210.
Planning obligation Mitigation Applicant’s 

position

Local Economy and Workspace 

Local economy: 
Construction phase 
jobs/ contributions

This development would be expected to 
deliver 40 sustained jobs to unemployed 
Southwark residents, 40 short courses, and 
take on 10 construction industry apprentices 
during the construction phase, or meet the 
Employment and Training Contribution.

The maximum Employment and Training 
Contribution is £193,000 (£172,000 against 
sustained jobs, £6,000 against short 
courses, and £15,000 against construction 

Agreed

56



43

industry apprenticeships).

Local economy: 
Construction phase 
employment, skills 
and business support 
plan

An employment, skills and business support 
plan should be included in the S106 
obligations. LET would expect this plan to 
include:

1. Methodology for delivering the following:

a. Identified ‘construction workplace 
coordinator’ role(s) responsible for on-site 
job brokerage through the supply chain and 
coordination with local skills and 
employment agencies;

b. Pre-employment information advice and 
guidance;

c. Skills development, pre and post-
employment;

d. Flexible financial support for training, 
personal protective equipment, travel costs 
etc;

e. On-going support in the workplace;

f. Facilitation of wider benefits, including 
schools engagement, work experience etc.

2. Targets for construction skills and 
employment outputs, including 
apprenticeships, that meet the expected 
obligations;

3. A mechanism for delivery of 
apprenticeships to be offered in the 
construction of the development;

4. Local supply chain activity - we would 
expect methodologies with KPIs agreed to:

a. provide support to local SMEs to be fit to 
compete for supply chain opportunities;

b. develop links between lead contractors, 
sub-contractors and local SMEs;

c. work with lead contractors and sub-
contractors to open up their supply chains, 

Agreed

57



44

and exploration as to where contract 
packages can be broken up and promote 
suitable opportunities locally.

End use of the 
development jobs / 
requirements

The number of sustained jobs for 
unemployed Southwark residents expected 
to be delivered at the end phase, and the 
Employment in the End Use Shortfall 
Contribution, are dependent on the final mix 
of classes of the flexible use space.

The expected number of sustained jobs at 
the end phase is between 54, if the flexible 
use space is 100% D1 Use Class, and 57 if 
the flexible use space is 100% B1 Use 
Class.

Of the total number of sustained jobs 
expected to be delivered at the end phase, 
33 sustained jobs would be expected to be 
provided at the proposed hotel. This is 
calculated using the density figure for 
‘upscale’ hotels (C1) as per the employment 
density guide, based on the applicant’s 
description of the proposed hotel as ‘high 
quality’ in the Design and Access statement. 
The remainder of sustained jobs would be 
expected to be delivered in the retail use of 
the development (Class A1-A3).

The maximum Employment in the End Use 
Shortfall Contribution is between £232,200, 
if the flexible use space is 100% D1 Use 
Class, and £245,100 if the flexible use 
space is 100% B1 Use Class (based on 
£4,300 per job).

No later than six months prior to first 
occupation of the development, we would 
expect the developer to provide a skills and 
employment plan to the Council. This plan 
should identify suitable sustainable 
employment opportunities and 
apprenticeships for unemployed borough 
residents in the end use of the 
development.

LET would expect this plan to include:

Agreed

58



45

1. a detailed mechanism through which the 
Sustainable Employment Opportunities and 
apprenticeships will be filled, including, but 
not limited to, the name of the lead 
organisation, details of its qualifications and 
experience in providing employment support 
and job brokerage for unemployed people, 
and the name of the point of contact who 
will co-ordinate implementation of the skills 
and employment plan and liaise with the 
Council;

2. key milestones to be achieved and 
profiles for filling the sustainable 
employment opportunities and 
apprenticeships;

3. Identified skills and training gaps required 
to gain sustained Employment in the 
completed development, including the need 
for pre-employment training;

4. Methods to encourage applications from 
suitable unemployed Borough residents by 
liaising with the local Jobcentre Plus and 
employment service providers.

Affordable workspace 
provision

Artists & Small Business Workshops (Class 
B1) at no more than 75% of local market 
rent – 143sqm at basement level.
Flexible Co-Working & Shared Workspace 
(Class B1) at no more than 75% of local 
market rate – 532sqm (GIA) at basement 
level.
SME Incubator Units at no more than 75% 
of local market rate (Class B1) – 522sqm 
(GIA) at basement mezzanine level.
Multifunctional Community Events Space 
(Class B1/D1) (available for hire free of 
charge to registered local community 
groups) – 446sqm (GIA) at basement level.

Agreed

Commercial units 
management plan

An Operational Management Plan to set out 
how the above spaces will be let and grants 
awarded.

Agreed

Housing, Viability and Amenity Space

Affordable (social rent 
and intermediate) 

Secure 10 x units as affordable housing as 
follows: 

Agreed

59



46

housing
Provision

Social Rented: units 01.01, 01.02, 01.03, 
01.04, 02.01, 02.02, 02.03, 02.04.
Intermediate: units 03.03, 03.04

Wheelchair housing 
provision

Secure four wheelchair units 01.03, 02.03, 
03.03, 04.03.

Agreed

Playspace £12,125.30 provision for 6-18 year olds Agreed

Public open space Secure the public square as 24 hour 
access.

Transport and Highways 

Highway works To secure the proposed square as publically 
accessible in perpetuity. Further details 
would be needed in relation to landscaping 
but this would be secured through condition. 

S278 agreement to complete the following 
works:

The footways fronting the development on 
Borough High Street and Harper Road 
should be repaved with silver grey granite 
natural stone and 300mm wide silver grey 
granite kerbs as per SSDM requirements.

The relocated vehicular access from Harper 
Road should be constructed to current 
SSDM standard for a frequently used 
commercial access.

Reduce proposed 3 bay taxi rank to 2 bays 
and provide a car club bay. Submit a 
scheme to outline the location of these bays 
as they need to be moved towards Borough 
High Street as it currently encroaches into 
the visibility splay for the access into the 
development.

All existing trees within the highway areas 
must have tree pit edging installed flush with 
the surrounding pavement.

Promote a TRO to legalise the proposed 
taxi rank and revoke some existing parking 
bays will be required.

Check with LBS Street Lighting to see if 
street lighting needs to be amended due to 

60



47

the highway layout changes.

Re-configuration of Harper Road/Borough 
High Street junction to include advance 
stopping line (ASL) and extension of the 
existing cycle route on Harper Road and 
enlargement of the cycle route on Borough 
Road to join with new ASL.

Car club scheme 3 years Car Club contribution. Agreed

Restriction on the 
release of the 
wheelchair parking 
spaces

Provision of 4 spaces split equally between 
the private and affordable units

Agreed

Parking permit 
restriction 

All permits with the exception of blue badge 
holders.

Agreed. 

Energy, Sustainability and the Environment 

Connection to (or 
futureproofing for 
connection to) district 
CHP

Clause to be included to connect into the 
CHP network. 

Agreed

Carbon offset fund £29,930 Agreed

Precautionary tree 
loss offset

N/A.

Archaeology 
monitoring/ 
supervision fund

£11,171 monitoring fee Agreed

Administration fee Payment to cover the costs of monitoring 
these necessary planning obligations 
calculated as 2% of total sum.

Agreed

211. However, if in the event that the legal agreement is not completed by 30/01/2020, that 
the Director of Planning be directed to refuse planning permission on the following 
grounds: 

In the absence of a signed legal agreement, the proposal would fail to provide suitable 
mitigation in terms of planning gain, contrary to saved policies 2.5 (Planning 
Obligations) and 4.4 of the Southwark Plan, policies SP6 (Homes for people on 

61



48

different incomes) and SP14 (Implementation and Delivery) of the LB Southwark Core 
Strategy 2011 policies 3.11 (Affordable Housing Targets) and 8.2 (Planning 
Obligations) of the London Plan 2016, and Sections 4. Decision-making and 5. 
Delivering a sufficient supply of homes of the NPPF 2019.

Mayoral and borough community infrastructure levy (CIL)

212. Section 143 of the Localism Act states that any financial contribution received as 
community infrastructure levy (CIL) is a material "local financial consideration" in 
planning decisions. The requirement for payment of the Mayoral or Southwark CIL is 
therefore a material consideration. However, the weight attached is determined by the 
decision maker. 

213. The Mayoral CIL is required to contribute towards strategic transport investments in 
London as a whole, primarily Crossrail, while Southwark’s CIL will provide for 
infrastructure to support growth. The site is located with Southwark CIL Zone 2, and the 
estimated Southwark CIL is £2,250,262.17. The site is also within MCIL2 Central 
London Zone with higher rates for hotel, retail and office. The estimate of Mayoral CIL 
is £1,998,324.41. , This totals £4,248,586.58 in total CIL payments exclusive of CIL 
Social Housing Relief. These figures are based on the GIA data is from the Design 
Access Statement, and the Council have the right to amend the CIL charges when floor 
areas have been checked.

Community involvement and engagement

214. With regards to the initial submission, the applicants appointed Community 
Communications who held two public exhibitions took place on Thursday 25 January 
and Saturday 27 January 2018 on-site at 1-5 Newington Causeway. Letters and 
invitations were sent out to political and community stakeholders to inform them about 
the scheme and to invite them to meet. The exhibitions were attended by 39 members 
of the local community.

215. The scheme was, in the majority, well-received by the local community. Most of the 
residents and stakeholders were in favour of the scheme as well as the principle for 
development of the site. There was enthusiasm for it being a mixed-use scheme but 
less support for the hotel use compared to the residential units proposed in 2016. 
Some local residents expressed their concerns about the height of the building and 
impact on sunlight and views.

216. Following amendments to the application, the Applicant appointed Kanda Consulting, a 
specialist public affairs and consultation company, to undertake the community and 
stakeholder consultation as part of the application process for the redevelopment of 
land at King’s Place. 1,774 letters sent to local residents and businesses as well as 
letters to ward councillors and community stakeholders, providing information on the 
proposed development and an invitation to a public consultation exhibition, Individual 
drop-in invitation letters to the stakeholders listed in the report and a drop-in event to 
discuss the business incubator and community space proposed within the scheme 
were all hard. 

217. The responses to the consultation regarding the ground floor element of the proposals 
suggest that there is support for the inclusion of a community and business hub within 
the proposals, residents raised concerns about the height, comments received that 
there was a broad consensus on the need for more community space in the area and 
broad support for the incubator hub. People did identify needs for more children’s play 

62



49

spaces/childcare facilities; a more diverse retail offer; and a hub for adult 
workshops/classes. 

Consultation responses from internal and divisional consultees

218. Summarised below are the material planning considerations raised by internal and 
divisional consultees, along with the officer’s response. 

219. Environmental Protection Team: 
  The Environmental protection team have reviewed the submitted information 

and have raised no objections to the proposal. They have however suggested a 
number of conditions pertaining to construction management, contamination, 
internal noise level, plant noise levels, air quality, ventilation and odour. 

220. Design and Conservation Team: 
  These comments have been incorporated into the design section of the report. 

221. Local Economy Team: 
  Recommended a number of clauses required to be included within the legal 

agreement. These are reported within the Planning obligations section of the 
report. 

222. Flood Risk Management Team:
  There are drinking establishments proposed on the basement and ground 

floors, however the team are satisfied that the proposals pass the Exception 
Test.

  Recommend conditions in relation to flood resilience measures and details of a 
drainage strategy. 

  

Officer response to issue(s) raised: These conditions are included on the draft 
recommendation. 

223. Ecologist: 
 The Bat surveys are acceptable; no further surveys are required. The 

development should include a biodiverse roof under the PV array, and should 
incorporate 10 house sparrow bricks

Officer response to issue(s) raised: These elements are agreed to be included as 
conditions on the recommendation. 

Consultation responses from external consultees

224. Summarised below are the material planning considerations raised by external 
consultees, along with the officer’s response. 

225. Greater London Authority (GLA): 
The application was broadly supported however it does not fully comply with the 
London Plan and draft London Plan. The following strategic issues must be addressed 
for the application to fully accord with the London Plan and draft London Plan:

• Principle of development: The redevelopment of the site for a mixed-use hotel-led 
scheme is strongly supported. Further information is required to establish the current 

63



50

demand and need for the existing health facility and other social infrastructure on site 
and in the area. The applicant must demonstrate the highest level of engagement with 
existing residential tenants.

• Design: The form and massing is supported and the design is considered to be of a 
high quality. The proposal would not harm the setting of neighbouring listed buildings, 
the Trinity Church Square Conservation area, or non-designated heritage assets. 
Further work on residential quality required. 

• Energy: Further information required on cooling, overheating, proposed CHP and 
Photovoltaic panels. Once all opportunities for securing further feasible on-site savings 
have been exhausted, a carbon offset contribution should be secured to mitigate any 
residual shortfall.

• Transport: Further information required on drop off/pick up and cycle parking.
Conditions and section 106 obligations are required to secure the following blue badge 
car parking; car parking management; electric vehicle charging points; public access to 
the courtyard; cycle parking; travel plan; delivery and servicing plan; and construction 
and logistics plan.

Officer response to issue(s) raised: 
The application has significantly been altered since the initial submission of the 
application. With relation to the principle, the applicants have provided evidence that 
the existing health facility is to move as a result of a merger with another practice. The 
occupiers of the health centre have outlined that they do not intend to return to the site. 
Further engagement work has also been undertaken with the existing tenants who 
have lease agreements and the opportunity for the pharmacy to return to the site has 
been offered. 

226. Environment Agency:
 
Consider that planning permission should only be granted to the proposed 
development as submitted if the conditions relating to contamination, a drainage 
scheme and details of piling. 

Officer response to issue(s) raised: Officers have agreed to apply these conditions to 
the draft recommendation. 

227. Thames Water: 
 Waste Comments

Thames Water would advise that with regard to the combined water network 
infrastructure capacity, we would not have any objection to the above planning 
application, based on the information provided.

 Water Comments
Following initial investigations, Thames Water has identified an inability of the existing 
water network infrastructure to accommodate the needs of this development proposal. 
Thames Water request that the following condition be added to any planning 
permission. No properties shall be occupied until confirmation has been provided that 
either: ‐ all water network upgrades required to accommodate the additional flows from 
the development have been completed; or ‐ a housing and infrastructure phasing plan 
has been agreed with Thames Water to allow additional properties to be occupied.

Officer response to issue(s) raised: Officers have agreed to include this as a condition. 

64



51

228. Historic England:
 The development site contains no designated heritage assets but is located in 

close proximity to the Trinity Church Square Conservation Area. At the heart of 
the conservation area lies Trinity Church Square which comprises of the Grade 
II listed Holy Trinity Church which is surrounded on all four sides by Georgian 
terraced houses. The terraces possess a strong uniform character as 
expressed in part by their unbroken rooflines when experienced within the 
square. As set out in the submitted visual assessment, the 13 storey tower 
would break this important roofline in several views, such as "View 7: Trinity 
Church Square (South-East)". We acknowledge that the emerging 
developments around Elephant and Castle have already impacted on the 
setting of the square in some views. However, these are generally clustered 
together and more distant than this current proposal. 

 Paragraph 132 of the National Planning Policy Framework states that the 
significance of a designated heritage asset can be harmed by development 
within its setting, and that any harm requires clear and convincing justification. 
In our view, the visual impact of the proposed 13 storey tower on the roofline of 
Trinity Church Square would cause unjustified harm to the significance of the 
conservation area. We therefore strongly advise that a reduction in height of the 
tower by several storeys is explored by the applicant in order to reduce this 
harm.

Officer response to issue(s) raised: The application has been reduced in height by one 
storey and additional information and justification has been provided which 
demonstrates that the impacts on Trinity Church Square would not be significant. The 
manager of the Design and Conservation team has reviewed the impacts of the 
proposed building and confirmed that on balance the building is acceptable in this 
regard. 

229. Metropolitan Police:

 Security for this development must be heightened due to its neighbouring 
Southwark Police Station and its very close proximity to Inner London Crown 
Court. The police have issued an objection to this development because they 
do not want demolition work from taking place at the site up until April 2020.  
This is because of sensitive uses which are taking place at the police station, 
the nature of which has not been disclosed for security reasons. They also 
initially requested S106 funding from the scheme which has subsequently been 
withdrawn. A response has also been received on 15/10/19 which raised the 
issue of overlooking and security issues from the balconies and roof terraces. 

 If this development is built despite police objection, then I believe that this 
development is suitable to achieve Secured by Design accreditation. It was 
recommended that a ‘Secured by Design’ condition for the whole development, 
attached to any permission that may be granted in connection with this 
application and that the wording is such that ‘The development must adhere to 
the principles and physical security requirements of Secured by Design’. I would 
seek for this to be a two‐part condition, pre-commencement of works and 
pre‐occupation.

Officer response to issue(s) raised: The Met Police have withdrawn their comments 
requesting section 106 funding. In terms of the start date of any future scheme, a 

65



52

significant amount of time has lapsed since the MET police’s initial comments. As such 
the commencement of the scheme is unlikely to begin until after the date that they had 
initially requested.  In terms of overlooking, officers are of the opinion that there are no 
sensitive windows within the police station that would be affected. In terms of security, 
a condition is proposed to require details of site boundaries and this is considered 
sufficient to ensure that measures are put in place to avoid security impacts.

230. These matters are addressed comprehensively in the relevant preceding parts of this 
report.

Community impact and equalities assessment

231.  The Council must not act in a way which is incompatible with rights contained within the 
European Convention of Human Rights 

232. The Council has given due regard to the above needs and rights where relevant or 
engaged throughout the course of determining this application. 

233.  The Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED) contained in Section 149 (1) of the Equality 
Act 2010 imposes a duty on public authorities to have, in the exercise of their functions, 
due regard to three "needs" which are central to the aims of the Act: 

1. The need to eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other 
conduct prohibited by the Act

2. The need to advance equality of opportunity between persons sharing a 
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. This involves 
having due regard to the need to:

 Remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic 

 Take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not 
share it 

 Encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to 
participate in public life or in any other activity in which participation by 
such persons is disproportionately low 

3. The need to foster good relations between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and those who do not share it. This involves having due 
regard, in particular, to the need to tackle prejudice and promote understanding. 

234.  The protected characteristics are: race, age, gender reassignment, pregnancy and 
maternity, disability, sexual orientation, religion or belief, sex, marriage and civil 
partnership. 

Human rights implications

235.  This planning application engages certain human rights under the Human Rights Act 
2008 (the HRA). The HRA prohibits unlawful interference by public bodies with 
conventions rights. The term 'engage' simply means that human rights may be affected 
or relevant. 

236.  This application has the legitimate aim of providing a comprehensive redevelopment of 
the site top provide a mixed use scheme consisting of commercial, retail, hotel and 
residential uses. The rights potentially engaged by this application, including the right to 
a fair trial and the right to respect for private and family life are not considered to be 
unlawfully interfered with by this proposal. 

66



53

Other matters

237. No other matters identified. 

CONCLUSION

238. The proposed development is considered acceptable in principle as it would provide an 
uplift in commercial space as well as an increased in housing on site, of which 50% 
would be affordable. The hotel is on balance also considered acceptable as it would not 
result in an overprovision of hotels in this area and would provide valuable 
employment. The proposal also would have retail uses to the ground floors to activate 
the frontages. The proposal would also introduce an uplift in commercial floor space as 
well as provide a community hub which is considered appropriate. 

239. The overall scale of the development, whilst taller than immediately adjacent buildings 
is considered acceptable within this location and the quality of the design of the 
buildings are considered of a high quality. Whilst there would be some harm on the 
Trinity Church Square conservation area, this harm would be less than substantial and 
when balanced against the public benefit of the development, this is considered 
acceptable. 

240. The proposal would not result in any significant daylight, sunlight, outlook or 
overlooking impacts on the surrounding residential properties. 

241. The quality of the residential accommodation is considered to be of a good quality and 
the proposal would provide affordable housing which equates to 50% of the residential 
provided which is considered a significant public benefit. 

242. Overall the proposal is considered acceptable and it is thus recommended to be 
granted planning permission subject to conditions and a S106 agreement. 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

Background Papers Held At Contact
Site history file: TP/1422-19

Application file: 18/AP/0657

Southwark Local Development 
Framework and Development 
Plan Documents

Chief Executive's 
Department
160 Tooley Street
London
SE1 2QH

Planning enquiries telephone: 
020 7525 5403
Planning enquiries email:
planning.enquiries@southwark.gov.uk
Case officer telephone:
020 7525 5513
Council website:
www.southwark.gov.uk 

67



54

APPENDICES

No. Title
Appendix 1 Consultation undertaken
Appendix 2 Consultation responses received
Appendix 3 Human Rights Considerations

AUDIT TRAIL
 
Lead Officer Simon Bevan, Director of Planning
Report Author Alex Cameron, Team Leader
Version Final
Dated 16 October 2019
Key Decision No
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / EXECUTIVE MEMBER 
Officer Title Comments 

Sought 
Comments included 

Strategic Director of Finance and Governance No No
Strategic Director, Environment and Leisure No No
Strategic Director of Housing and Modernisation No No
Director of Regeneration No No
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team 18 October 2019

68



Appendix 1: Consultation undertaken 

Site notice date:  
Press notice date: n/a. 
Case officer site visit date: n/a 
Neighbour consultation letters sent:  09/01/2019 

Internal services consulted 

Flood Risk Management & Urban Drainage 
Highways Licensing 
Highways Development and Management 
Waste Management 
Ecology 
Archaeology 
Design and Conservation Team [Formal] 
Urban Forester 
Flood Risk Management & Urban Drainage 
Highways Licensing 
Highways Development and Management 
Waste Management 
Ecology 
Archaeology 
Design and Conservation Team [Formal] 
Urban Forester 
Flood Risk Management & Urban Drainage 
Highways Licensing 
Highways Development and Management 
Waste Management 
Ecology 
Archaeology 
Design and Conservation Team [Formal] 
Urban Forester 
Flood Risk Management & Urban Drainage 
Highways Licensing 
Highways Development and Management 
Waste Management 
Ecology 
Archaeology 
Design and Conservation Team [Formal] 
Urban Forester 

Statutory and non-statutory organisations 

Environment Agency 
Thames Water 
Transport for London 
Network Rail 
Great London Authority 

APPENDIX 1
69



 

EDF Energy 
 
London Fire & Emergency Planning Authori 
London Underground 
Metropolitan Police Service (Designing O 
Natural England - London & South East Re 
 
 
 
Planning Policy 
 
Natural England - London & South East Re 
Metropolitan Police Service (Designing O 
 
Thames Water 
Transport for London 
EDF Energy 
London Underground 
Environment Agency 
 
Metropolitan Police Service (Designing O 
Environment Agency 
Thames Water 
Transport for London 
Network Rail 
Great London Authority 
EDF Energy 
 
London Fire & Emergency Planning Authori 
London Underground 
Metropolitan Police Service (Designing O 
Natural England - London & South East Re 
 
 
 
Planning Policy 
 
 
Environment Agency 
Natural England - London & South East Re 
Metropolitan Police Service (Designing O 
Transport for London 
 
London Underground 
Environment Agency 
Thames Water 
Transport for London 
Network Rail 
Great London Authority 
EDF Energy 
 
London Fire & Emergency Planning Authori 
London Underground 
Metropolitan Police Service (Designing O 
Natural England - London & South East Re 

70



 

 
 
 
Planning Policy 
 
Metropolitan Police Service (Designing O 
Environment Agency 
Metropolitan Police Service (Designing O 
Metropolitan Police Service (Designing O 
Thames Water 
Transport for London 
 
Environment Agency 
Thames Water 
Transport for London 
Network Rail 
Great London Authority 
EDF Energy 
 
London Fire & Emergency Planning Authori 
London Underground 
Metropolitan Police Service (Designing O 
Natural England - London & South East Re 
 
 
 
Planning Policy 
 
 
Neighbour and local groups consulted:  
 
 12 Brockham Street London SE1 4HX 
 Flat 11 202 Great Suffolk Street London 
 Flat 10 202 Great Suffolk Street London 
 Flat 9 202 Great Suffolk Street London 
 301-303 Borough High Street London SE1 
1JH 
 David Bomberg House 282-302 Borough 
High Street London 
 Unit 1 Suffolk House 127-129 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 53 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HT 
 50 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HT 
 48 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HT 
 58 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HT 
 57 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HT 
 55 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HT 
 6 Brockham Street London SE1 4HX 
 4 Brockham Street London SE1 4HX 
 18 Brockham Street London SE1 4HX 
 Flat A 47 Trinity Church Square London 
 46 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HT 
 45B Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HT 
 Flat 8 202 Great Suffolk Street London 

 Flat 1 Freestone Court 61 Borough Road 
 Avon House 275-287 Borough High Street 
London 
 Flat 12 St Michaels Court 3 Hulme Place 
 62 Borough Road London SE1 1DZ 
 Flat 3 Freestone Court 61 Borough Road 
 Flat 25 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 43 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 41 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 14 Borough Square London SE1 1PX 
 13 Borough Square London SE1 1PX 
 33 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 17 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 16 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 14 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 20 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 19 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 18 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 41 Scovell Crescent London SE1 1PS 
 39 Scovell Crescent London SE1 1PS 
 37 Scovell Crescent London SE1 1PS 
 47 Scovell Crescent London SE1 1PS 
 45 Scovell Crescent London SE1 1PS 
 43 Scovell Crescent London SE1 1PS 

71



 

 29 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 28 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 27 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 32 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 31 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 30 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 23 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 22 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 21 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 26 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 25 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 24 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 Flat 10 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 1 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 13 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 19 Harper Road London SE19AW 
 1 Rutherford Lodge Brockham Street 
London 
 Flat C 6 Trinity Street London 
 325A Borough High Street London SE1 1JH 
 Maisonette Second And Third Floor 38 
Newington Causeway London 
 Flat 10 Signal House 137 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Flat C6B David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat C6A David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat C5B David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat D3 David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat D2 David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat D1 David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat C3B David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat C3A David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat C2B4 David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat C5A David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat C4B David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat C4A David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Unit A 127-129 Great Suffolk Street London 
 Flat B6B David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat B6A David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat C1B David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 

 Flat C1A David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat B7B David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat B4A David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat B3B David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat B3A David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat B5B David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat B5A David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat B4B David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Fifth Floor 291-299 Borough High Street 
London 
 Fourth Floor 291-299 Borough High Street 
London 
 3 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HU 
 Flat 1 29 Swan Street London 
 Flat 1 56 Trinity Church Square London 
 41 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HY 
 13 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HU 
 12 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HU 
 66 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HT 
 21 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HU 
 18 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HU 
 16 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HU 
 61 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HT 
 65 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HT 
 64 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HT 
 63 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HT 
 35 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HY 
 33 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HY 
 30 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HY 
 40 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HY 
 39 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HY 
 37 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HY 
 6 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HU 
 Flat 5 Balppa House 57-61 Newington 
Causeway 
 Flat 4 Balppa House 57-61 Newington 
Causeway 
 Flat 9 Balppa House 57-61 Newington 
Causeway 
 Flat 8 Balppa House 57-61 Newington 
Causeway 
 Flat 7 Balppa House 57-61 Newington 
Causeway 
 Flat 52 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 51 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 50 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 55 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 

72



 

 Flat 54 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 53 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 46 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 45 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 44 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 49 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 48 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 5 14 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 9 2 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 8 2 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 7 2 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 1 14 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 6 49 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 5 49 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 4 14 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 3 14 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 2 14 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 47 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 64 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 63 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 62 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 67 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 66 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 8 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 36 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 35 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 34 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 59 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 58 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 57 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 62 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 2 27 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 2 22 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 1 44 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 2 34 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 2 31 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 2 29 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 1 29 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 1 27 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 1 22 Trinity Church Square London 
 Lambert Smith Hampton UK House 180 
Oxford Street London 
 62E Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HT 
 17 Dawkins Court 2 Garland Close London 
 1, 26 Cole Street London SE1 4YH 
 Flat 1, St Michael's Court 3 Hulme Place 
London 
 51 Harper Road London SE1 6AP 
 6 Hatters Court 99 Redcross Way London 
 137 Great Suffolk St London SE1 1PZ 
 Flat 2 19 Harper Road London 
 Skylark Court 14 Swan Street London 
 Unit 4B Signal House 137A Great Suffolk 
Street 

 Unit 4A Signal House 137A Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Unit 3A Signal House 137A Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Third Floor 133-135 Great Suffolk Street 
London 
 Unit 5A Signal House 137A Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Living Accommodation 125 Great Suffolk 
Street London 
 Unit 1B Signal House 137A Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Unit 1A Signal House 137A Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Unit 2A Signal House 137A Great Suffolk 
Street 
 3 Light Room Apartments 325 Borough 
High Street London 
 2 Light Room Apartments 325 Borough 
High Street London 
 1 Light Room Apartments 325 Borough 
High Street London 
 304 Borough High Street London SE1 1JJ 
 5 Light Room Apartments 325 Borough 
High Street London 
 4 Light Room Apartments 325 Borough 
High Street London 
 282 Borough High Street London SE1 1JJ 
 325B Borough High Street London SE1 1JH 
 77 Borough Road London SE1 1DN 
 Flat E6 David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Unit D Second Floor 127-129 Great Suffolk 
Street London 
 Unit C 127-129 Great Suffolk Street London 
 Unit B 127-129 Great Suffolk Street London 
 Flat E2 David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat D5 David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat D4 David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat E5 David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat E4 David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat E3 David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat C2A David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat A6B David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat A6A David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 

73



 

 Flat A5B David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat B2B David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat B2A David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat B1 David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat A3A David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat A2B David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat A2A David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat A5A David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat A4A David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat A3B David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat B7A David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 First Floor Flat 4 Trinity Street London 
 302 Borough High Street London SE1 1JJ 
 Flat 10 Balppa House 57-61 Newington 
Causeway 
 Flat 1 52 Trinity Church Square London 
 Basement And Ground Floor Flat 61 Trinity 
Church Square London 
 Flat 6 Signal House 137 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Flat 5 Signal House 137 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Flat 2 5 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 1 5 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat C 67 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 5 5 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 4 5 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 3 5 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat A 51 Trinity Church Square London 
 43 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HY 
 42 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HY 
 Flat B 67 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 2 52 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat A 67 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 3 49 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 2 56 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 2 54 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 4 49 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 3 56 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 3 54 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 1 54 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 1 49 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 6 5 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 3 52 Trinity Church Square London 

 Flat 2 49 Trinity Church Square London 
 4 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HU 
 28 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HY 
 Flat 4 Signal House 137 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Flat 9 Signal House 137 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Flat 8 Signal House 137 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Flat 7 Signal House 137 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Land At 48-54 Newington Causeway 
London 
 Flat 4 29 Swan Street London 
 Flat 3 Signal House 137 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Flat 2 Signal House 137 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Flat 1 Signal House 137 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Basement And Ground Floor 4 Trinity Street 
London 
 Third Floor Borough Medical Centre 1-5 
Newington Causeway 
 Unit 4 Arches 78 And 79 Newington Court 
Newington Causeway 
 Flat 3 Balppa House 57-61 Newington 
Causeway 
 Flat 2 Balppa House 57-61 Newington 
Causeway 
 Flat 1 Balppa House 57-61 Newington 
Causeway 
 Flat 2 204 Great Suffolk Street London 
 Flat 1 204 Great Suffolk Street London 
 Flat 12 202 Great Suffolk Street London 
 Unit 3 Arches 80 And 81 Newington Court 
Newington Causeway 
 Unit 1 Arches 84 And 85 Newington Court 
Newington Causeway 
 Offices 23 Harper Road London 
 Second Floor Flat 4 Trinity Street London 
 Second Floor And Third Floor Flat 2 Trinity 
Street London 
 First Floor Flat 2 Trinity Street London 
 Flat 6 Balppa House 57-61 Newington 
Causeway 
 25 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HY 
 23 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HY 
 Flat 4 22 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 3 44 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 3 38 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 4 31 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 4 29 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 4 27 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 3 27 Trinity Church Square London 

74



 

 Flat 3 22 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 2 44 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 3 34 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 3 31 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 3 29 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 6 34 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 6 31 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 6 29 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 7 34 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 7 31 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 7 29 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 4 44 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 4 38 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 4 34 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 5 34 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 5 31 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 5 29 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 2 38 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 6 2 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 5 2 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 65 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 58 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 57 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 56 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 61 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 60 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 59 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 43 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 4 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 32 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 31 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 7 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 6 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 5 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 28 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 27 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 26 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 30 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 3 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 29 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 39 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 38 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 37 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 42 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 41 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 40 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 33 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 9 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 1 38 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 1 34 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 1 31 Trinity Church Square London 
 Deeper Life Bible Church 82 Borough Road 
London 
 2 Trinity Street London SE1 1DB 
 20 Trinity Street London SE1 1DB 

 Unit 7 Suffolk House 127-129 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 8 Trinity Street London SE1 1DB 
 6 Trinity Street London SE1 1DB 
 12 Trinity Street London SE1 1DB 
 307 Borough High Street London SE1 1JH 
 299 Borough High Street London SE1 1JG 
 2 Hulme Place London SE1 1HX 
 1 Hulme Place London SE1 1HX 
 125 Great Suffolk Street London SE1 1PQ 
 Flat 3 St Michaels Court 3 Hulme Place 
 33 Swan Street London SE1 1DF 
 Flat 1 St Michaels Court 3 Hulme Place 
 131 Great Suffolk Street London SE1 1PP 
 69 Borough Road London SE1 1DN 
 Unit 8 Suffolk House 127-129 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Unit 4 Suffolk House 127-129 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Flat 84 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 83 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 82 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 87 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 86 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 85 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 78 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 77 Redman House Lant Street 
 9 McCoid Way London SE1 1PT 
 Flat 79 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 96 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 95 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 94 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 99 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 98 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 97 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 90 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 89 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 88 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 93 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 92 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 91 Redman House Lant Street 
 22 Trinity Street London SE1 4HS 
 Unit 3 Suffolk House 127-129 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Britannia House 7 Trinity Street London 
 16 Brockham Street London SE1 4HX 
 14 Brockham Street London SE1 4HX 
 40 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 1 Borough Square London SE1 1PX 
 47 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 45 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 36 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 35 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 34 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 39 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 

75



 

 38 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 37 Collinson Walk London SE1 1PU 
 4 Borough Square London SE1 1PX 
 3 Borough Square London SE1 1PX 
 2 Borough Square London SE1 1PX 
 7 Borough Square London SE1 1PX 
 6 Borough Square London SE1 1PX 
 5 Borough Square London SE1 1PX 
 12 Borough Square London SE1 1PX 
 11 Borough Square London SE1 1PX 
 10 Borough Square London SE1 1PX 
 15 Borough Square London SE1 1PX 
 Living Accommodation Ruse 280 Borough 
High Street 
 Unit A 40-42 Newington Causeway London 
 Unit B And C 40-42 Newington Causeway 
London 
 Living Accommodation 40-42 Newington 
Causeway London 
 First Floor 44-46 Newington Causeway 
London 
 Second Floor 44-46 Newington Causeway 
London 
 Flat 13 202 Great Suffolk Street London 
 First Floor 133-135 Great Suffolk Street 
London 
 Living Accommodation The Ship 68 
Borough Road 
 Flat C 307 Borough High Street London 
 Flat B 307 Borough High Street London 
 Flat A 307 Borough High Street London 
 Flat D 307 Borough High Street London 
 Flat 4 305 Borough High Street London 
 Flat 19 Signal House 137 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Flat 18 Signal House 137 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Flat 17 Signal House 137 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 2C Trinity Street London SE1 1DB 
 Advocates Lounge Sessions House 
Newington Causeway 
 Jury Lounge Sessions House Newington 
Causeway 
 50 Swan Street London SE1 1DF 
 Rise House 5 Trinity Street London 
 35 Scovell Crescent London SE1 1PS 
 33 Scovell Crescent London SE1 1PS 
 The Ship 68 Borough Road London 
 Flat 5 202 Great Suffolk Street London 
 Flat 4 202 Great Suffolk Street London 
 Flat 3 202 Great Suffolk Street London 
 10 Trinity Street London SE1 1DB 
 Southwark Police Station 323 Borough High 
Street London 

 Flat 6 202 Great Suffolk Street London 
 Unit 1 David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
    
 Flat 12 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 11 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 8 Gloucester Court Swan Street 
 Flat 7 Gloucester Court Swan Street 
 Flat 6 Gloucester Court Swan Street 
 Ruse 280 Borough High Street London 
 297 Borough High Street London SE1 1JG 
 Flat 9 Gloucester Court Swan Street 
 Flat 21 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 20 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 2 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 24 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 23 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 22 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 16 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 15 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 14 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 2 Freestone Court 61 Borough Road 
 77-81 Borough Road London SE1 1DN 
 83 Borough Road London SE1 1DN 
 Flat 6 St Michaels Court 3 Hulme Place 
 Flat 11 St Michaels Court 3 Hulme Place 
 Flat 9 St Michaels Court 3 Hulme Place 
 Flat 7 St Michaels Court 3 Hulme Place 
 Unit 2 Suffolk House 127-129 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Flat 72 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 7 202 Great Suffolk Street London 
 1-3 Trinity Street London SE1 1DB 
 Flat 2 Stonemason Court 63 Borough Road 
 Flat 1 Stonemason Court 63 Borough Road 
 65 Borough Road London SE1 1DZ 
 Flat 5 Stonemason Court 63 Borough Road 
 Flat 4 Stonemason Court 63 Borough Road 
 Flat 3 Stonemason Court 63 Borough Road 
 Flat A 62 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 4 19 Harper Road London 
 Flat 3 19 Harper Road London 
 20-22 Newington Causeway London SE1 
6DR 
 Flat 7 19 Harper Road London 
 Flat 6 19 Harper Road London 
 Flat 5 19 Harper Road London 
 55 Harper Road London SE1 6AP 
 53 Harper Road London SE1 6AP 
 51 Harper Road London SE1 6AP 
 2 Avonmouth Street London SE1 6NX 
 59 Harper Road London SE1 6AP 
 57 Harper Road London SE1 6AP 
 25-29 Harper Road London SE1 6AW 

76



 

 Balppa House 57-61 Newington Causeway 
London 
 21 Harper Road London SE1 6AW 
 49 Harper Road London SE1 6AP 
 Flat A 2 Avonmouth Street London 
 12B Trinity Street London SE1 1DB 
 Unit 6 127-129 Great Suffolk Street London 
 Unit 5 127-129 Great Suffolk Street London 
 11A Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HU 
 10F Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HU 
 10E Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HU 
 Flat 2 Fraser Court 1 Brockham Street 
 Flat 1 Fraser Court 1 Brockham Street 
 20 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HU 
 Flat 5 Fraser Court 1 Brockham Street 
 Flat 4 Fraser Court 1 Brockham Street 
 Flat 3 Fraser Court 1 Brockham Street 
 Basement Flat 67 Trinity Church Square 
London 
 11 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HU 
 1 Dickens Square London SE1 4JL 
 19 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HU 
 10 Brockham Street London SE1 4HX 
 8 Brockham Street London SE1 4HX 
 10A Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HU 
 12C Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HU 
 Flat 10 Newall House Rockingham Estate 
Harper Road 
 Flat 1 Newall House Rockingham Estate 
Harper Road 
 Flat 14 Newall House Rockingham Estate 
Harper Road 
 Flat 13 Newall House Rockingham Estate 
Harper Road 
 Flat 12 Newall House Rockingham Estate 
Harper Road 
 Flat 6 Newall House Rockingham Estate 
Harper Road 
 Flat 5 Newall House Rockingham Estate 
Harper Road 
 Flat 4 Newall House Rockingham Estate 
Harper Road 
 Flat 9 Newall House Rockingham Estate 
Harper Road 
 Flat 8 Newall House Rockingham Estate 
Harper Road 
 Flat 7 Newall House Rockingham Estate 
Harper Road 
 Flat 22 Newall House Rockingham Estate 
Harper Road 

 Flat 21 Newall House Rockingham Estate 
Harper Road 
 Flat 20 Newall House Rockingham Estate 
Harper Road 
 Flat 22 Signal House 137 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Flat 21 Signal House 137 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Flat 20 Signal House 137 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Flat 13 Signal House 137 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Flat 12 Signal House 137 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Flat 11 Signal House 137 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Flat 16 Signal House 137 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Flat 15 Signal House 137 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Flat 14 Signal House 137 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Unit 5 Signal House 137A Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Unit 4 Signal House 137A Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Unit 3 Signal House 137A Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Flat 3 305 Borough High Street London 
 Flat 2 305 Borough High Street London 
 Flat 1 305 Borough High Street London 
 Flat 25 Signal House 137 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Flat 24 Signal House 137 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Flat 23 Signal House 137 Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Unit 2 Signal House 137A Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Unit 1 Signal House 137A Great Suffolk 
Street 
 Second To Third Floors 289 Borough High 
Street London 
 First Floor 289 Borough High Street London 
 299A Borough High Street London SE1 
1HR 
 Flat 2 202 Great Suffolk Street London 
 Flat 1 202 Great Suffolk Street London 
 Public Lounge Sessions House Newington 
Causeway 
 Unit 2 David Bomberg House 282-302 
Borough High Street 
 Flat 19 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 18 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 17 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 

77



 

 Flat 5 Gloucester Court Swan Street 
 8A Trinity Street London SE1 1DB 
 12A Trinity Street London SE1 1DB 
 Flat 11 Gloucester Court Swan Street 
 Flat 10 Gloucester Court Swan Street 
 Flat 1 Gloucester Court Swan Street 
 Flat 1 18 Trinity Street London 
 9 Borough Square London SE1 1PX 
 8 Borough Square London SE1 1PX 
 Flat 4 18 Trinity Street London 
 Flat 3 18 Trinity Street London 
 Flat 2 18 Trinity Street London 
 Flat 2 Gloucester Court Swan Street 
 Flat 19 Gloucester Court Swan Street 
 Flat 18 Gloucester Court Swan Street 
 Flat 4 Gloucester Court Swan Street 
 Flat 3 Gloucester Court Swan Street 
 Flat 20 Gloucester Court Swan Street 
 Flat 14 Gloucester Court Swan Street 
 Flat 13 Gloucester Court Swan Street 
 Flat 12 Gloucester Court Swan Street 
 Flat 17 Gloucester Court Swan Street 
 Flat 16 Gloucester Court Swan Street 
 Flat 15 Gloucester Court Swan Street 
    
 Flat 2 Dawkins Court 2 Garland Close 
London 
 Flat 3 6 Trinity Street London 
 Flat 2 6 Trinity Street London 
 Flat B 59 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat B 62 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat A 59 Trinity Church Square London 
 51 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HT 
 Flat 1 6 Trinity Street London 
 45A Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HT 
 9 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HY 
 Second Floor Flat 8 Trinity Street London 
 Flat B 60 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat A 60 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 4 St Michaels Court 3 Hulme Place 
 Flat 2 St Michaels Court 3 Hulme Place 
 Third Floor Flat 8 Trinity Street London 
 Flat D 62 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat C 59 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat C 62 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat G 62 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat F 62 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat E 62 Trinity Church Square London 
 63 Borough Road London SE1 1DZ 
 3 Stonemason Court 63 Borough Road 
Southwark 
 26 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HY 
 9 Newington Causeway London SE1 6ED 
 7-9 Newington Causeway London SE1 6ED 

 24 Newington Causeway London SE1 6DR 
 6 Avonmouth Street London SE1 6NX 
 18 Newington Causeway London SE1 6DR 
 Ground Floor To First Floor Borough 
Medical Centre 1-5 Newington Causeway 
 Crown Court Basement To Second Floors 
Sessions House Newington Causeway 
 Unit 9 127-129 Great Suffolk Street London 
 Flat 10 St Michaels Court 3 Hulme Place 
 Flat 8 St Michaels Court 3 Hulme Place 
 Flat 5 St Michaels Court 3 Hulme Place 
 Basement And Ground Floor 305-307 
Borough High Street London 
 Ground Floor 293-295 Borough High Street 
London 
 Crown Court Swan Street London 
 Coburg House 63-67 Newington Causeway 
London 
 Third Floor Coburg House 63-67 Newington 
Causeway 
 First Floor And Second Floor 14-16 Trinity 
Street London 
 Ground Floor 14-16 Trinity Street London 
 Ground Floor Left 7 Newington Causeway 
London 
 Second Floor Borough Medical Centre 1-5 
Newington Causeway 
 Basement Coburg House 63-67 Newington 
Causeway 
 48-54 Newington Causeway London SE1 
6DR 
 Flat B 47 Trinity Church Square London 
 45D Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HT 
 45C Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HT 
 Henry Wood Hall Trinity Church Square 
London 
 Flat D 47 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat C 47 Trinity Church Square London 
 10D Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HU 
 10C Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HU 
 10B Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HU 
 12B Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HU 
 12A Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HU 
 16C Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HU 
 16B Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HU 

78



 

 16A Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HU 
 Flat 1 2 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 8 34 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 8 31 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 4 2 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 3 2 Trinity Church Square London 
 Flat 2 2 Trinity Church Square London 
 25A Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HY 
 23C Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HY 
 23B Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HY 
 1 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HU 
 25C Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HY 
 25B Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HY 
 7C Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HU 
 7B Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HU 
 7A Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HU 
 23A Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HY 
 9A Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HU 
 7D Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HU 
 Flat 17 Newall House Rockingham Estate 
Harper Road 
 Flat 16 Newall House Rockingham Estate 
Harper Road 
 Flat 15 Newall House Rockingham Estate 
Harper Road 
 Flat 2 Newall House Rockingham Estate 
Harper Road 
 Flat 19 Newall House Rockingham Estate 
Harper Road 
 Flat 18 Newall House Rockingham Estate 
Harper Road 
 Flat 11 Newall House Rockingham Estate 
Harper Road 
 Flat 3 Newall House Rockingham Estate 
Harper Road 
 Flat 24 Newall House Rockingham Estate 
Harper Road 
 Flat 23 Newall House Rockingham Estate 
Harper Road 
 Flat C 2 Avonmouth Street London 
 Flat 14 Fraser Court 1 Brockham Street 
 Flat 13 Fraser Court 1 Brockham Street 
 Flat 12 Fraser Court 1 Brockham Street 
 5 Brockham Street London SE1 4HB 
 3 Brockham Street London SE1 4HB 
 Flat 15 Fraser Court 1 Brockham Street 
 Flat 8 Fraser Court 1 Brockham Street 
 Flat 7 Fraser Court 1 Brockham Street 

 Flat 6 Fraser Court 1 Brockham Street 
 Flat 11 Fraser Court 1 Brockham Street 
 Flat 10 Fraser Court 1 Brockham Street 
 Flat 9 Fraser Court 1 Brockham Street 
 38 Newington Causeway London SE1 6DR 
 26 Newington Causeway London SE1 6DR 
 Flat B 2 Avonmouth Street London 
 Flat 2 19 Harper Road London 
 Flat 1 19 Harper Road London 
 Apartment 3 Rutherford Lodge 7 Brockham 
Street 
 Apartment 2 Rutherford Lodge 7 Brockham 
Street 
 Apartment 1 Rutherford Lodge 7 Brockham 
Street 
 6A Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HU 
 4A Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HU 
 Ground Floor Flat 67 Trinity Church Square 
London 
 Flat 3 29 Swan Street London 
 Flat 2 29 Swan Street London 
 Ground Floor 44-46 Newington Causeway 
London 
 Flat 76 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 81 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 80 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 61 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 60 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 53 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 110 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 109 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 56 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 55 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 54 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 71 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 70 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 69 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 75 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 74 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 73 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 65 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 64 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 63 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 68 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 67 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 66 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 108 Redman House Lant Street 
 2 McCoid Way London SE1 1PT 
 10 McCoid Way London SE1 1PT 
 1 McCoid Way London SE1 1PT 
 5 McCoid Way London SE1 1PT 
 4 McCoid Way London SE1 1PT 
 3 McCoid Way London SE1 1PT 
 Flat 70 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 69 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 

79



 

 Flat 68 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 133-135 Great Suffolk Street London SE1 
1PP 
 Flat 72 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 71 Collinson Court Great Suffolk Street 
 Flat 104 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 103 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 102 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 107 Redman House Lant Street 

 Flat 106 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 105 Redman House Lant Street 
 8 McCoid Way London SE1 1PT 
 7 McCoid Way London SE1 1PT 
 6 McCoid Way London SE1 1PT 
 Flat 101 Redman House Lant Street 
 Flat 100 Redman House Lant Street 
 

 
Re-consultation:  
 
 

80



Southwark Council, PO BOX 64529, London SE1P 5LX • southwark.gov.uk • facebook.com/southwarkcouncil • twitter.com/lb_southwark 

Appendix 2: Consultation responses received 

Internal services 

Statutory and non-statutory organisations 

London Underground 
Natural England - London & South East Re 
Metropolitan Police Service (Designing O 

Thames Water 
Transport for London 
EDF Energy 
London Underground 
Environment Agency 

Metropolitan Police Service (Designing O 

Environment Agency 
Natural England - London & South East Re 
Metropolitan Police Service (Designing O 
Transport for London 

London Underground 
Metropolitan Police Service (Designing O 
Environment Agency 
Metropolitan Police Service (Designing O 
Metropolitan Police Service (Designing O 
Thames Water 
Transport for London 

Neighbour and local groups consulted: 

 6 Brockham Street London SE1 4HX 
 62 Borough Road London SE1 1DZ 
 20 Dawkins Court 2 Garland Close London 
 1 Rutherford Lodge Brockham Street 
London 
 Flat 2 14 Trinity Church Square London 
 62E Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HT 
 17 Dawkins Court 2 Garland Close London 
 1, 26 Cole Street London SE1 4YH 
 51 Harper Road London SE1 6AP 
 Flat 5 5 Trinity Church Square London 
 42 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HY 
 4 Borough Square London SE1 1PX 
 62 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HT 
 Effingham House Arundel Street London 

 Flat A 62 Trinity Church Square London 
 53 Harper Road London SE1 6AP 
 51 Harper Road London SE1 6AP 
 57 Harper Road London SE1 6AP 
 12B Trinity Street London SE1 1DB 
 12C Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HU 
 Flat 7 Newall House Rockingham Estate 
Harper Road 
 30 Beaufort Road London 
 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HY 
 7 Newington Causeway London SE1 6ED 
 Southwark Council Chaucer Ward  
 125 Old Broad Street London EC2N 1AR 
 Flat 3 34 Trinity Church SQ London 

APPENDIX 2
81



 

 

Southwark Council, PO BOX 64529, London SE1P 5LX • southwark.gov.uk • facebook.com/southwarkcouncil • twitter.com/lb_southwark  

 

 28 Martin House Falmouth Road Elephant 
And Castle 
 62 Borough Road London SE1 1DZ 
 62 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HT 
 6 Falmouth Road London SE1 4JQ 
 XXXX   
 By Email XXXX  
 6 Brockham Street London SE1 4HX 
 3 Rutherford Lodge 7 Brockham Street 
London 
 62 Borough Road London 
 62 Trinity Church Square London SE1 4HT 
 51 Harper Road London SE1 6AP 
 87 Balfour Street SE17 1PB  
 87 Balfour Street London SE17 1PB 
 36 Trinity Street London SE1 4JG 
 Flat 5 Gloucester Court Swan Street 
 Flat 4 18 Trinity Street London 
 Flat E 62 Trinity Church Square London 
 9 Newington Causeway London SE1 6ED 
 7-9 Newington Causeway London SE1 6ED 
 25C Trinity Church Square London SE1 
4HY 
 Apartment 3 Rutherford Lodge 7 Brockham 
Street 
 FLAT 3 34 TRINITY CHURCH SQ 
LONDON 
 51 Harper Road London SE1 6AP 
 
 

 

82



RECOMMENDATION 

This document shows the case officer's recommended decision for the application referred to below. 
This document is not a decision notice for this application. 

Applicant Southwark Homes Ltd Reg. Number 18/AP/0657 
Application Type Full Planning Application  
Recommendation Grant subject to Legal Agreement and GLA Case 

Number 
TP/1422-19 

Draft of Decision Notice 

Planning Permission was GRANTED for the following development: 
Demolition of existing buildings and redevelopment to provide construction of a part 5, part 7, part 8 and part 13 
building a mixed-use development comprising 328 hotel rooms (Class C1) 20 no. residential dwellings (Class C3), 
offices, workspace and workshops (Class B1), multifunctional community events space (Class B1/D1), retail use 
(Class A1/A2/A3), 4 no. car parking spaces together with access, cycle parking, hard and soft landscaping and 
other associated works incidental to the development 

At: LAND AT 19, 21 AND 23 HARPER ROAD, 325 BOROUGH HIGH STREET AND 1-5 AND 7-11 NEWINGTON 
CAUSEWAY, LONDON SE1 6AW 

In accordance with application received on 22/02/2018 

1. Time

The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the end of three years from the date of this permission. 

Reason 

As required by Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended. 

2. Plans

The development hereby permitted shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with the following approved 

plans: 

17027-07-001 - P1 – Site Plan Proposed 

17027_01_07-097 P03 – Proposed Basement Floor Plan B02 

17027_01_07-098 P07 – Proposed Basement Floor Plan B01 

17027_01_07-099 P03 – Proposed Basement Floor Plan B02 

17027_01_07-100 P06 – Proposed Ground Floor Plan 

17027_01_101 P07 - Proposed First Floor Plan 

17027_01_102 P07 – Proposed Second Floor Plan 

17027_01_103 P07 – Proposed Third Floor Plan 
17027_01_104 P07 – Proposed Fourth Floor Plan 

17027_01_105 P07 – Proposed Fifth Floor Plan 

17027_01_106 P07 – Proposed Sixth Floor Plan 

17027_01_107 P07 – Proposed Seventh Floor Plan 

17027_01_108 P07 – Proposed Eighth Floor Plan 

17027_01_109 P07 – Proposed Ninth to Eleventh Floor Plan 

17027_01_112 P07 – Proposed Twelfth Floor Plan 

17027_01_113 P06 – Proposed Roof Plan 

17027_01_07-200 P04 – Proposed Borough High Street Elevation 

17027_01_07-201 P04 – Harper Road Elevation 

17027_01_07-202 P05 – Proposed North Elevation 

APPENDIX 3
83



 

17027_01_07-300 P06 – Proposed Section AA     

17027_01_07-301 P05 – Proposed Section BB   

17027_01_07-302 P06 – Proposed Section CC 

17027_01_07-303 P05 – Proposed Section DD     

17027_01_07-304 P07 – Proposed Section EE    

17027_01_07-305 P01 – Proposed Section FF   

17027_01_07_400 P02 – Apartment Layout 1A - 4B5P 

17027_01_07_401 P02 – Apartment Layout 1B - 3B5P 

17027_01_07_402 P02 – Apartment Layout 2 - 1B2P 

17027_01_07_403 P02 – Apartment Layout 3 - 2B4P (AFF-INT) 

17027_01_07_404 P02 – Apartment Layout 4 - 2B3PW 

17027_01_07_405 P02 – Apartment Layout 5 - 3B5P (MARKET) 

 17027_01_07-500 P02 – Bay Study 01 Borough High Street 

17027_01_07-501 P02 – Bay Study 02 Borough High Street 

17027_01_07-502 P02 – Bay Study 03 Harper Road 

17027_01_07-503 P03 – Bay Study 04 Harper Road 

17027_01_07-504 P02 – Bay Study 05 Internal Courtyard 

 

Reason: 

For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning. 

 

Pre-commencement conditions 

3. Construction Environmental Management Plan (CEMP)  

No development shall take place, including any works of demolition, until a written CEMP for the site has been devised. 

The CEMP shall oblige the applicant, developer and contractors to commit to current best practice with regard to site 

management and to use all best endeavours to minimise off site impacts. A copy of the CEMP shall be available on site 

at all times and shall include the following information: 

o A detailed specification of demolition and construction works at each phase of development including 

consideration of all environmental impacts and the identified remedial measures; 

o Engineering measures to eliminate or mitigate identified environmental impacts e.g. acoustic screening, sound 

insulation, dust control, emission reduction, location of specific activities on site, etc.; 

o Arrangements for direct responsive contact for nearby occupiers with the site management during demolition 

and/or construction (signage on hoardings, newsletters, resident's liaison meetings); 

o A commitment to adopt and implement of the ICE Demolition Protocol and Considerate Contractor Scheme; 

o Site traffic - Routing of in-bound and outbound site traffic, one way site traffic, lay off areas, etc.; 

o Waste Management - Accurate waste identification, separation, storage, registered waste carriers for 

transportation and disposal to appropriate destinations. 

All demolition and construction work shall then be undertaken in strict accordance with the plan and relevant codes of 

practice, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  

Reason: 

To ensure that occupiers of neighbouring premises do not suffer a loss of amenity by reason of pollution and nuisance, in 

accordance with strategic policy 13 'High environmental standards' of the Core Strategy (2011) saved policy 3.2 

'Protection of amenity' of the Southwark Plan (2007), and the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 

84



4. Tree Protection 

 The existing trees on or adjoining the site which are to be retained shall be protected and both the site and trees 

managed in accordance with the recommendations (including facilitative pruning specifications and supervision schedule) 

contained in the Arboricultural Method Statement. All tree protection measures shall be installed, carried out and retained 

throughout the period of the works, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  In any case, all 

works must adhere to BS5837: (2012) Trees in relation to demolition, design and construction and BS3998: (2010) Tree 

work - recommendations. 

If within the expiration of 5 years from the date of the occupation of the building for its permitted use any retained tree is 

removed, uprooted is destroyed or dies, another tree shall be planted at the same place and that tree shall be of such 

size and species, and shall be planted at such time, as may be specified in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason 

To avoid damage to the existing trees which represent an important visual amenity in the area, in accordance with The 

National Planning Policy Framework 2019 Parts 7, 8, 11 & 12 and policies of The Core Strategy 2011: SP11 Open 

spaces and wildlife; SP12 Design and conservation; SP13 High environmental standards, and Saved Policies of The 

Southwark Plan 2007: Policy 3.2 Protection of amenity; Policy 3.12 Quality in Design; Policy 3.13 Urban Design and 

Policy 3.28 Biodiversity. 

5. London Underground 

The development hereby permitted shall not be commenced until detailed design and method statements (in consultation 

with London Underground) for each stage of the development for all of the demolition, foundations, basement and ground 

floor structures, or for any other structures below ground level, including piling (temporary and permanent), have been 

submitted to and 

approved in writing by the local planning authority which: 

- provide details on all structures 

- accommodate the location of the existing London Underground structures and tunnels  

 - accommodate ground movement arising from the construction thereof 

-  and mitigate the effects of noise and vibration arising from the adjoining operations within the structures and tunnels. 

The development shall thereafter be carried out in all respects in accordance with the approved design and method 

statements, and all structures and works comprised within the development hereby permitted which are required by the 

approved design statements in order to procure the matters mentioned in paragraphs of this condition shall be completed, 

in their entirety, before any part of the building hereby permitted is occupied. 

Reason:  

To ensure that the development does not impact on existing London Underground transport infrastructure, in accordance 

with the National Planning Policy Framework (2019), The London Plan 2015 Table 6.1 and ‘Land for Industry and 

Transport’ Supplementary Planning Guidance 2012. 

 

6. Thames Water Piling 

 Piling or any other foundation designs using penetrative methods shall not be permitted other than with the express 

written consent of the Local Planning Authority, which may be given for those parts of the site where it has been 

demonstrated that there is no resultant unacceptable risk to groundwater. The development shall be carried out in 

accordance with the approved details. 

Reason 

85



The developer should be aware of the potential risks associated with the use of piling where contamination is an issue. 

Piling or other penetrative methods of foundation design on contaminated sites can potentially result in unacceptable risks 

to underlying groundwaters. We recommend that where soil contamination is present, a risk assessment is carried out in 

accordance with our guidance 'Piling into Contaminated Sites' in order to avoid adverse environmental impact upon the 

community in accordance with The National Planning Policy Framework 2019, Strategic Policy 13 High Environmental 

Standards of the Core Strategy 2011 and Saved Policies 3.1 Environmental Effects and 3.9 Water of the Southwark Plan 

2007. 

7. Archaeological Mitigation 

Before any work hereby authorised begins, the applicant shall secure the implementation of a programme of 

archaeological mitigation (excavation) works in accordance with a written scheme of investigation, which shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.   

Reason:  

In order that the details of the programme of works for the archaeological mitigation are suitable with regard to the 

impacts of the proposed development and the nature and extent of archaeological remains on site in accordance with 

Strategic Policy 12 - Design and Conservation of The Core Strategy 2011, Saved Policy 3.19 Archaeology of the 

Southwark Plan 2007 and the National Planning Policy Framework 2018. 

8. Archaeological Foundation and Basement Design 

Before any work hereby authorised begins, a detailed scheme showing the complete scope and arrangement of the 

basement and foundation design and all ground works shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 

Planning Authority and the development shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with any such approval 

given. If archaeological deposits are impacted by these works, before any work hereby authorised begins, the applicant 

shall secure the implementation of a programme of archaeological mitigation works in accordance with a written scheme 

of investigation, which shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason:  

In order that details of the foundations, ground works and all below ground impacts of the proposed development are 

detailed and accord with the programme of archaeological mitigation works to ensure the preservation of archaeological 

remains by record and in situ in accordance with Strategic Policy 12 - Design and Conservation of The Core Strategy 

2011, Saved Policy 3.19 Archaeology of the Southwark Plan 2007 and the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 

9. Archaeology Reporting Site Work 

Within six months of the completion of archaeological site works, an assessment report detailing the proposals for post-

excavation works, publication of the site and preparation of the archive shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 

the Local Planning Authority and that the works detailed in this assessment report shall not be carried out otherwise than 

in accordance with any such approval given. 

Reason: 

 In order that the archaeological interests of the site are secured with regard to the details of the post-excavation works, 

publication and archiving to ensure the preservation of archaeological remains by record in accordance with Strategic 

Policy 12 - Design and Conservation of The Core Strategy 2011, Saved Policy 3.19 Archaeology of the Southwark Plan 

2007 and the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 

Flood risk 

10. Prior to commencement of the development,  full details of the proposed surface water drainage system incorporating 

Sustainable Drainage Systems (SuDS) have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, 

including detailed design, size and location of attenuation units and details of flow control measures. The strategy should 

achieve a reduction in surface water runoff rates as detailed in the Foul and Stormwater Drainage Strategy prepared by 

Eckersley O’Callaghan (dated 22 July 2019, Rev D) during the 1% Annual Exceedance Probability (AEP) event plus 

86



climate change allowance. The applicant must demonstrate that the site is safe in the event of blockage/failure of the 

system, including consideration of exceedance flows. The site drainage must be constructed to the approved details. 

Reason:  

To minimise the potential for the site to contribute to surface water flooding in accordance with Southwark's Strategic 

Flood Risk Assessment (2017) and Policy 5.13 of the London Plan (2016) and The National Planning Policy Framework 

2019. 

Above Grade Conditions 

Bird/Bat boxes 

11. Details of bird and/or bat nesting boxes / bricks shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority prior to any above grade works of the application hereby granted permission.   

No less than 10 house sparrow bricks shall be provided and the details shall include the exact location, specification and 

design of the habitats.  The boxes / bricks shall be installed with the development prior to the first occupation of the 

building to which they form part or the first use of the space in which they are contained.  

The nesting boxes / bricks shall be installed strictly in accordance with the details so approved, shall be maintained as 

such thereafter. 

Discharge of this condition will be granted on receiving the details of the nest/roost features and mapped locations and 

Southwark Council agreeing the submitted plans, and once the nest/roost features are installed in full in accordance to 

the agreed plans. A post completion assessment will be required to confirm the nest/roost features have been installed to 

the agreed specification. 

Reason:  To ensure the development provides the maximum possible provision towards creation of habitats and valuable 

areas for biodiversity in accordance with policies: 5.10 and 7.19 of the London Plan 2011, Policy 3.28 of the Southwark 

Plan and Strategic Policy 11 of the Southwark Core strategy. 

Green Roofs for Biodiversity 

12. Before any above grade work hereby authorised begins, details of the biodiversity (green/brown) roof(s) shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The biodiversity (green/brown) roof(s) shall be: 

• biodiversity based with extensive substrate base (depth 80-150mm);  

• laid out in accordance with agreed plans; and 

• planted/seeded with an agreed mix of species within the first planting season following the practical completion of 

the building works (focused on wildflower planting, and no more than a maximum of 25% sedum coverage). 

The biodiversity (green/brown) roof shall not be used as an amenity or sitting out space of any kind whatsoever and shall 

only be used in the case of essential maintenance or repair, or escape in case of emergency. 

The biodiversity roof(s) shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the details so approved and shall be maintained as 

such thereafter.  

Discharge of this condition will be granted on receiving the details of the green/brown roof(s) and Southwark Council 

agreeing the submitted plans, and once the green/brown roof(s) are completed in full in accordance to the agreed plans. 

A post completion assessment will be required to confirm the roof has been constructed to the agreed specification. 

Reason: 

To ensure the development provides the maximum possible provision towards creation of habitats and valuable areas for 

biodiversity in accordance with: Policies 2.18 (Green Infrastructure: the Multifunctional Network of Green and Open 

Spaces), 5.3 (Sustainable Design and Construction), 5.10 (Urban Greening) and 5.11 (Green Roofs and Development 

87



Site Environs) of the London Plan 2016; Strategic Policy 11 (Design and Conservation) of the Core Strategy 2011, and; 

Saved Policy 3.28 (Biodiversity) of the Southwark Plan 2007. 

Details of the Means of Enclosure 

13. Before any above grade work hereby authorised begins, details of the means of enclosure for all site boundaries shall 

be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the development shall not be carried out 

otherwise than in accordance with any such approval given.   

Reason: 

In the interests of visual and residential amenity in accordance with: the National Planning Policy Framework 2019; 

Strategic Policy 12 (Design and Conservation) of the Core Strategy 2011; Saved Policies 3.2 (Protection of Amenity), 

3.12 (Quality in Design), and 3.13 (Urban Design) of the Southwark Plan 2007. 

Hard and Soft Landscaping 

14. Before any above grade work hereby authorised begins, detailed drawings of a hard and soft landscaping scheme 

showing the treatment of all parts of the site not covered by buildings (including cross sections, surfacing materials of any 

parking, access, or pathways layouts, materials and edge details), shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 

Local Planning Authority. The landscaping shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with any such approval 

given and shall be retained for the duration of the use.  

The planting, seeding and/or turfing shall be carried out in the first planting season following completion of building works 

and any trees or shrubs that is found to be dead, dying, severely damaged or diseased within five years of the completion 

of the building works OR five years of the carrying out of the landscaping scheme (whichever is later), shall be replaced in 

the next planting season by specimens of the same size and species in the first suitable planting season. Planting shall 

comply to BS: 4428 Code of practice for general landscaping operations, BS: 5837 (2012) Trees in relation to demolition, 

design and construction and BS 7370-4:1993 Grounds maintenance Recommendations for maintenance of soft 

landscape (other than amenity turf). 

Reason: 

So that the Council may be satisfied with the details of the landscaping scheme, in accordance with: Chapters 8, 12, 15 

and 16 of the National Planning Policy Framework 2019; Strategic Policies 11 (Open Spaces and Wildlife), 12 (Design 

and conservation) and 13 (High Environmental Standards) of The Core Strategy 2011, and; Saved Policies 3.2 

(Protection of Amenity), 3.12 (Quality in Design) 3.13 (Urban Design) and 3.28 (Biodiversity) of the Southwark Plan 2007. 

Designing out crime 

15. Before any above grade work hereby authorised begins, details of security measures shall be submitted and 

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and any such security measures shall be implemented prior to 

occupation in accordance with the approved details which shall seek to achieve the 'Secured by Design' accreditation 

award from the Metropolitan Police.  

Reason 

In pursuance of the Local Planning Authority's duty under section 17 of the Crime and Disorder Act 1998 to consider 

crime and disorder implications in exercising its planning functions and to improve community safety and crime prevention 

in accordance with The National Planning Policy Framework 2019, Strategic Policy 12 - Design and conservation of The 

Core Strategy 2011 and Saved Policy 3.14 Designing out crime of the Southwark plan 2007. 

Materials 

16. Prior to above grade works commencing, material samples of  all external facing materials to be used in the carrying 

out of this permission shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority; the development 

shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with any such approval given.  

88



Reason:  

In order to ensure that these samples will make an acceptable contextual response in terms of materials to be used, and 

achieve a quality of design and detailing in accordance with The National Planning Policy Framework 2019, Strategic 

Policy 12 - Design and Conservation of The Core Strategy 2011 and Saved Policies: 3.12 Quality in Design and 3.13 

Urban Design of The Southwark Plan 2007. 

Wind microclimate 

17. Details of wind microclimate mitigation measures around the base of the tower shall be submitted to and approved in 

writing prior to commencement of any above grade works. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the 

approval given. 

Reason 

In order to ensure that that the wind microclimate of pedestrian users will not detract from the pedestrian user experience 

in the interests of amenity in accordance with The National Planning Policy Framework 2019, Strategic Policy 13 High 

Environmental Standards of the Core Strategy 2011 and Saved Policy 3.2 Protection of Amenity of The Southwark Plan 

2007. 

Flood resilience 

18. Prior to any above grade works, A Flood Resistance and Resilience Report, prepared by an experienced 

organisation, and recommending solutions should be submitted to the local planning. The report should be proportionate 

and risked based in terms of predicted flood risks to the planned development (including predicted levels for the years 

provided in the latest EA Product 4). Construction should be carried out in line with the recommendations of the report.                                  

Reason:  

To minimise potential damage to property from flood events from the sources of flood risk to the site.  In addition to 

providing more time to occupants to get to safety, flood resistance and resilience measures also protect property and 

reduce the risk of the financial burden a flood can cause, in accordance with he National Planning Policy Framework 

2019, Strategic Policy 13 High Environmental Standards of the Core Strategy 2011 and Saved Policies 3.1 Environmental 

Effects and 3.9 Water of the Southwark Plan 2007. 

 

Pre-Occupation conditions: 

Plant Noise.  

19. The Rated sound level from any plant, together with any associated ducting shall not exceed the Background sound 

level (LA90 15min) at the nearest noise sensitive premises.  Furthermore, the Specific plant sound level shall be 10dB(A) 

or more below the background sound level in this location.  For the purposes of this condition the Background, Rating and 

Specific Sound levels shall be calculated fully in accordance with the methodology of BS4142:2014. Prior to the plant 

being commissioned a validation test shall be carried out following completion of the development. The results shall be 

submitted to the LPA for approval in writing. The plant and equipment shall be installed and constructed in accordance 

with the approval given and shall be permanently maintained thereafter. 

Reason 

To ensure that occupiers of neighbouring premises do not suffer a loss of amenity by reason of noise nuisance or the 

local environment from noise creep due to plant and machinery in accordance with the National Planning Policy 

Framework 2019, .Strategic Policy 13 High Environmental Standards of the Core Strategy 2011 and Saved Policy 3.2 

Protection of Amenity of the Southwark Plan (2007). 

Service Management Plan 

89



20. Before the first occupation of the building hereby permitted a Service Management Plan detailing how all elements of 

the site are to be serviced has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The 

development shall be carried out in accordance with the approval given and shall remain for as long as the development 

is occupied. 

Reason 

To ensure compliance with The National Planning Policy Framework 2019, Strategic Policy 2 Sustainable Transport of 

The Core Strategy 2011 and Saved Policy 5.2 Transport Impacts of the Southwark Plan 2007. 

CHP 

21. Prior to occupation, the operator of the CHP plant shall have an up to date management plan which details the parties 

responsible for the operation, maintenance and annual monitoring of the CHP plant. All records pertaining to the CHP 

shall be kept by the operator.  

To ensure the proposal minimises its impact on air quality in accordance with The National Planning Policy Framework 

2019, Strategic Policy 13 High Environmental Standards of the Core Strategy 2011 and Saved Policies 3.3 Sustainability 

Assessment, 3.4 Energy Efficiency and 3.6 Air Quality of the Southwark Plan 2007.   

22. BREEAM 

(a) Before any fit out works to the commercial premises hereby authorised begins, an independently verified BREEAM 

report (detailing performance in each category, overall score, BREEAM rating and a BREEAM certificate of building 

performance) to achieve a minimum excellent rating shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority and the development shall not be carried out otherwise than in accordance with any such approval given; 

(b) Before the first occupation of the building hereby permitted, a certified Post Construction Review (or other verification 

process agreed with the local planning authority) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 

Authority, confirming that the agreed standards at (a) have been met. 

Reason 

To ensure the proposal complies with The National Planning Policy Framework 2019, Strategic Policy 13 - High 

Environmental Standards of The Core Strategy 2011 and Saved Policies 3.3 Sustainability and 3.4 Energy Efficiency of 

the Southwark Plan 2007. 

Refuse 

23. Before the first occupation of the building hereby permitted, the refuse storage arrangements shall be provided as 

detailed on the approved drawing xxx shall be made available for use by the occupiers of the dwellings/premises and the 

facilities provided shall thereafter be retained and shall not be used or the space used for any other purpose. 

Reason 

To ensure that the refuse will be appropriately stored within the site thereby protecting the amenity of the site and the 

area in general from litter, odour and potential vermin/pest nuisance in accordance with The National Planning Policy 

Framework 2019, Strategic Policy 13 High Environmental Standards of the Core Strategy 201 and Saved Policies 3.2 

Protection of Amenity and Policy 3.7 Waste Reduction of The Southwark Plan 2007 

Cycle storage 

24. Before the first occupation of the building/extension the cycle storage facilities as shown on drawings    shall be 

provided and thereafter such facilities shall be retained and the space used for no other purpose and the development 

shall not be carried out otherwise in accordance with any such approval given. 

Reason 

90



To ensure that satisfactory safe and secure bicycle parking is provided and retained for the benefit of the users and 

occupiers of the building in order to encourage the use of alternative means of transport and to reduce reliance on the 

use of the private car in accordance with The National Planning Policy Framework 2019, Strategic Policy 2 - Sustainable 

Transport of The Core Strategy and Saved Policy 5.3 Walking and Cycling of the Southwark Plan 2007. 

25. Travel Plan 

a)    Before the first occupation of the building hereby permitted commences the applicant shall submit in writing and 

obtain the written approval of the Local Planning Authority to a Travel Plan setting out the proposed measures to be taken 

to encourage the use of modes of transport other than the car by all users of the building, including staff and visitors. 

b)    At the start of the second year of operation of the approved Travel Plan a detailed survey showing the methods of 

transport used by all those users of the building to and from the site and how this compares with the proposed measures 

and any additional measures to be taken to encourage the use of public transport, walking and cycling to the site  shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the development shall not be carried out 

otherwise in accordance with any such approval given. 

Reason 

In order that the use of non-car based travel is encouraged in accordance with The National Planning Policy Framework 

2019, Strategic Policy 2 Sustainable Transport of The Core Strategy 2011 and Saved Policies 5.2 Transport Impacts, 5.3 

Walking and Cycling and 5.6 Car Parking of the Southwark Plan 2007. 

Ventilation 

26. Prior to the commencement of use full particulars and details of a scheme for the ventilation of the A3/A4 premises to 

an appropriate outlet level, including details of sound attenuation for any necessary plant and the standard of dilution 

expected, has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority and the development shall not be carried 

out otherwise than in accordance with any approval given. 

Reason 

In order to ensure that that the ventilation ducting and ancillary equipment will not result in an odour, fume or noise 

nuisance and will not detract from the appearance of the building in the interests of amenity in accordance with The 

National Planning Policy Framework 2019, Strategic Policy 13 - High Environmental Standards of The Core Strategy 

2011 and Saved Policy 3.2 Protection of Amenity of The Southwark Plan 2007. 

Vertical Sound transmission 

27. The habitable rooms within the development sharing a party ceiling/floor element with commercial premises shall be 

designed and constructed to provide reasonable resistance to the transmission of sound sufficient to ensure that noise 

due to the commercial premises does not exceed NR20. A written report shall be submitted to and approved by the LPA.  

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approval given. The approved scheme shall be implemented 

prior to the commencement of the use hereby permitted and shall be permanently maintained thereafter. Following 

completion of the development and prior to occupation a validation test shall be carried out (on a relevant sample of 

premises). The results shall be submitted to the LPA for approval in writing. 

Reason 

To ensure that the occupiers and users of the proposed development do not suffer a loss of amenity by reason of noise 

nuisance and other excess noise from activities within the commercial premises accordance with strategic policy 13 ‘High 

environmental standards’ of the Core Strategy (2011), saved Policy 3.2 Protection of Amenity of the Southwark Plan 

(2007) and the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 

Thames Water 

28. No properties shall be occupied until confirmation has been provided that either:‐ all water network upgrades required 

to accommodate the additional flows from the development have been completed; or ‐ a housing and infrastructure 

91



phasing plan has been agreed with Thames Water to allow additional properties to be occupied. Where a housing and 

infrastructure phasing plan is agreed no occupation shall take place other than in accordance with the agreed housing 

and infrastructure phasing plan.  

Reason ‐ The development may lead to no / low water pressure and network reinforcement works are anticipated to be 

necessary to ensure that sufficient capacity is made available to accommodate additional demand anticipated from the 

new development in accordance with The National Planning Policy Framework 2019, Strategic Policy 13 High 

Environmental Standards of the Core Strategy 2011 and Saved Policies 3.1 Environmental Effects and 3.9 Water of the 

Southwark Plan 2007. 

Compliance conditions 

Land Contamination 

29. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved development that was not 

previously identified, it shall be reported in writing immediately to the Local Planning Authority, and a scheme of 

investigation and risk assessment, a remediation strategy and verification report (if required) shall be submitted to the 

Local Planning Authority for approval in writing. 

Reason 

To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are minimised, 

together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be 

carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other offsite receptors in accordance with saved 

policy 3.2 ‘Protection of amenity’ of the Southwark Plan (2007), strategic policy 13’ High environmental standards’ of the 

Core Strategy (2011). 

Hours 

30. The use hereby permitted for retail and café purposes shall not be carried on outside of the hours 07:00 to 23:00 on 

any day. 

For the use herby permitted for Restaurant/Bar purposes shall not be carried outside of the house 08:00 to 23:00 on 

Sunday to Thursday 08:00 to 00:00 on Fridays and Saturdays. 

Reason: 

To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring residential properties in accordance with The  National Planning Policy 

Framework 2019,  Strategic Policy 13 High environmental standards of The Core Strategy 2011 and Saved Policy 3.2 

Protection of Amenity of The Southwark Plan 2007. 

Residential internal noise levels standard 

31. The dwellings hereby permitted shall be designed to ensure that the following internal noise levels are not exceeded 

due to environmental noise: 

Bedrooms - 35dB LAeq T†, 30 dB LAeq T*, 45dB LAFmax T * 

Living rooms- 35dB LAeq T †   

Dining room - 40 dB LAeq T †   

* - Night-time 8 hours between 23:00-07:00 

† - Daytime 16 hours between 07:00-23:00. 

Reason: 

92



To ensure that the occupiers and users of the development do not suffer a loss of amenity by reason of excess noise 

from environmental and transportation sources in accordance with strategic policy 13 ‘High environmental standards’ of 

the Core Strategy (2011) saved policies 3.2 ‘Protection of amenity’ and 4.2 ‘Quality of residential accommodation’ of the 

Southwark Plan (2007), and the National Planning Policy Framework 2019. 

Ventilation 

32. The ventilation strategy for the hotel and residential units as shown on the approved drawings and as outlined within 

the submitted Ventilation Extraction Statement Revision rev.5.0 and dated 19/07/2019 shall be carried out before the 

uses hereby permitted is commenced. 

Reason 

In order to ensure that that the ventilation ducting and ancillary equipment will not result in an odour, fume or noise 

nuisance and will not detract from the appearance of the building in the interests of amenity in accordance with The 

National Planning Policy Framework 2019, Strategic Policy 13 High Environmental Standards of the Core Strategy 2011 

and Saved Policy 3.2 Protection of Amenity of The Southwark Plan 2007. 

Thames Water: 

33. Whilst the principles and installation of sustainable drainage schemes are to be encouraged, no drainage systems for 

the infiltration of surface water drainage into the ground are permitted other than with the express written consent of the 

Local Planning Authority, which may be given for those parts of the site where it has been demonstrated that there is no 

resultant unacceptable risk to Controlled Waters. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approval 

details. 

Reason 

Infiltrating water has the potential to cause remobilisation of contaminants present in shallow soil/made ground which 

could ultimately cause pollution of groundwater in accordance with The National Planning Policy Framework 2019, 

Strategic Policy 13 High Environmental Standards of the Core Strategy 2011 and Saved Policies 3.1 Environmental 

Effects and 3.9 Water of the Southwark Plan 2007. 

 

 

 

93



Item No. 
7.

Classification:
Open

Date:
30 October 2019

Meeting Name:
Planning Sub-Committee A

Report title: Tree Preservation Order confirmation
156 Peckham Rye, London, SE22 9QH

Ward(s) or groups affected: Goose Green

From: Director of Planning

RECOMMENDATION

1. That the provisional tree preservation order (TPO) reference 533 be confirmed 
unamended.

BACKGROUND INFORMATION 

2. A TPO was served on 14 May 2019 following an application reference 
19/AP/1084 to fell a rear garden Field Maple tree within The Gardens 
Conservation Area.

3. Prior to the site being sold, a request to assess both the Maple and another 
Gingko tree at 156 Peckham Rye for protection with a TPO was made by the 
former owners in September 2018. However, given the trees protected status 
within a conservation area it was not considered expedient to complete this 
assessment pending completion of the ongoing TPO survey review.

4. The TPO protects an individual tree. Two objections have subsequently been 
received, which according to the council’s standing orders must be considered at 
planning committee before the order can be confirmed.

KEY ISSUES FOR CONSIDERATION 

5. The presumption exists that trees within conservation areas greater than 7.5cm 
stem diameter should be retained where they are assessed to contribute 
positively to the character and appeal of the area, unless substantiating evidence 
is provided as to why they must be removed. 

6. To continue to have effect the TPO attached in Appendix 1 must be confirmed 
within 6 months from the date of being served. Should it not be confirmed the 
tree described in the schedule and shown in the plan revert to the lesser 
protection afforded by its status within the conservation area.

7. The TPO includes an individual tree which has been assessed as contributing to 
amenity and because of its value to screening and biodiversity.

8. The tree was assessed as attaining a score of 15 (out of a potential total 25) 
under the tree evaluation method for tree preservation orders (TEMPO), 
resulting in a decision guide indicating that making a TPO is definitely merited.

9. The confirmation of a TPO cannot be appealed. However, any subsequent 

94
Agenda Item 7



refusal of an application for works to a TPO or imposition of conditions upon 
consent can be appealed to the Secretary of State via the Planning Inspectorate.

10. Anyone proposing to carry out works to a tree or trees subject to a TPO must 
seek permission from the local planning authority. This involves completing an 
application form identifying the trees, detailing the works proposed and 
explaining the reasons for the works. The council’s planning officer will usually 
inspect the trees prior to making a decision and may recommend alternative 
works or refuse consent. If authorisation is given to fell a protected tree, a new 
tree will usually be required to be planted as a replacement. However, this will in 
turn require a new TPO to be served.

11. If a tree protected by a TPO is felled, pruned or willfully damaged without 
consent, both the person who carried out the works and the tree owner are liable 
to be fined up to £20,000 through the Magistrates Court or, if taken to the Crown 
Court, an unlimited fine. There are exceptional circumstances, such as when a 
tree is dead, dying or dangerous, when permission is not required. However, in 
order to avoid the risk of prosecution advice must be sought from the council and 
five days notice given before carrying out any works (except in an emergency). 

Policy implications

12. The law on tree preservation orders is in Part VIII of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended and in the Town and Country Planning (Tree 
Preservation) (England) Regulations 2012. 

13. Section 197 of the Act imposes a duty on the local planning authority to ensure 
the preservation and protection of trees whenever appropriate. 

14. London Plan Policy 7.21 Trees and woodlands states that trees and woodlands 
should be protected, maintained, and enhanced, following the guidance of the 
London Tree and Woodland Framework. 

15. The draft New Southwark Plan P60 states that in exceptional circumstances 
removal of trees protected by TPO or conservation area status will be permitted 
where sufficient evidence has been provided to justify their loss. Replacement 
planting will be expected where removal is agreed. The replacement of TPO 
trees must take into account the loss of canopy cover as measured by stem girth 
and biodiversity value.

16. The current recommendation supports the relevant national legislation, London 
and draft Southwark policies to retain trees with proven amenity value.

Objection to the Order

17. Objections have been received from the owner at 156 Peckham Rye and a 
neighbour at 158 Peckham Rye.

18. The objections relate to alleged damage to garden paving, a rear garden brick 
outbuilding adjoining 154 Peckham Rye and a garden wall adjoining 158 
Peckham Rye. 

19. The basis of the objections are that the tree is causing damage to the property 
whilst also causing a nuisance due to obstruction of views. The tree is 

95



furthermore alleged to be in an unsafe condition and of minor significance to 
amenity, with a limited life expectancy and poor public visibility.

20. Although the property is grade II listed the detached single storey outbuilding, 
rear extension and garden walls are not included within the listing description 
and therefore have lesser weight. There is no evidence of damage to these 
features associated with the presence of trees.

21. Following a request to provide an arboricultural and/or engineering report 
insufficient evidence has been provided to substantiate the need for removal. No 
replacement planting is proposed to mitigate its loss or harm to amenity.

22. The law requires that in order for a TPO to be served the amenity must be 
assessed. The TEMPO methodology has in this instance been applied correctly 
taking into account any evidence of trees being a nuisance based on the 
available evidence.

23. The Field Maple is in a reasonable condition without structural defects or signs of 
decay, with a safe useful life expectancy of at least 40 years. The specimen is a 
large size for its species, forming part of a group of mature rear garden trees 
which can be seen from Wellington Mews, a publically accessible space adjacent 
to 150 Peckham Rye. 

24. Consent has previously been given to crown reduce the tree by up to 2m in 
January 2011 and November 2016 so that it continues to provide valuable 
amenity whilst abating nuisance or contact with adjacent property. Due to its 
multi stemmed form it appears the tree was managed as a high pollard at an 
early stage of its life, which is assessed at 60cm diameter to be at least 100 
years old.

25. Due to the stem size of the crown, management as a pollarded tree is not now 
considered acceptable. This is due to large diameter wounds and risk of 
premature decline and death resulting in disease and decay which would result 
from this type of management, together with significant loss of amenity. A photo 
of the tree is included within the TPO at Appendix 1.

26. A further objection has been raised that the application to fell the tree was not 
authorised by the tree owner. However, according to the relevant legislation and 
guidance anyone with an interest can apply for works to protected trees, with or 
without the permission or knowledge of the tree owner. Any works which are 
subsequently consented by the local planning authority must then have the 
permission of the tree owner.

27. At this stage it is considered that there is insufficient evidence to establish that 
the tree has caused any damage; no crack monitoring has been undertaken, nor 
root identification provided. An assessment on site indicates that damage to 
paving may be readily repaired without the need for tree removal, which is 
considered disproportionate and unnecessary. There is no reason why the tree 
could not continue to be maintained on a regular basis under the protection of a 
TPO.

28. No consideration has been given to alternative solutions such as why pruning 
may not be appropriate in order to avoid the need for felling. 

96



29. Should the recommendation be accepted and the order confirmed then an 
application to carry out works can be submitted in the usual way with consent or 
refusal considered on the basis of any further evidence provided.

30. Any proposed works to protected trees are consulted upon and responses are 
taken into account when determining the application.

Consultation

31. The TPO was lawfully served to the property and affected parties and included in 
the TPO register which is publically available online. Once confirmed the 
planning and land charges registers are updated. 

Conclusion

32. Making a TPO affects the ability of a tree owner to manage and deal with the 
tree as they see fit. The trees in question must be of sufficient quality to be 
considered worthy of protection to justify the imposition on the owner that a TPO 
constitutes. It is noted that the tree has been previously reduced and maintained 
in the past without seeking prior approval from the council in contravention of 
Sec.211 of the Town and Country planning Act 1990. A TPO is warranted to 
ensure ongoing compliance by current and future owners.

33. It is recommended for the reasons set out above that the tree is of sufficient 
quality to justify TPO status.

34. In this instance it is claimed within two objections that damage has occurred to 
one property and that the subject tree is the cause of that damage. It is claimed 
that it cannot logically be in the public interest to preserve a tree that causes 
damage to property.

35. In an urban or suburban setting most trees will have the ability at some stage in 
their lifespan to potentially affect the built environment around them. A degree of 
proportionality has to be exercised as to the extent of that impact and what might 
constitute mitigation of any proven damage or nuisance.

36. Whilst there is no right of appeal against confirmation, the affected parties can 
apply with further evidence to carry out works to the tree should that be 
considered necessary. This is considered to be sufficient protection of the rights 
of all parties concerned and their ability to enjoy and protect their property.

37. Should the provisional TPO not be confirmed, any subsequent conservation area 
application to remove or pollard the tree unnecessarily and without substantiating 
evidence will result in the re-serving of a TPO.

38. It is therefore recommended that in order to avoid repeated recourse to a TPO 
that the provisional order is confirmed unamended. Any refusal of consent for 
works to the tree in future may then be appealed to the Planning Inspectorate for 
an independent assessment and decision to be made by that body in the usual 
way. 

97



SUPPLEMENTARY ADVICE FROM OTHER OFFICERS

Director of Law and Democracy

39. The original tree preservation order was made on 14 April 2019 and this protects 
the trees for up to six months unless confirmed and made permanent. 

40. The report refers to the duty imposed upon Councils by virtue of section 197 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act which requires the authority to ensure the 
preservation and protection of trees where appropriate. 

41. In this instance, two objections to the Order have been received. 

BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS

Background Papers Held At Contact
TPO guidance
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-
preservation-orders-and-trees-in-
conservation-areas#confirming-tree-
preservation-orders

Online NA

TEMPO guidance
http://www.flac.uk.com/wp-
content/uploads/2014/12/TEMPO-
GN.pdf

Online NA

Southwark Council TPO information
http://www.southwark.gov.uk/environ
ment/trees/tree-preservation-orders-
and-conservation-areas

Online NA

Southwark TPO register
https://geo.southwark.gov.uk/connect
/analyst/mobile/#/main?mapcfg=Sout
hwark%20Design%20and%20Conser
vation&overlays=TPO%20zones

Online NA

APPENDICES

No. Title
Appendix 1 Provisional TPO

98

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#confirming-tree-preservation-orders
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#confirming-tree-preservation-orders
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#confirming-tree-preservation-orders
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/tree-preservation-orders-and-trees-in-conservation-areas#confirming-tree-preservation-orders
http://www.flac.uk.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/TEMPO-GN.pdf
http://www.flac.uk.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/TEMPO-GN.pdf
http://www.flac.uk.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/12/TEMPO-GN.pdf
http://www.southwark.gov.uk/environment/trees/tree-preservation-orders-and-conservation-areas
http://www.southwark.gov.uk/environment/trees/tree-preservation-orders-and-conservation-areas
http://www.southwark.gov.uk/environment/trees/tree-preservation-orders-and-conservation-areas
https://geo.southwark.gov.uk/connect/analyst/mobile/#/main?mapcfg=Southwark%20Design%20and%20Conservation&overlays=TPO%20zones
https://geo.southwark.gov.uk/connect/analyst/mobile/#/main?mapcfg=Southwark%20Design%20and%20Conservation&overlays=TPO%20zones
https://geo.southwark.gov.uk/connect/analyst/mobile/#/main?mapcfg=Southwark%20Design%20and%20Conservation&overlays=TPO%20zones
https://geo.southwark.gov.uk/connect/analyst/mobile/#/main?mapcfg=Southwark%20Design%20and%20Conservation&overlays=TPO%20zones


AUDIT TRAIL

Lead Officer Simon Bevan, Director of Planning
Report Author Oliver Stutter, Planning Officer

Version Final
Dated 16 September 2019

Key Decision? No
CONSULTATION WITH OTHER OFFICERS / DIRECTORATES / CABINET 

MEMBER
Officer Title Comments Sought Comments Included

Director of Law and Democracy Yes Yes
Strategic Director of Finance 
and Governance

No No

Cabinet Member No No
Date final report sent to Constitutional Team 18 September 2019

99



APPENDIX 1
100



101



102



103



104



105



106



107



This page is intentionally blank



OPEN MUNICIPAL YEAR 2019-20
COMMITTEE: PLANNING COMMITTEE
NOTE: Original held in Constitutional Team; all amendments/queries to Gerald Gohler/Everton Roberts, Constitutional 

Team, Tel: 020 7525 7420/7221

OPEN
COPIES COPIES

MEMBERS

Councillor Martin Seaton (Chair)
Councillor Kath Whittam (Vice-Chair)
Councillor Barrie Hargrove
Councillor Adele Morris
Councillor Margy Newens
Councillor Damian O’Brien
Councillor Catherine Rose
Councillor Cleo Soanes

Electronic Copies (No paper) 

Councillor Eleanor Kerslake (Reserve)
Councillor Sarah King (Reserve)
Councillor Richard Livingstone (Reserve)
Councillor James McAsh (Reserve)
Councillor Hamish McCallum (Reserve)
Councillor Darren Merrill (Reserve)
Councillor Jason Ochere (Reserve)
Councillor Jane Salmon (Reserve)

MEMBER OF PARLIAMENT (Paper and Electronic)

Helen Hayes MP, House of Commons, London, SW1A 
0AA

1
1
1
1
1
1
1
1

1

PLANNING TEAM

Kevin Fenton
Simon Bevan 
Joyce Rowe-Jones

COMMUNITY SAFETY AND ENFORCEMENT TEAM

Sarah Newman

COMMUNICATIONS TEAM

Louise Neilan

LEGAL TEAM 

Jonathan Gorst

CONSTITUTIONAL TEAM

Gerald Gohler/Everton Roberts

TOTAL PRINT RUN

List Updated: 9 September 2019

1
1
4

1

1

1

7

25


	Agenda
	 Procedure Note
	5 Minutes
	Minutes Planning Committee 30 September 2019

	6 Development Management
	6.1 LAND AT 19, 21 AND 23 HARPER ROAD, 325 BOROUGH HIGH STREET AND 1-5 AND 7-11 NEWINGTON CAUSEWAY, LONDON SE1 6AW
	Report
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 3

	7 Tree Preservation Order - 156 Peckham Rye
	Appendix 1

	 [Comment...]
	Distribution Open 2019_20




